COMMITTEE TO STUDY A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS

(SENATE BILL 11, 2011 LEGISLATURE)



Tuesday, August 14, 2012, 9:00 a.m.

Grant Sawyer State Office Building 555 East Washington Avenue Las Vegas, Nevada Room 4401

> Videoconference to: Legislative Building 401 South Carson Street Carson City, Nevada Room 4100

> > EXHIBIT A

STATE OF NEVADA LEGISLATIVE COUNSEL BUREAU

LEGISLATIVE COMMISSION (775) 684-6800 STEVEN A. HORSFORD, Senator, Chairman RICK COMBS, Director, Secretary

CARSON CITY OFFICE: Legislative Building, 401 S. Carson Street Carson City, Nevada 89701-4747 Fax No.: (775) 684-6600 RICK COMBS, *Director* (775) 684-6800 BRENDA J. ERDOES, *Legislative Counsel* (775) 684-6830 PAUL V. TOWNSEND, *Legislative Auditor* (775) 684-6815 DONALD O. WILLIAMS, *Research Director* (775) 684-6825



INTERIM FINANCE COMMITTEE (775) 684-6821 DEBBIE SMITH, Assemblywoman, Chair Mike Chapman, Acting Fiscal Analyst Mark Krmpotic, Fiscal Analyst

> LAS VEGAS OFFICE: 555 E. Washington Avenue, Room 4400 Las Vegas, Nevada 89101-1049 Fax No.: (702) 486-2810 BRIAN L. DAVIE, *Legislative Services Officer* (702) 486-2800

MEETING NOTICE AND AGENDA

Name of Organization: COMMITTEE TO STUDY A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS (S.B. 11, 2011 LEGISLATURE)

Date and Time of Meeting: Tuesday, August 14, 2012, 9:00 a.m.

Place of Meeting:Grant Sawyer State Office Building
Room 4401
555 East Washington Avenue
Las Vegas, Nevada

Note: Some members of the committee may be attending the meeting and other persons may observe the meeting and provide testimony through a simultaneous videoconference conducted at the following locations:

Legislative Building Room 4100 401 South Carson Street Carson City, Nevada

If you cannot attend the meeting, you can listen to or view it live over the Internet. The address for the Nevada Legislature website is http://www.leg.state.nv.us. Click on the link "Live Meetings – Listen or View."

Note: Please provide the secretary with electronic or written copies of testimony and visual presentations if you wish to have complete versions included as exhibits with the minutes.

<u>A G E N D A</u>

- Note: <u>Items on this agenda may be taken in a different order than listed. Two or more agenda items may be combined for consideration. An item may be removed from this agenda or discussion relating to an item on this agenda may be delayed at any time.</u>
 - A. ROLL CALL.
 - B. OPENING REMARKS

C. PUBLIC COMMENT.

(Because of time considerations, the period for public comment by each speaker may be limited, and speakers are urged to avoid repetition of comments made by previous speakers.)

D. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE APRIL 20, 2012, MEETING.

For Possible Action

For Possible Action

- E. DISCUSSION REGARDING PROVISIONS IN THE CONTRACT WITH COMMITTEE CONSULTANT AMERICAN INSTITUTES FOR RESEARCH (AIR) RELATING TO THE FOLLOWING COMPONENTS OF THE PRELIMINARY WRITTEN REPORT:
 - (A) INVENTORIES OF STATES THAT ADDRESS INDIVIDUAL STUDENT NEEDS AND CHARACTERISTICS AND THE NEEDS AND CHALLENGES OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS WITH SMALL SCHOOLS IN REMOTE AREAS;
 - (B) ANALYSIS OF METHODS USED IN SELECTED COMPARABLE STATES FOR ADDRESSING INDIVIDUAL STUDENT NEEDS AND CHARACTERISTICS AND THE NEEDS AND CHALLENGES OF SCHOOL DISTRICTS WITH SMALL SCHOOLS IN REMOTE AREAS; AND
 - (C) RECOMMENDATIONS BASED ON BEST PRACTICES FOR IMPROVING NEVADA'S EXISTING SCHOOL FUNDING MODEL.

For Possible Action

- F. PRESENTATION AND DISCUSSION REGARDING FINDINGS AND RECOMMENDATIONS CONTAINED IN AIR'S PRELIMINARY WRITTEN REPORT.
 - G. PUBLIC COMMENT. (Because of time considerations, the period for public comment by each speaker may be limited, and speakers are urged to avoid repetition of comments made by previous speakers.)
 - H. ADJOURNMENT.

Note: We are pleased to make reasonable accommodations for members of the public who are disabled and wish to attend the meeting. If special arrangements for the meeting are necessary, please notify the Fiscal Analysis Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau, in writing, at the Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Carson City, Nevada 89701-4747, or call the Fiscal Analysis Division at (775) 684-6821 as soon as possible.

Notice of this meeting was posted in the following Carson City, Nevada, locations: Blasdel Building, 209 East Musser Street; Capitol Press Corps, Basement, Capitol Building; City Hall, 201 North Carson Street; Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street; and Nevada State Library, 100 Stewart Street. <u>Notice of this meeting was faxed for posting to the following Las Vegas, Nevada, locations</u>: Clark County Government Center, 500 South Grand Central Parkway; and Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 East Washington Avenue. <u>Notice of this meeting was posted on the Internet through the Nevada Legislature's website at www.leg.state.nv.us</u>.

MINUTES OF THE MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE TO STUDY A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS Senate Bill 11, 2011 Legislature April 20, 2012

The third meeting of the Committee to Study a New Method for Funding Public Schools was held at 9:00 a.m. on Friday, April 20, 2012, at the Grant Sawyer State Office Building, 555 East Washington Avenue, Room 4401, Las Vegas, with videoconference to the Nevada Legislative Building, 401 South Carson Street, Room 4100, Carson City, Nevada

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT IN LAS VEGAS:

Assemblyman Marcus Conklin, Chair Senator Moises Denis, Vice Chair Senator Shirley A. Breeden Assemblyman Ira Hansen

COMMITTEE MEMBERS PRESENT IN CARSON CITY:

Senator Greg Brower

COMMITTEE MEMBERS ABSENT:

Assemblywoman Marilyn Dondero Loop (Excused)

STAFF:

Mark Krmpotic, Senate Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division Rick Combs, Assembly Fiscal Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division Brenda Erdoes, Legislative Counsel Eileen O'Grady, Chief Deputy Legislative Counsel Kristin Roberts, Senior Principal Deputy Legislative Counsel Mindy Martini, Senior Research Analyst Becky Lowe, Committee Secretary

EXHIBITS:

- **Exhibit A** Meeting Packet and Agenda.
- **Exhibit B** Presentation to the Committee to Study a New Method for Funding Public Schools in Nevada, American Institutes for Research
- **Exhibit C** Presentation to the Committee for the Study of a New Method for Funding Public Schools in Nevada, Augenblick, Palaich & Associates
- **Exhibit D** Building a 21st Century Nevada Plan, Cross & Joftus
- **Exhibit E** A Proposal to Conduct a Study of a New Method for Funding Public Schools in Nevada, Lawrence O. Picus and Associates, LLC

A. ROLL CALL.

Chairman Marcus Conklin called the meeting to order at 9:04 a.m. The secretary called roll; Assemblywoman Dondero Loop was excused, Senator Denis would join the meeting shortly.

B. PUBLIC COMMENT.

There was no public comment.

C. APPROVAL OF MINUTES OF THE MARCH 2, 2012, MEETING.

SENATOR BREEDEN MOVED TO APPROVE THE MINUTES OF THE MARCH 2, 2012, MEETING OF THE COMMITTEE TO STUDY A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS. THE MOTION WAS SECONDED BY ASSEMBLYMAN HANSEN.

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY. (Senator Denis was not present for the vote.)

D. REPORT FROM STAFF ON PROPOSALS SUBMITTED BY PROSPECTIVE CONSULTANT(S) TO ASSIST THE COMMITTEE IN THE STUDY OF A NEW METHOD OF FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN NEVADA.

Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau, reported that the request for proposals (RFP) for a consultant to assist in the study of a new method for funding public schools in Nevada was posted on March 6, 2012, and responses were due on April 6, 2012. There were six responses to the RFP. An evaluation team made up of Legislative Counsel Bureau (LCB) staff reviewed the responses for technical compliance and presented the results to Chairman Conklin. The meeting packet (page 33, <u>Exhibit A</u>), contains responses from four of the bidders who were selected by the Chairman to attend the meeting and present to the Committee. Bids from two of the responses were not within the available amount of funding, and those consultants were not invited to present to the Committee.

E. DISCUSSION AND SELECTION OF A CONSULTANT(S) TO ASSIST THE COMMITTEE IN THE STUDY OF A NEW METHOD FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN NEVADA AND AUTHORIZATION OF STAFF TO NEGOTIATE A CONTRACT(S).

Chairman Conklin said each consultant would be given 15 minutes to present, and 15 minutes to answer questions from the Committee. He said the consultants would leave the meeting room during the other consultants' presentations. The presentations would be taken in alphabetical order. Chairman Conklin noted that Senator Denis had joined the meeting.

American Institutes for Research (AIR)

Dr. Jay Chambers, Senior Research Fellow and Managing Director, American Institutes for Research (AIR), said that he and Dr. Deborah Verstegen, Professor, University of Nevada Reno, would be Project Co-Principal Investigators of the study. He said that Dr. Jesse Levin would be the Project Director, and Dr. Theresa Jordan, Professor Emeritus, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, would also be involved in the study.

Dr. Chambers said the study was in some ways complex, yet simple. He said the study would not duplicate studies of the past, but rather explore ways that Nevada compares to other states around the country. He referred to the AIR presentation material (<u>Exhibit B</u>) that outlined the four objectives of the study.

Regarding the first objective, Dr. Chambers said Dr. Verstegen and Dr. Jordan have both done extensive work on inventories of states that address individual student needs and characteristics. He said they know the history of K-12 school finance in Nevada extremely well. He said the analysis would compare Nevada with other states in the nation to see where the state ranks in terms of various characteristics. Key categories established in the RFP related to costs were poverty, or at-risk students; English language learners (ELL); students with disabilities; and, district characteristics, such as size and remoteness.

Dr. Chambers said he thought school finance formulas should be cost-based, which requires an understanding of the relationship between factors that impact the variation of costs across local school districts, and the projects, services and outcomes that can be provided. He said the three major factors of poverty, ELL and students with disabilities are well known. He told the Committee that as a member of the President's Commission on Special Education, he was involved in three of the four major studies on special education expenditures and costs in the United States, including the latest study for the Office of Special Education Programs, the Special Education Expenditure Project.

Dr. Chambers said the second objective was to identify states that are comparable to Nevada to address individual student needs and special district characteristics. The first two objectives would draw upon the knowledge of Dr. Verstegen and Dr. Jordan. In addition, Bruce Baker, a longtime friend and colleague and a well-known school finance analyst, would be a consultant to the team on this project. The team will select candidate states and examine district diversity related to student needs to identify the states that are like Nevada. This is an area in which the team will be communicating directly with the Committee, which would be an opportunity to draw in information, testimony or data from other districts in the state, as well as from the Committee members. His group would work with the Committee to select final comparison states to understand factors in which Nevada is similar. He said New Mexico has some similarities to Nevada in terms of the relative composition of urban and rural communities. He said his group studied pupil need, diversity of school district size and remoteness in its studies of the school systems of New Mexico, California and New York. Dr. Chambers said the study would consider the cost to provide education to all students, and understand the characteristics of a good funding formula. A good funding formula needs to be adequate and equitable, which he believed were inextricably linked. The formula must be transparent, understandable and accessible to the people using the formula. The formula should be cost-based to allow for the difference in cost of providing services in different locations. The formula should minimize incentives that create problems, such as the issue of identifying special education students. The formulas should be reasonable in terms of administrative costs, predictable, flexible, and oriented toward outcome and spending accountability, particularly due to the limited resources. Finally, the formula needs to be politically acceptable.

Dr. Chambers said the third objective was in some ways the heart of the project. He said his group would work with the Committee to incorporate the best practices identified into a simulation model, and provide options for making choices. Alternative scenarios would be generated using best practices, to document funding outcomes for Nevada. He emphasized that it would not be a cost study, rather, the team would draw on the best practices to come up with reasonable estimates of differential costs, and perform sensitivity analysis and simulations of the impact. He urged the Committee members to keep the study simple. He said there was no single correct approach, and no one formula would correctly adjust for poverty. He said there were some consistent patterns that other states have used that would be helpful to understand how best to adopt practices in Nevada. He said, based on studies on the cost of special education, a spending ratio of 2:1 for the average student would be consistent. The studies strongly recommend a census-based formula that assumes a constant rate, rather than having school districts identify the students. There are lots of incentives created for identifying kids as special education students. For high-cost students, a catastrophic aid program is recommended.

In conclusion, Dr. Chambers said the fourth objective would be to prepare deliverables, a simulation model, and a preliminary report. The group would meet with the Committee on two occasions: 1) to present a draft report and analysis, to get feedback from the Committee, and to make modifications and adjustments in suggested best practices, and 2) to present a final report.

Chairman Conklin noted that Dr. Chambers had divided the factors into two categories: 1) small and remote schools, and 2) student need adjustments. He noted the Committee's RFP listed specific student needs, but did not limit the student needs. He asked what other categories Dr. Chambers anticipated including in the study.

Dr. Chambers said he would opt to keep the study simple. He said the factors identified in New Mexico were poverty, ELL, students with disabilities, and the mobility of students. He said lots of New Mexico students moved from one area to the other, which was common in Nevada as well. Some other factors were, Gifted and Talented Education (GATE), vocational education, and low-performing students. He said issues could arise if incentives were used, and noted there were gifted students in every school district. He said the identification of gifted students tended to be in alignment with socio-economic status, but there were more areas of giftedness that need to be recognized. He tended to provide the dollars and hold the school districts accountable for results, but recommend against providing additional resources for gifted students. That did not mean they would not be included in a simulation model. He said career or vocational education was also an issue, but for those kids who choose career education, adjustments would be made for the additional cost of specialized vocational education program. He said performance-based funding created incentives for kids not being reclassified. For example, if children were identified at a certain age as being low performing, he recommended that the child remain in that classification for the purpose of the funding formula for the period the child is in that school. The child could be reclassified if he or she moved to a new school. He said tests are not precise enough to determine whether a student is low performing one year, and not low performing the next year. He said it was important for the districts to know how many dollars would be coming in the next year.

Chairman Conklin asked why American Institutes for Research was the right consultant for this study. Dr. Chambers explained that he had participated in school finance, adequacy studies in many states. He knew the landscape, and how to work with policymakers. He said there was no "right" answer to the study, but he would engage people who know the state, the politics, and the economic circumstances in Nevada. He said that was why Dr. Jordan and Dr. Verstegen were part of the team. He said Mr. Levin has worked with him for 10 years on these kinds of studies, and he had developed the simulation models.

Senator Denis asked if the study would consider input from parents, who have a vested interest in doing what is best for their children.

Dr. Chambers said that would be difficult, given the project timeline and the level of resources available. He said the proposal included one in-person meeting set for mid-June, at which time his team would meet the interested parties in person. He said, given the quick timeline for the study, his group would be working on all of the objectives simultaneously.

Senator Denis suggested that, rather than add a component to the study, the team would review other states' practices as to whether the community was asked to provide input.

Dr. Chambers said similar studies have been done in Nevada and in other states. He recalled a school funding and adequacy report that was prepared for the National Education Association, which included this kind of information, such as the professional judgments panels, the successful schools model, and the cost function approach. He recalled that the New Mexico study involved a large number of meetings with the public. The first thing to do when performing a school finance study is to identify the goals. Without that, it was a meaningless exercise. He said the study would look at the goals, and the relationships that were revealed by the cost analyses.

Senator Brower noted that the study was funded by donations rather than taxpayer dollars. He noted the study was being driven by Clark County, and he wanted assurance that the study would incorporate input from Washoe County and the rural counties as well.

Dr. Chambers said to understand the factors that impact variations in costs, you need to understand that somewhere between 85 percent and 88 percent of the children in Nevada attend school in either Washoe County or Clark County. At the same time, some of the very small school districts deal with issues created by remoteness. Those school districts have costs related to transportation, and diseconomies of the smaller scale, which might be ameliorated by improved technology for some programs. In addition, it is hard to recruit physical and occupational therapist or special education teachers to work in the remote communities, and turnover of these positions is high. He said that has been the experience in other states as well. He said, as the team reviews the best practices in other states, it will be important to keep in mind the 12 percent to 15 percent of children who attend school in the other 15 school districts in the state. He said that Dr. Verstegen and Dr. Jordan have engage with interested parties in the state, and will bring that perspective to the study.

Senator Brower believed the Committee would like for the study to include the unique challenges in the remote counties. He said, despite the Governor's clear statement that he would not cut education any further, and despite the fact that most of the legislators supported him in that regard, there was still a finite amount of money. He was concerned that if the formula was revised in a way that takes into account the unique needs of Clark County, the result may be that more funding is provided to Clark County, and the other counties will lose money. He hoped that the study would be sensitive to those issues.

Dr. Chambers said AIR had been involved in a district-level study called Strategic School Funding for Results. The study sought to find ways to allocate resources more effectively within those districts. He said one difference between a state and district study was that adequacy was not an issue. A school district does not have the option to increase taxes, and must work with the revenue available. He said AIR has developed a targeted revenue model based on the dollars that are available, and puts the district into a position to make the serious choices as to how the dollars are divided between the central office and the schools, among schools at different levels, among students with different needs, and how the difference in school size is recognized in the formula. In the end, a set of student weights are developed. The weights are implicit, and the process is iterative. He explained that the school district must think about the goals for the students, and the implications for determining how dollars are allocated from the central office to the schools. He suggested that could be a model to consider in the simulation. It would force the state to think about how to allocate funds between suburban districts and the very small districts that exist in the state. He said the average percentage of kids attending school in remote rural communities in most states is well below 10 percent, and Nevada is near that range. He said the school districts in remote areas were facing some serious issues. He said the state might considering

making some one-time investments in technology to attract high-quality teachers from urban areas in the state to the remote communities, especially for specialized high school programs.

Augenblick, Palaich & Associates

Justin Silverstein, Vice President, Augenblick, Palaich and Associates (APA), and Dr. Mark Fermanich, a subcontractor who would be working with APA on the study, introduced themselves to the Committee. Mr. Silverstein said that APA is a Denver-based education policy consulting firm, which has been in existence for almost 30 years. He said APA has designed and carried out a number of education finance policy studies in all 50 states, and a number of states used school finance formulas designed by APA. Over the past decade, APA has developed funding formulas for a number of states targeted toward student-specific needs, and insuring that those needs are funded. He said district characteristics that are out of the districts' control are also addressed in the school finance formula. He said that APA has implemented funding formulas in Maryland, Pennsylvania, Louisiana, Mississippi, New Jersey, and number of other states. Over the past decade, APA has been a leader in the area of analyzing and redesigning state funding formulas, specifically costing out studies.

Mr. Silverstein said APA has experience designing school finance formulas for a range of states in terms of size, student population, and fiscal capacity. He said states are responsible for their education systems. The funding of the education systems, and the history and design of how states set up their education systems varied widely. Some states have a few districts, ranging from very small to very large. For example, the State of New Jersey has hundreds of school districts, without nearly the range in size difference between districts. Those characteristics become important when considering the type of formula that is being set up. The context of the state needs to be understood.

Mr. Silverstein said that in 2006, the APA was selected to undertake a costing-out study for the State of Nevada. The current study being proposed is not a costing out study, rather it is a review of the finance system and the development of recommendations for a different finance system. He said the former study gave APA insight into the current formula, and also some context. He noted that APA staff talked to educators around the state about what was going on with Nevada school finance in preparation for that study.

Mr. Silverstein said APA prides itself on its ability to work with policymakers to create reports that are clear, concise, and actionable. He said APA would work with the Committee and staff throughout the process to ensure that the report is in alignment with the needs and wants of the Committee. To do that, there must be dialog throughout the work period to ensure that the Committee is receiving the targeted information that it needs.

Mr. Silverstein said the APA study team has over 80 years of combined school finance experience in nearly every state in the country. He said Dr. John Augenblick would be the lead for the team and oversee the research project. In addition, Mr. Silverstein said he would be involved, as well as Dr. Fermanich, who teaches at Oregon State University, and other staff of APA. He said that the APA team has worked with Dr. Fermanich on a number of studies, including a study of the State of Colorado's student count system used in its school finance formula. In addition, Dr. Fermanich worked with APA on the evaluation of the North Carolina school finance system and recommendations for possible changes to the finance formula. He said this was not an adequacy or cost study, rather, it was a real review of the system, the components of the system, and how well they worked together.

Mr. Silverstein said that APA has a long history with Dr. Fermanich starting when he was employed by the State of Minnesota. He said that Dr. Fermanich has over 20 years of experience in school finance, including working with the legislature and at the district level. He has worked on school finance studies in nearly a dozen states, and has worked on implementing formulas in a couple of those states. He has great experience and ability in creating state and district databases, and working with staff.

Mr. Silverstein explained that it was important to design a system that identifies student-specific needs within districts, and considers the context of the state. He consulted the National Center for Education Statistics and the Nevada Department of Education website to get some information on the Nevada context. He said that Nevada has over 400,000 students in its 17 school districts, which range in size from 100 to 300,000 students, which is very unique in the western United States. He said student-specific characteristics show similar differences. He said the number of students eligible for free or reduced price lunch in Nevada ranged from 10 percent to 70 percent. He noted that was a frequent proxy for students who might be at risk. The ELL and limited English proficiency populations range from nearly zero to 20 percent. Special education percentages ranged from less than 10 percent to more than 20 percent. He said all of these differences are being addressed through a formula that was adopted in 1967, when these specific differences were not generally built into formulas.

Dr. Fermanich said the first step of the project would be a review of the 50 states' finance plans and formulas. He said the APA team recently performed such a review for the State of Colorado for the student count study. The count methods used for school finance purposes for all 50 states was summarized. He said the APA team knew where the information sources were. For example, the team knew which states had lots of information on their websites, and in which states they would need to spend more time talking to people to find out how the system really works. He said there was a fairly good method in place to understand and summarize the information. He said a report would be put together for each of the 50 states showing the basic structure of the funding formula, for example, foundation formula, equalization formula, or a hybrid. The team would also look at the components that make up the formula, whether student weighting was used to take into consideration the needs of the students, whether there

were categorical formulas, or some other formulas, what those various formulas look like that are specifically targeted to help at-risk, ELL, special education students, and other students with special needs, as well as the components addressing district-wide characteristics. He listed some of those characteristics as large districts; small districts; whether there is a cost-of-living adjustment across the state; or, whether there is a formula to account for districts that have small enrollment, but cover large areas. The team would also look at other relevant or unique components that might be involved in the state funding formulas, and include all funding sources whether they are local, state, federal or other funding sources. He noted that, in some states, county governments also provide revenues to school districts.

Dr. Fermanich said his team would also look at the last year that the system was overhauled to include current thinking and best practices. He said the next step would be to look at all the states in terms of the number of districts, the demographics of the students in those districts, and how the districts are dispersed. The information collected in the 50-state review would be used to select five states for an in-depth comparison with Nevada. That would not be an easy process, because there are not many states quite like Nevada, which is a large state with a small number of districts, and one very dominant district. He said his team would work closely with the staff in Nevada to choose the comparison states in order to make sure there is true value from the analysis.

Dr. Fermanich said, in the event that the five states selected for comparison to Nevada do not also include an adjustment for small and necessary schools, additional states that are also similar to Nevada, that do have adjustments for small and necessary schools, will be added. He said up to eight states would be compared to encompass the characteristics the Committee is interested in including in the study.

Dr. Fermanich said when the 50-state review and 5-state in-depth analysis is complete, and in-depth literature review will be conducted to find the latest thinking is school finance formulas, equitable ways to distribute money, and different ways to accommodate unique student characteristics or district characteristics. For instance, for at-risk, most states used a measure of poverty, such as free and reduced lunch, as an indicator, but an increasing number of states also used some definition of students who were far behind meeting needs. He said it was important to get a sense of the practitioners and policymakers' concerns about the current formula, and their thoughts about some of the ideas discovered by the analyses. He would convene a number of focus groups around the state and talk to legislative policymakers and staff, including people at the Department of Education and the school districts around the state, to get a cross section of the issues, the strengths and weaknesses of the current formula, and the strengths and weaknesses of the recommendations being developed. At that point, APA would finish developing the recommendations, and once the recommendations are completed, a model would be developed to estimate any impacts on the state budget and the districts so that the Committee members and the legislators would be able to make an informed decision.

Senator Denis asked if APA would speak to parents as part of its focus group input. Dr. Fermanich said that the proposal includes contacts with parents and the business community to ensure they have some context around the formula. He said those parents should have knowledge of the current formula. Senator Denis expressed concern that if the state implements a change that the parents do not think is fair, then the parents would be in an upheaval because they were not part of the process.

Senator Brower asked for more details on the 2006 study of the Nevada school financing by APA. Mr. Silverstein said in 2006 APA was selected to perform a costing-out study for the State of Nevada through a similar RFP process. The costing-out study differs from the current study in that it was looking at the necessary resources to meet absolute goals set by the state for every student and district in the state. In 2006, the No Child Left Behind legislation required that 100 percent of the students be proficient on state-mandated tests. He said APA undertook a statewide study using a couple of approaches that are accepted across the country to estimate the cost to get that done for every district in the state. The study did not specifically address re-doing the Nevada Plan, though it made some recommendations. It did address many of the parameters necessary for a new type of finance formula, but its biggest goal was to look at the overall need from current funding to ensure a certain performance level. Mr. Silverstein noted that the study also included an equity study of the Nevada Plan.

Senator Brower noted the State of Nevada was not listed on APA's list of references. He asked which agency contracted with APA for the 2006 study. Mr. Silverstein recalled that APA was contracted by the Legislature, and Mindy Martini, then Program Analyst in the LCB Fiscal Analysis Division, was the main contact.

Chairman Conklin told Senator Brower that LCB staff would assist him with any questions about the 2006 study.

Assemblyman Hansen asked if there was an advantage to using a subcontractor to perform the study. He noted that Dr. Fermanich was not a permanent member of the APA staff. He asked if a subcontractor was used for the 2006 study.

Mr. Silverstein thought there had been a couple of subcontractors on that study, but he did not remember precisely. He noted that APA has worked closely with Dr. Fermanich on a number of school finance projects. He said Dr. Fermanich had skills that APA had in-house, but on a greater scale. Mr. Silverstein said Dr. Fermanich's university position makes him knowledgeable of what is going on across the country. He said although APA staff has that knowledge, it is through a different lens, because APA works almost exclusively with policymakers. Dr. Fermanich has policymaker and academic experience. He believed that made for a more complete team. He said APA frequently works with subcontractors, and it is a normal practice in the industry.

Chairman Conklin said he had done some economic consulting, and said it was standard practice to work with subcontractors, because the areas of expertise were highly specialized.

Cross and Joftus

Dr. Richard Seder, Cross and Joftus, said he would present an analytical proposal to conduct a study for a new method of funding public schools in Nevada (Building a 21st Century Nevada Plan, <u>Exhibit D</u>). Dr. Seder said that four members of the Cross and Joftus team would be working on the study. He said Christopher T. Cross, Chairman, brings a great deal of Nevada-based education policy experience, and has been in the state for about 14 years. He said Mr. Cross was instrumental in working with the blue ribbon panel on Nevada's Race to the Top application, and the subsequent report, Nevada's Promise. His familiarity with the State of Nevada is a tremendous asset to Cross and Joftus. Dr. Seder, an Associate with Cross and Joftus, said he has worked nationally and internationally on school finance and governance issues. He said Cross and Joftus was pleased to have both Mr. Cross's experience in the state, and Ms. Carreon as a locally-based resource. He said Robert Manwaring, an associate with Cross and Joftus, would be involved in the study as well.

Dr. Seder said education and education policy are often seen as distinct and separate parts. Whether the topic is standards, accountability, assessment, school finance, or human capital, they are often dealt with piecemeal. He said the standards movement from the 1990s into the early 2000s dealt with standards in one particular way. Assessment followed the same pattern – it was often tied to standards, but was sometimes completely disjointed. For far too many states, accountability requirements came from the federal government, and were not necessarily aligned to anything that was going on in the particular state. All of these different parts worked together, sometimes in concert with one another, and sometimes competing with one another.

Dr. Seder said Cross and Joftus proposes the creation of coherent education systems. The education system should be seen as interconnected pieces of a whole, and when there is a fully coherent system, the whole is always greater than the sum of its parts. Right now, Nevada, and far too many other states, have lots of good parts, but are not realizing the full benefit of those parts, because often they are not working together. He proposed bringing the school finance system together with the parts that Nevada has made so much effort in creating. Dr. Seder said the analytical framework for a 21st century Nevada Plan was as follows (page 4, <u>Exhibit D</u>):

- Create clear funding policy strategies aligned to education system goals, which is a continuation of the efforts of the Blue Ribbon Panel and the 2011 Legislature and the vision of Nevada's Promise. He said a great deal of work has been done over the past few years toward building a coherent system, and the school finance system should be brought into alignment with the rest of the efforts.
- Equitable and efficient funding mechanisms.
- Stable & predictable funding.
- Transparent formulas, allocation, and monitoring.

Dr. Seder said there were lots of things that the Nevada Plan got right. It was largely seen as equitable when accounting for district level and district type needs. His group would explore options to improve those parts of the equitable system. Moreover, what the Nevada Plan does not do very well, if at all, is address student needs. It addresses special education, but it does not address the issues of student poverty, ELL, and other at-risk factors. He said the charge would be to build a more equitable system from an existing equitable system.

Dr. Seder said in creating a 21st century Nevada Plan, the study would incorporate the experience of other states, research, and other areas of leading practice. There would be an inventory of adjustments and programmatic approaches, and a comparison of states chosen through a set of robust criteria.

Dr. Seder said that, more than anything else, his team understood that one size does not fit all. He said the recommendations from many lots school finance studies across the country look exactly the same from one state to the next. He said, perhaps most important is to structure those mechanisms within the context of the entire education system. He said this would particularly come into play with ELL. Oftentimes, people talk about the weights and the mechanics of a particular formula, but there are lots of assessment accountability efforts that are associated with ELL. How are ELL students identified? What is an appropriate length of time to be in a bilingual education class, or a sheltered English environment? How is the funding associated with that type of identification? What would be the expected reclassification rates? He said those were all parts of the ELL environment that most school finance experts did not really discuss. His group would come forward with what it believed to be the funding mechanisms, and how to consider the issues around ELL, children otherwise at-risk, and the whole spectrum of student needs.

Dr. Seder said he would engage directly with Nevada's education stakeholders to better understand both the wide variety of district and school needs, but also the wide variety of student needs. His team plans to meet with Nevada's 17 district superintendents over the course of the study. His team will interview state and local teacher union leaders, state and local school board leaders, civil rights leaders, and others across the state. He said that Jim Guthrie, State Superintendent of Public Instruction, would bring a great deal of experience in the school finance area, and his team would engage there as well.

Dr. Seder said that his group would clearly articulate the pros and cons of the different approaches. They would look at district-level and state-level financial estimates of alternative scenarios, implementation and phase-in alternatives for new funding formula mechanisms, and provide recommendations not just for the funding mechanisms, but how the funding system works within the larger education system.

In conclusion, Dr. Seder said that Cross and Joftus' greatest asset was the expertise in education funding in Nevada, nationally, and internationally, to provide a customized set of recommendations, based on Nevada's circumstances and context. Cross and Joftus will continue its working relationships with Nevada's educators and education policy community as part of a larger engagement strategy. Cross and Joftus recognizes that Nevada's efforts to create a coherent education system were already underway, and they intended to build on those existing efforts. He said Cross and Joftus would integrate the Nevada Plan with the vision of Nevada's Promise.

Senator Denis asked whether parents would be included in the list of stakeholders that the team would engage for the study. He thought it was interesting that the group included students, and he asked Dr. Seder to talk about that.

Dr. Seder said there are no shortage of stakeholders in the area of education. Clearly, students and parents have a voice, as they are the recipients of the services that are being provided. Talking with parents, would be an additional asset to pursue. He said the parent teacher associations at the school level would be an additional voice to listen to and get insight on how best to address the needs of the school and the needs of the community as a whole.

Chairman Conklin noted that the number of consultants with expertise in this area was small, and many of the consultants had worked together in the past. He asked what sets Cross and Joftus apart from the other consultants. Dr. Seder said that he had worked with several of the other consultants in the past and agreed it was a small community. He said that everyone would do essentially the same search of the literature, come forward with the same inventory, and provide a spreadsheet showing the results of different types of simulations. He said, what separates Cross and Joftus from the other groups is that we look at the system as a whole. Most other school finance experts will consider the mechanics of how a school finance system works in isolation. Oftentimes there is no additional thinking. For example, what goes into identifying an ELL student? How will those students be identified in the first place, and how do we consider their needs within the larger context of the education system? He believed Cross and Joftus would bring some of that discussion forward. He said Cross and Joftus would be looking at the system as a whole, the efforts that the Nevada Legislature has already made, particularly in the 2011 Legislative Session, and building on those efforts, and integrating the finance system with the rest of the system.

Lawrence O. Picus and Associates

Dr. Anabel Aportela, Lawrence O. Picus and Associates, said that Picus and Associates is an independent school finance consulting firm whose focus is to help states and districts to allocate resources, using strategies that improve student learning. She referred to the handout, A Proposal to Conduct a Study of a New Method for Funding Public Schools in Nevada (<u>Exhibit E</u>), and said she would talk about her team's qualifications, and the timeline for deliverables for the project.

Dr. Aportela pointed out that her team's style is collaborative in nature. She said her team would work collaboratively with the state to further define the requirements of the study. She said her team knows much about school finance, but the Committee and staff know much more about the State of Nevada.

Dr. Aportela said her team would compare all 50 states, and provide a general analysis of how each state allocates resources to schools, particularly how they address the needs of special populations of students, such as at-risk, special education, and ELL. The analysis would result in a series of tables giving general information about those systems, and how they treat those populations of students. To provide more detailed information, learn from those states and apply that to Nevada, we would provide a case study of five to seven states. The team would come forward with a set of recommendations for what those comparison states might be, and would work with the Committee to finalize the comparison list. She said the list would include states that share demographics such as student population and size, particularly the concentration of students in one or two major districts. She said there were several lower enrollment districts across the state. The study would include in-depth information about how schools are funded in the comparison states, and how those systems deal with the additional resources needed for special populations of students, particularly ELL and at-risk students.

Dr. Aportela said her approach was to estimate the additional cost of services for the special populations. In general, those additional costs include some kind of incentive for teachers. For example, students in ELL classrooms, high-poverty schools, etc. need to have access to high-quality teachers. Traditionally, those schools have a hard time attracting and retaining those teachers, so we are proposing an incentive to attract and retain teachers in those schools. She said students need more time with the content area, including one-to-one tutoring, small group tutoring, extended day programs, and summer school programs.

Dr. Aportela said additional pupil support could be part of that approach. That support could include guidance counselors and social workers for some of the schools as well. Dr. Aportela said that Dr. Robles would provide an update on the research on services for ELL and at-risk students and what is most effective for improving the learning of these students. Any findings would be incorporated into the model.

Dr. Aportela said that a census model is recommended for mild and moderate special education. This assumes there is a relatively equal distribution of these disability groups in districts across the state, and they are accounted for in the formula either as a weight or a category. Her group recommended that states fund severe and profound special education students at 100 percent. The costs for those students can be significant, especially for a smaller district with a smaller budget. If the recommendations for ELL and at-risk students are incorporated into the instructional strategies, there is a significant reduction in the number of students who are later identified with mild learning disabilities.

Dr. Aportela said most of the services for gifted students involve relatively little cost. It is a matter of accelerated curriculum, for example, professional development for teachers. In other states, a \$25 per pupil has been added for augmentation to the curriculum.

Dr. Aportela said the additional cost of services for these populations would be above the base. This approach assumes that the existing funding base is adequate. She said her group could also provide an evidence-based model, which looks at the core components of school funding, and provides cost estimates based on the evidence-based model, and the additional resources for those students. There are critical elements that are part of the base model that impact performance for these students. Those elements include class size, professional development of teachers, and pupil support.

Dr. Aportela said that a funding simulation model would be provided to estimate the cost of the recommendations for all of the state's school districts. She said alternative resource levels would be simulated to show the total cost, and the effect for each district. That can be done using the evidence-based funding model that her firm has developed, or using the state's funding model. Her team would then estimate the differences in cost, before and after, district-by-district to show those changes.

Regarding the timeline, Dr. Aportela said the project would begin on May 1, and there would be an initial meeting between Picus and Associates, LCB and Nevada Department of Education (NDE) staff to determine the data elements needed to run the model and talk about the comparison states. Her group would present a draft report by August 1, and get some feedback from the Committee so that a final report can be generated by August 28. Both Dr. Lawrence O. Picus and Dr. Allan R. Odden would attend those meetings to present the preliminary and final reports.

Dr. Aportela referred to page 4 of the handout (<u>Exhibit E</u>), to a list of other states with which Picus and Associates has worked on various studies. She emphasized that her group was collaborative, did not assume to know everything, and wanted to take in the particular context of the state, and answer questions that need to be answered in a manner that was most helpful to the state.

Senator Denis asked if Picus and Associates included input from parents in its studies. Dr. Aportela said she would work with the Committee staff to find out the best way to get input from constituents, whether they be parents or teachers.

Chairman Conklin noted that the number of firms with expertise in this area was very small. He asked what set Picus and Associates apart from the other consultants.

Dr. Aportela said the link between the allocation of resources and student outcomes sets Picus and Associates apart. She said Picus and Associates has many years of experience tying the two together. She said the point is not how much money is spent on public education, rather, it is how those resources are used. She said her group continued to cull the literature to find the best practices. She said education research was imprecise, and there was not one strategy that would work for all students. She said her group would learn from the research, and would apply a costing model to quantify that information to determine not just what is an appropriate level of spending, but how that spending could best be used to create student learning.

Chairman Conklin called for a recess at 10:38 a.m.

The Committee reconvened at 11:27 a.m.

Chairman Conklin said that the Committee would select two consultants: a primary and a secondary. The secondary consultant was necessary in case LCB was unable to negotiate a contract with the primary consultant. He asked the Committee members for their opinions on the contractors.

Senator Denis suggested that Cross and Joftus be selected, because they would look at the financing from a different perspective, especially the ELL. He noted that was a big part of his constituency, and it was important to consider how to determine which students were classified into the categories that are weighted for funding.

Senator Breeden said her top choice was AIR, because the group included staff from Southern Nevada and Northern Nevada who are familiar with Nevada education. In addition, the study dollars would be kept in the state.

Senator Brower said each of the presentations was appreciated. He said AIR was his first choice, and APA his second choice.

Assemblyman Hansen agreed that all four of the presentations were excellent. He would select AIR to perform the study.

Chairman said all of the presentations were excellent, and he appreciated the expertise of the consultants. He ranked Cross and Joftus first.

Senator Breeden said the Cross and Joftus was her second choice, and she would support a decision to select either consultant.

Senator Denis said the reason AIR was not his number one choice was that the stakeholders were an afterthought. He said it was important to get information from the stakeholders. He said any one of the consultants could provide the data. However, it was important to get further input. He agreed that the timeframe was tight, and the report must be completed on time; however, all of the consultants would be working under the same timeframe. Some of the other consultants specifically included input from focus groups and stakeholders.

SENATOR BREEDEN MOVED THAT THE COMMITTEE SELECT AMERICAN INSTITUTES OF RESEARCH TO ASSIST THE COMMITTEE IN THE STUDY OF A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN NEVADA. ASSEMBLYMAN HANSEN SECONDED THE MOTION.

Senator Denis said he would support the motion, but he hoped that the process would include input from focus groups. Chairman Conklin commented that the AIR proposal included a significant note to work with the Committee on the project going forward. The Committee would have an opportunity to add that into the process.

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.

Chairman Conklin asked for suggestions for an alternate choice. Senator Brower said both APA and Cross and Joftus made compelling presentations. Senator Breeden preferred Cross and Joftus as the alternate selection. Senator Denis agreed to Cross and Joftus as the alternate consultant. Assemblyman Hansen said he liked APA because they performed the 2006 study, but he would also agree to Cross and Joftus as the alternate consultant.

SENATOR DENIS MOVED THAT THE COMMITTEE SELECT CROSS AND JOFTUS AS AN ALTERNATE OPTION TO ASSIST THE COMMITTEE IN THE STUDY OF A NEW METHOD FOR FUNDING PUBLIC SCHOOLS IN NEVADA. ASSEMBLYMAN HANSEN SECONDED THE MOTION.

THE MOTION CARRIED UNANIMOUSLY.

F. REVIEW OF TIMELINE FOR CONDUCTING THE STUDY.

Julie Waller, Senior Program Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division of the Legislative Counsel Bureau, noted that the timeline for the study and the meetings of the Committee was on page 305 of the meeting packet (<u>Exhibit A</u>). She said LCB Legal Counsel would negotiate the contract with the selected consultant, and the LCB Director would be authorized to sign the contract. The target date for completion of the contract was April 27, 2012. Many of the proposals have a May 1, 2012, starting date. Once that contract is negotiated and signed, the study will begin. Legislative Counsel Bureau and NDE staff would be in contact with the consultant to arrange for meetings or data exchange. Ms. Waller said the Committee would meet on Thursday, August 9, 2012, to receive the preliminary report from the consultant. The consultant will be present at the meeting to discuss with the Committee its findings and recommendations, and receive feedback as to whether additional information is needed or desired. The final report will be presented at the final meeting of the Committee on Tuesday, August 28, 2012, at which time the Committee will formulate its findings, recommendations, and possible bill draft requests for submission to the 2013 Session of the Nevada Legislature.

Chairman Conklin noted there were two Committee meetings left. He asked the Committee members to add those dates to their calendars. He noted that the Legislative Commission had granted the Committee with an extension from its June deadline, but there was no time for a second extension.

Chairman Conklin expressed his appreciation to the consultants for their willingness to meet with the Committee and their exceptional proposals. He said he looked forward to working with AIR on this study, and with the other consultants on future studies.

G. PUBLIC COMMENT

There was no public comment.

H. ADJOURNMENT

The meeting was adjourned at 11:46 a.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Becky Lowe, Secretary

APPROVED:

Assemblyman Marcus Conklin, Chairman

Date:_____

I:\Interim 2012\New Method of Funding Public Schools SB 11\April 20 2012 meeting\NewMethodK12_04202012.docx



Education, Human Development, and the Workforce

Study of a New Method of Funding for Public Schools in Nevada

Submitted:August 8, 2012Submitted To:Nevada Legislative Counsel Bureau

Julie Waller Senior Program Analyst, Fiscal Analysis Division Nevada Legislative Counsel Bureau 401 South Carson Street Carson City, NV 89701-4747

Submitted By: Dr. Jay Chambers, Dr. Jesse Levin and Antonia Wang (AIR) Professor Deborah Verstegen (University of Nevada, Reno) Professor Emeritus Teresa Jordan (University of Nevada, Las Vegas) Professor Bruce Baker (Rutgers University)

American Institutes for Research

2800 Campus Drive, Suite 200, San Mateo, CA 94403 | 650.843.8100 | TTY 877-334-3499 | www.air.org

Contents

Introduction	1
Study Objectives	1
Organization of Study	2
Chapter 1 – Overview of Nevada Plan	3
Evolution of Nevada Funding System (History/Previous Studies/Stakeholder Input)	3
The Early Years	3
1948-1968	4
1968-88	6
1988-2006	7
The 2006 Adequacy Study	7
2000-2012 Equity	8
National Ranking and Reports	8
Stakeholder Input	10
Primary Issues	10
Primary Requests for Consideration	11
How the Current Funding System Works (Formula/Revenue Sources)	12
The Nevada Plan	12
Revenue Sources	15
The Minimum Foundation Program	15
External Categorical Funds	16
Capital Outlay	16
Analysis of Funding System Based on Criteria for an Optimal System	17
Chapter 2 – Inventory of State Finance Systems	22
Inventory of State Finance Systems	22
Major State Finance Systems	22
Key Issues in Choosing a Funding Formula	25
Financing Individual Student/District Needs and Characteristics	25
Summary	
Chapter 3 – Identifying Adjustments Used to Address Cost Factors	35
Defining Cost Factors	35

General Methodology	38
Determining Similar States	39
Identifying Cost Adjustments	42
Identifying Student Poverty Cost Adjustments	42
Identifying Scale of Operations Cost Adjustments	46
Identifying Special Education Cost Adjustments	50
Identifying English Learner Cost Adjustments	51
A Note on Suggested Adjustments from Cost Studies	52
Identifying Differential Wage Cost Adjustments	54
Chapter 4 – Simulation of Alternative Practices in Nevada	56
Our Understanding of the Distributive School Account Model (DSA)	56
How the DSA treats Scale and Price	56
Isolating the Impact of Current Cost Factor Adjustments in the DSA	58
Simulating Cost Factor Adjustments Using the Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS)	61
Incorporating the Comparable Wage Index (CWI) Into the DSA	61
Using the Nevada Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS)	65
Simulating Differential Wage Cost Adjustments	69
Simulating Student Poverty Cost Adjustments	69
Simulating English Learner Cost Adjustments	72
Simulating Scale of Operations Cost Adjustments	72
Simulating Multiple Cost Adjustments	77
A Note on the Intention of the FAS	77
Analysis of Alternative Special Education Cost Adjustments	77
Students with Disabilities	79
The Fixed Allocation Per Pupil	82
Weighted Pupil Funding	82
A Census-Based Approach	83
Census-Based Model Combined with a Catastrophic Aid Program	84
The Impact of Adding Gifted Students	87
Analysis of the Special Education Funding Options	90
Under Funding of Special Education	93
Chapter 5 – Recommendations	95

Distributive School Account DSA Model Recommendations	. 95
Modify DSA Adjustments for Scale/Density and Geographic Differences in Staffing Prices to Ensur Equity across Districts	re . 95
Incorporate New Adjustments for Low-Income Students and English Learners into the DSA to Ensure Equity across Districts	. 98
Other Recommendations	100
Recommendations for Funding Special Education	100
Documenting How Special Education is Funded	100
Establish One or More Panels to Consider Special Education Funding Policy Recommendations	101
References	103
Chapter 1 References	103
Chapter 2 References	104
Chapter 3 References	104
Chapter 4 References	104

Introduction

The Nevada Plan for school finance currently forms the basis for funding K-12 education in the state. It guarantees a level of state funding per pupil and is intended to equitably distribute funds to all districts. The American Institutes for Research (AIR) was commissioned to conduct the following study to investigate how the state finance system could be improved by determining how it could increase the degree to which the differential funding needs of students and smaller rural districts are met.

Study Objectives

The purpose of this study is to evaluate options available to the state for improving the equity by which funds are distributed to students living in all parts of the state. The project consists of three major activities to carry out this evaluation:

- Develop An Inventory of State Finance Systems That Address the Additional Costs of Serving Students With Specific Needs (Poverty, English Learners and Special Education) and Living in Rural Remote Areas and Provide An In-Depth Overview of the Nevada Plan
- 2) Analyze of Methods Used in Selected Comparable States for Addressing the Individual Student Needs and Special District Characteristics
- 3) Provide Recommendations to Improve Nevada's Existing School Funding Model and Incorporate Best Practices for Ensuring Student Needs and Challenges of Delivering Education in Smaller Rural Remote Districts Are Addressed

This report presents the results of this investigation. The work has been conducted over the past three months and has involved analyzing data collected from all fifty states in the U.S. The AIR team has examined state funding formulas, demographic characteristics, and fiscal data from all of the states, and based on empirical analyses of these data have attempted to identify the best practices that lead to an equitable distribution of funding with respect to the incidence of student in poverty, English learners, students enrolled in special education programs, and attending schools in districts with small scale of operations.

Over the course of the study, we have gathered and analyzed data on enrollment, student demographics, district characteristics, and other relevant data pertaining to patterns of cost and resource allocation in public schools for the State of Nevada. Some of the data came from the Nevada Department of Education and we have interviewed a number of key knowledgeable individuals who at one time or another have been immersed in the inner workings and modifications of the Nevada Plan. In addition, the team also had the opportunity to gather information from representatives of the Nevada School Districts at a session organized for the Nevada School Superintendents annual meetings held on June 18th in South Lake Tahoe, Nevada.

The report examines in considerable detail the Distributive School Account (DSA) Equity Allocation Model, which proved to be a quite transparent, but intricate mechanism that encompasses the key adjustments intended to achieve an equitable distribution of revenues across the state's districts. The report also included a detailed analysis of the allocation of funding for special education services in the state.

With a clear understanding of how the current system works, the team then created a modeling tool designed to simulate the distributive effects of adopting various funding adjustments to account for the additional costs related to serving students with various needs and/or being served in larger or smaller, more remote districts. The simulation model, the Formula Adjustment Simulator (FAS), is designed to facilitate thoughtful decision making by Nevada State policy makers by providing a structure for analyzing the data and showing the impact of alternative approaches to improving the Nevada Plan.

Organization of Study

The remainder of the report is organized as follows: Chapter 1 provides a detailed overview and historical account of the Nevada state funding system; Chapter 2 includes a comprehensive state inventory of finance systems that documents the different types of funding mechanisms used by states throughout the country; Chapter 3 contains two analyses that identify 1) states that are similar to Nevada in terms of the needs of the students they serve and scale with which their districts operate; and, 2) alternative funding practices that might be implemented by Nevada to promote greater funding equity to its students and districts; Chapter 4 documents the development of the simulation model (FAS) introduced above and includes a series of alternative funding practices are simulated in the context of the Nevada finance system; and, Chapter 5 provides our suggested recommendations and concluding thoughts.

Chapter 1 - Overview of Nevada Plan

This part of the report responds to the two key tasks under Objective 1: a) to present an historical overview of Nevada's K-12 school finance system including requested input from stakeholders and b) to provide an in-depth description of the current funding allocation system for public elementary and secondary schools. This part of the report is divided into four sections: 1) Evolution of Nevada Funding System (History/Previous Studies/Stakeholder Input), 2) How the Current Funding System Works (Formula/Revenue Sources), 3) Analysis of the Funding System Based on Criteria for an Optimal System, and 4) Issues to Explore.

While the purpose of this study is narrowly focused, that is, to explore how the differentiated needs of students might be addressed in Nevada's funding allocation system, an overview of the current system provides an opportunity to examine the allocation system in its entirety. In fact, "the current economic downturn may provide an opportunity for the state to take its time to thoroughly analyze the total funding allocation system"¹. In this way, when the economic environment improves, the state would have a comprehensive plan for implementing an updated *Nevada Plan* consistent with current state educational goals and accountability efforts. Thus, comments in this section will focus on both current issues identified in this study and potential issues that the state may wish to explore in the future.

Evolution of Nevada Funding System (History/Previous Studies/Stakeholder Input)

The Early Years

The public school system in Nevada was established by the first session of Nevada's legislature in 1865. It was based on previous territorial laws, the laws of the state of California, and the Nevada Constitution. The legislature of 1865 created a system financed partly by state funds derived from a permanent school fund, special taxes, and some support from the state general fund. The basis for the distribution of monies was amended several times in the early history of the state. Originally, funds were allocated based on the actual number of school-aged children residing within the district. However, this resulted in rural districts suffering from a lack of minimum support to operate schools. The Apportionment Law of 1877 established an apportionment unit based on 100 children, age 6 to 18, per unit as determined by census count.¹¹ This was called a *teacher apportionment unit*. Subsequent to the law, 25% of funding for schools was based on a unit allocation and 75% of funding continued to be based on a per pupil census count. The law was amended in 1885 to again benefit rural districts by increasing the unit proportion of funding from 25% to 40%.

There has been a constant struggle in Nevada to determine the best apportionment methods to address the needs of both rural and more urban areas. In 1890 the apportionment law was changed by redefining a teacher unit based on 75 children per unit instead of 100. In 1911 a

new apportionment law established a teacher allotment unit based on 30 children per unit. This new apportionment law required 70% of the funding allocation to be distributed by teacher units and 30% distributed by per-pupil count.

In subsequent years, legislative interest shifted to a focus on the taxation process and taxpayer fairness. In 1917 the legislature changed the evolution of the distributive school account by pledging a definite or predictable sum of money to school districts rather than a proportional part of monies available. It also established procedures for levying a state school support tax. The changes in the collection and distribution of state revenues for education were the first indications of the state's concern for the equalization of district wealth. The assessed valuation of property within school districts had begun to vary widely.

In 1925, the state legislature changed how it would allocate funds from child census counts to counts based on the actual number of pupils enrolled in school. The apportionment and distribution laws changed little up to and through the 1940s. If costs increased, districts relied on the counties to provide increases in the per pupil apportionment. The counties carried the burden of increases until the 1947 legislature provided a substantial increase in the teacher unit allocations.

1948-1968

A formal recommendation was made to the 1947-48 Nevada Legislature to appoint an interim committee of the State Department of Education to consider the reorganization of the educational system within the state. *The Nevada School Finance Survey Group* determined that Nevada was facing many education problems due to the number of school districts and their small size, which resulted in organizational inefficiencies. As of June 1947, Nevada had 238 school districts many with fewer than ten students. The group recommended that schools be administered on a community interest, county unit, or regional basis. It also recommended the creation of a position for Assistant Superintendent for Finance, Budgeting and Statistics. This recommendation reflected the study group's belief that many of the problems facing the financing of schools were due to a lack of modern accounting and budgeting procedures within the State Department of Education.^{III} Finally, the group recommended further study of high cost programs such as capital improvements and pupil transportation. The Survey Group's recommendations led to the continuous study of the Nevada school system over the next decade.

Governor Charles H. Russell commissioned the *Governor's School Survey Committee* to compile a report of *Public Education in Nevada^{iv}*. The Division of Surveys and Field Services at George Peabody College for Teachers was commissioned to complete the report.^v The task of the survey staff was "to determine the conditions in Nevada public schools, to identify problems that require solution, and to express its professional judgment as to the proper solution of the problems."^{vi} This report became known as the Peabody Report and provided comprehensive recommendations that resulted in dramatic changes in how Nevada funded its public schools. The report was delivered to the Survey Committee on November 6, 1954 and recommended:

- Allocating dollars per teacher unit
- Providing allocations based on average daily attendance (ADA)
- Making school districts county co-terminus
- Funding transportation
- Allowing districts more flexibility in assessing additional taxes to support education

While not all of the recommendations were adopted, the Peabody Study resulted in "increased appropriations and made possible the operation of the schools on a more adequate financial basis".^{vii}

In 1959, the legislature authorized the governor to appoint another school survey committee. The *Governor's School Survey Committee* contracted with the University of Wyoming to complete a fact-finding study of Nevada schools. The areas of finance, personnel, business management, and curriculum were explored. One of the primary areas of concern was the sufficiency of funds for public schools. In fact, the 1959 legislature had to enact an emergency distributive school fund for one year and then continued it for the second year of the biennia. Another concern was the increasing inequity to taxpayers as the result of varying assessed valuations of property throughout the state. The charge to the Wyoming study committee was to 'determine if Nevada's then current "minimum assistance program" met the criteria of a minimum foundation program'. The Wyoming study results were submitted to Governor Grant Sawyer's survey committee in 1960. Based on the Wyoming study, The *Governor's School Survey Committee* outlined principles for the development of a state funding allocation system that lead to the adoption of the *Nevada Plan* in 1967. It is still the basis of the Nevada funding formula used today. The committee's recommendations were as follows:

- Every child should have an equal educational opportunity
- State law should define the minimum foundation program in broad terms of both educational standards and costs
- The program should encourage the development of local school administrative units and attendance areas that are large enough to facilitate operation of a complete economical and efficient education program.
- The program should be determined by an equitable, objective, practical, and weighted measure of educational need
- The program should include the cost of transportation
- The program should include the cost of capital outlay

- State aid should be apportioned strictly on the basis of an objective formula easily comprehended by state and local agents
- All school districts should support the foundation program at a uniform rate of local taxation
- state support of the equalization plan should be the difference between the amount of revenue raised locally and the objectively determined level of the foundation guarantee

In the 60's Nevada was ranked 4th in the nation in per pupil expenditures^{viii}, which compares to current national rankings that vary from 37th to 48th in per pupil expenditures. The percentage of state revenues for education was at 54.6%, well above average for the nation, as compared to the proportion of current state revenues at 30.8%, well below average for the nation.^{ix}

1968-88

Subsequent to the Wyoming study, several pivotal events occurred in relation to Nevada's funding allocation system^x:

- 1963- Legislature commissioned a study to develop the Nevada funding formula based on the Wyoming study's recommendations
- 1967-The Nevada Legislature enacted the state funding formula, subsequently referred to as the *Nevada Plan*
- 1971-A study commissioned by Governor O'Callahan recommended all statutory references to joint school districts be deleted from the Nevada Revised Statutes; also recommended consolidation.
- 1973-Funding for special education enacted as an add-on to the *Nevada Plan* and distributed as a unit allocation
- 1977- An economic trigger (to do what?) was enacted into law; Nevada Assembly reviewed concept of deconsolidation for CCSD (which is...) but no action was taken
- 1979- A property tax relief package was approved; proposal to study the practicality of deconsolidation was not adopted
- 1981-Tax rate de-triggered to provide relief to state; Study of *Nevada Plan* authorized; The *Local School Support Tax* was raised from 1.0% to 1.5%
- 1983- The property tax dedicated to public schools was raised from \$0.50 to \$0.75 per \$100 dollars of assessed valuation
- 1984-Senate approved school finance study; Counties with over 400,000 population were authorized to earmark \$0.60 of real property transfer tax for school district capital projects

1988-2006

- 1988- Price Waterhouse Study commissioned to examine fiscal affairs of state and local governments as well as to analyze Nevada's taxing system and intergovernmental relationships; and to make policy recommendations1989- Nevada Legislature enacted
- 1988- Interim Study Committee examined class size reduction
- 1989- Nevada Legislature enacted the Class-Size Reduction Act establishing categorical funding for class size reduction for grades K-3 through a phase-in program
- 1991-The Nevada Legislature increased the *Local School Support Tax* from 1.5% to 2.25% on taxable sales.
- 1995- Study commissioned to explore the feasibility of reconfiguring the structure of Nevada's school districts; Conducted by Management Analysis & Planning Associates (MAP). Eight of 34 recommendations adopted. Major items adopted included: (1) a process for realigning districts initiated locally or by voter petition, (2) provision for charter schools, (3) provision for a statewide technology plan, and (4) provision for an interim committee to explore the state's participation in financing school construction.
- 1997- Nevada Education Reform Act (NERA) passed as Nevada's accountability program

The 2006 Adequacy Study

With increased pressure to respond to both federal and state accountability demands for insuring every child has the opportunity to meet standards and pass proficiency exams, Nevada districts were feeling the strain of trying to meet expectations under current funding levels. This was, in part, due to functioning under a funding allocation system that had been developed at an earlier time in Nevada's history; a time when the state had less population, was demographically homogeneous, and was basically a rural state.

In 2006, a study was commissioned to look at the adequacy of Nevada's funding system in the context of new national and state accountability demands. Conducted by Augenblick, Palaich, and Associates, *Estimating the Cost of an Adequate Education in Nevada^{xi}*, focused on determining two key cost elements; (1) a base, per student cost adjusted for district size and (2) additional cost weights (add on weights) for children with special needs including special education children, children at-risk of failing in school, English language learners (ELL), and children in Career and Technical Education (CTE) programs. Results of a *Professional Judgment* methodology recommended a *starting cost* of an increased funding level of 79.6 million dollars or \$231 per student on average and a *goal cost* representing the starting cost plus add-on weights for special education and CTE programs. The projected cost using 2003-04 data adjusted for inflation was \$3,551.3 million. The report provided a 9 year phase-in to increase revenues in order to meet adequacy funding projections. The student cost weights from the professional judgment methodology yielded weights for small, moderate, and large districts

Table 2.1 – Added Cost Weights For Nevada Special Needs Students*				
Special Need	Small District	Moderate District	Large District	
SPED Mild	1.04	0.88	0.89	
SPED Moderate	1.69	1.28	1.29	
SPED Severe	3.55	2.52	2.44	
At-Risk	0.31	0.29	0.35	
ELL	1.21	0.56	0.47	
СТЕ	0.14	0.05	0.04	

and are summarized in Table 2.1. They range from a weight of 0.04 for a child enrolled in CTE in a large district to 3.55 for a severe special education child in a small district.

* Figures taken from John Augenblick, et. al., "Estimating the Cost of an Adequate Education in Nevada", (Denver, Colorado: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, Inc., 2006).

Since the Adequacy Study there has been an economic downturn both nationally and in the state. To date no action has been taken on the study's recommendations

2000-2012 Equity

Over the past decade the equity of the Nevada funding allocation system appears to have eroded. ^{xii xiii xiv} For example, in 1991, the coefficient of variation for net current expenditures was 0.0103. ^{xv} A coefficient of variation is the standard deviation of a distribution divided by the mean, expressed as a percentage. It represents the degree to which the dispersal of a distribution clusters near the mean. The value ranges from 0 to 1.0. The lower the coefficient of variation is the greater the equity. The Augenblick study reported a coefficient of variation of 0.473 for 2003-04 but district populations were not weighted resulting in an overinflated measure. In the field of school finance a coefficient of 0.150 or less is considered to be acceptable^{xvi}. In other words, two thirds of the distribution of per pupil expenditures should be within 15% of the mean. Equity measures overall are problematic for Nevada because 70+% of the student population resides within one school district (Clark County). Equity measures are based on the underlying assumption of a normal distribution curve which Nevada does not demonstrate.

National Ranking and Reports

Examining national rankings in school finance requires the careful consideration of the definitions used in calculating those rankings. Different entities use different definitions so it is important to make certain, if you are making comparisons, to compare "apples" with "apples". While one might criticize individual rankings and how they are calculated, the important thing to examine is the overall pattern of a state's performance over time. For Nevada, the historical pattern of performance for per pupil expenditures as well as other measures in the *NEA Estimates and Rankings* is not exemplary. Over the past decade, Nevada has consistently ranked in the lowest quartile for per pupil expenditures and other funding measures for public

education; sometimes ranking in 46th or 48th place.^{xvii} By any analysis, there is substantial room for improvement in meeting the equal educational opportunity needs of the state's school children.

In the most recent National Report Card for 2012, prepared for the Rutgers Education Law Center, Nevada received low rankings or grades on 3 of 4 "fairness measures".^{xviii}The Report Card consists of separate but interrelated fairness measures. The 50 states plus the District of Columbia were evaluated on each of these measures. The four measures are:

• *Funding Level* – This measures the overall level of state and local revenue provided to school districts, and compares each state's average per-pupil revenue with that of other states, including states within the region. To recognize the variety of interstate differences, each state's revenue level is adjusted to reflect differences in regional wages, poverty, economies of scale and population density. **Nevada ranked 38**th for 2009, the most recent year reported.

• *Funding Distribution* – This measures the distribution of funding across local districts within a state, relative to student poverty. The measure shows whether a state provides more or less funding to schools based on their poverty concentration, using simulations ranging from 0% to 30% child poverty. **Nevada received a grade of "F"** (Five states received a grade of "F" for 2009)

• *Effort* – This measures differences in state spending for education relative to state fiscal capacity. "Effort" is defined as the ratio of state spending to state per capita gross domestic product (GDP). **Nevada received a grade of "F"** (effort index of 0.032. Indices ranged from 0.024 in **Delaware** to 0.063 in **Vermont**, with those falling below 0.033 receiving a grade of "F". Fourteen states received this grade for 2009).

• *Coverage* – This measures the proportion of school-age children attending the state's public schools, as compared with those not attending the state's public schools (primarily parochial and private schools, but also home schooling). The share of the state's students in public schools, and the median household income of those students, is an important indicator of the distribution of funding relative to student poverty (especially where more affluent households simply opt out of public schooling), and the overall effort to provide fair school funding.^{xix} **Nevada ranked 17**thfor 2009. This was the most positive measure for Nevada. The state has a Private/Public Income Ratio of 2.01 (range- 1.18 for Wyoming to 3.49 for District of Columbia. Nevada had a median household income for public schools of \$71,515 and for private schools of \$109,262)

Nevada has made recent attempts to improve the overall equity of its funding allocation system, particularly with the new *Equity Allocation Model* described in the next section.

However, the state should consider providing close scrutiny of equity or fairness measures in the future and planning strategies for improvement to avoid the potential of future litigation.

Stakeholder Input

As part of the overview for this study, two stakeholder meetings were held to gather information regarding concerns and issues with the Nevada funding allocation system. Participants were provided a brief overview of the study as well as instructions and questions to guide group discussion. In addition, an e-mail address was created to receive ongoing input from individuals following the meetings. The stakeholder meetings were held on June 18, 2012 for district superintendents/designees and June 22, 2012 for district financial officers/business managers.

Stakeholder input was consolidated into a continuous anonymous transcript. The transcript was coded and recurring themes identified. Primary issues and requests for consideration are outlined below with those words in bold denoting recurring terms emphasized in the transcript. The overarching concern of stakeholders was **funding** that took into consideration the unique characteristics of **schools, students**, and **districts**.

Primary Issues

- **Reduction** in **funding** has resulted in no **textbook** adoptions despite textbooks currently in use becoming obsolete.
- Reduction in funding has resulted in reduction in teaching staff and an increase in class size (e.g., class size increases in one district were as follows: "K" grew 12%; 1st and 2nd grades grew 37.5%; and 3rd grew 15.8%).
- Concessions in **salary and benefits** have resulted in the erosion of funding for the effective delivery of programs.
- Differential treatment in the funding of **charter schools** versus regular public schools calls into question the **equity** of charter school funding.
- Current **funding level** is a barrier to the educational **success** of students.
- Non-educational factors; differentials between **geographic areas** are critical factors for **rural districts**.
- The question of equity in the funding formula leaves 15 districts "terrified" as long as the inadequacy of **funding** is not addressed.
- Legislated **authority** for districts to have **greater flexibility** in spending and relief in the area of **collective bargaining** is needed in order for districts to spend monies effectively and efficiently.

Primary Requests for Consideration

- Provision of information on how other states fund education and **models** of funding.
- Consideration of the fact that few states have the rural attributes found in Nevada, with a sales tax based economy and capped **ad valorem** rates.
- Additional flexibility in spending and a loosening of **bureaucratic** requirements to allow districts to **maximize** the efficiency with which dollars are used.
- Establishment of a rainy day fund to ensure the **stability** of the **DSA model**.
- Recognition of the differentiated needs of students.
- Recognition of the higher cost of educating students in rural communities.
- Recognition of the cost/weighting of each district's **unique** characteristics, economies of scale, and **geographic** cost difference.
- Provision of a hold-harmless phase-in for any redistribution of funds to avoid excessive **reductions** in funding in any given year.
- Funding for facilities to **charter schools** that have demonstrated high performance.
- Elimination of sponsorship fees for charter schools.

In addition, the transcript was entered into *Wordle^{xx}* to provide a visual representation of stakeholder input. *Wordle* is a software program that creates "word clouds" from the text provided. The clouds give greater prominence to words that appear more frequently in the source text. Figure 1.1 presents the illustration generated using the stakeholder transcript.

Figure 1.1 Word Cloud from Stakeholder Transcript


How the Current Funding System Works (Formula/Revenue Sources)

The Nevada Plan

The primary objective of the Nevada funding formula, the *Nevada Plan*, for elementary and secondary education is to "ensure each Nevada child [receives] a reasonably equal educational opportunity".^{xxi} The *Nevada Plan* is an equalized minimum foundation program that is designed to recognize local variation in wealth and expenditures per pupil. A foundation program is the most common type of funding formula used in the United States. As we will see in Chapter 2, 36 of the 50 states use some form of a foundation program.^{xxii} In essence, in a minimum foundation program the *state sets a guaranteed amount of money per pupil for educating elementary and secondary pupils*, determines the amount of money per pupil districts can raise from local revenue sources, and then *pays the difference between the local revenues raised and the state guarantee*.^{xxiii}

The Nevada formula is expressed in both per pupil weights and unit allocations. The *Nevada Revised Statutes* state that the plan "should supplement local financial ability to whatever extent necessary in each school district to provide programs of instruction in both compulsory and elective subjects that offer full opportunity for every Nevada child to receive the benefit of the purposes for which public schools are maintained" ^{xxiv}. The basic support guarantee is dispersed from the general fund through a *Distributive School Account* (DSA). The primary purpose of the DSA is to provide the financial mechanism by which the state meets its obligation under the *Nevada Plan* provision.^{xxv} DSA payments are paid to districts quarterly in August, November, February, and May to meet the state's share of the basic support guarantee.

The Nevada Plan is referred to as an "equity allocation model" and is composed of twelve calculation modules. There are three additional modules that provide supporting documentation and underlying assumptions for the allocation model.^{xxvi} These modules were developed and refined through an expert committee that commenced its work in 2004. The model allows for the calculation of each district's unique basic support guarantee. Two of the primary reasons for the update of the model were to add additional transparency to the program and to refine the district grouping used in the individual district calculations of their basic support guarantee that dealt with size, density, and sparsity. (See Appendix A for district groupings.) The following is a description of the basic components of the *Nevada Plan*.

Basic Support Ratio. This part of the formula determines the staffing and operating expenditures for each district with adjustments related to density, sparsity, size, and differences in educational costs among districts. It is expressed as a ratio that

represents the *relative cost* of a district doing business in Nevada compared with the statewide average cost. It takes into account certain economies of scale for districts to services. Staffing costs are determined by aggregating school enrollments within *attendance areas* with allowable teacher staffing units assigned by projecting the aggregated enrollments through a *Staffing Allotment Table* maintained by the Nevada Department of Education (see Appendix B). Once units are assigned to each attendance area they are aggregated within their respective districts. Operating costs are based on prior year expenditures incrementally increased for inflation and additional monies when the general fund allows. The *Basic Support Ratios* for Nevada districts are indexed to the mean which is expressed as a 1.0. Ratios ranged from 0.9621 (Clark) to 3.1398 (Esmeralda) for 2010-11. ^{xxvii} While the state refers to this as a cost-based formula ^{xxviii}, technically it is not. The formula calculations are based on incrementally adjusted historical expenditure data rather than on data that accurately takes into account the differential cost of providing education across the various districts in the state.

Wealth Adjustment Factor. This component adjusts for each district's local revenues (wealth) outside of the *Nevada Plan*. Basically, the calculation functions to regress districts' local wealth toward the mean local wealth for the state. This particular component is the primary reason that Nevada historically has scored high on some national rankings for equity.^{xxix} However, it should be noted that, at the time, these particular rankings looked at only one aspect of equity, horizontal *taxpayer* equity. These rankings did not consider performance on other components of equity, such as horizontal or vertical *pupil* equity. Horizontal pupil equity refers to treating pupils in like circumstances similarly. Vertical pupil equity refers to treating pupils in different circumstances according to their differentiated needs.^{xxx}

Transportation Allotment. This component of the formula functions as a percentage cost reimbursement program. The state reimburses 85% of allowable capital and operating expenditures based on a four year rolling average adjusted for inflation.

Basic Support Level. This component combines the previous three components of the Nevada Plan to arrive at a district's preliminary basic support level. Since the state basic support guarantee includes transportation costs these costs must first be backed out of the total. Then the guarantee is "adjusted" for the district's "cost of doing business". This results in the Adjusted Basic Support per Pupil (ABSSP). Finally, the three components of the Nevada Plan are added together.

Illustration:

ABSPP = [state basic support guarantee] – [state average transportation allotment] x [basic support ratio]

Preliminary Basic Support Per-Pupil = [ABSSP] +

[per-pupil wealth adjustment factor] +
[per-pupil transportation allotment]

Special Education Units. After the unique preliminary basic support for each district is calculated, units are added for special education programming. These units function as an add-on to the *Nevada Plan* formula. The funding units were initially designed to cover the cost of an average teacher salary for a specified number of special education pupils by disability. Since the baseline units were established they have been increased incrementally; however, the increases have not always mirrored the proportional increases in some district's special education population. Thus, the number of units allocated appears to be idiosyncratic across some districts with like characteristics. This draws the equity of the distribution of special education units into question.^{xxxi} The unit allocation for 2011-12 was \$39,768, which represents approximately 69% of the average cost of a teacher (\$57,312).

Once the special education units for a district are allotted the total individual district's state guarantee can be calculated.

Illustration:

State Basic Support Guarantee = [total weighted pupil enrollment] x

[preliminary basic support guarantee per pupil] +

[total value of special education units]

The weighted pupil enrollment in the formula is determined by a single count day at the end of September. There are currently two per pupil weights in the formula; 1.0 for pupils in grades 1 thru 12 and 0.6 for pre-kindergarten and kindergarten pupils officially enrolled by count day.

Revenue Sources

The Nevada Plan's financial support for elementary and secondary schools is comprised of a combination of state and local revenues. The state revenue sources include general fund revenues of a 2% state sales tax, gaming taxes, insurance tax, and an employment tax. State revenue sources also include an out-of-state 2.25 cent local school support sales tax not attributable to any single county or school district and a portion of an annual slot machine tax. Two locally-generated tax revenues also are included in the *Nevada Plan*; a county apportioned 2.25 cent sales tax and a 1/3 or \$0.25 per \$100 of assessed valuation property tax.^{xxxii}

In addition to *Nevada Plan* revenues, districts have designated local revenue sources "outside of the plan". These funds consist of a 2/3 or \$0.50 per \$100 of assessed valuation property tax, a governmental services tax (GST), franchise fees, unrestricted federal revenues, interest, and other local revenues dedicated to education. (See Appendix C for a diagram of complete state and local revenue sources.)^{xxxiii}

The proportion of revenues for education from different governmental sources is 62.6% local, 30.8% state, and 6.6% federal.^{xxxiv} This is somewhat atypical as most states have increased their state share so that state and local share percentages are closer to each other. In many cases these changes were in response to litigation.^{xxxv} The proportion of revenues from different sources is 51% from sales tax, 19% from property tax, 15% from gaming tax, and 15% from other sources.^{xxxvi} Thus, Nevada's major source of revenue for schools is the sales tax. This leaves the state particularly vulnerable to the vagaries of economic downturns as evidenced by the last two legislative sessions.^{xxxvii} An over-reliance on the sales tax, because it is a regressive tax, also can result in the poor paying a disproportional share of their income for education when compared to other segments of the population.^{xxxviii}

Nevada has no local leeway. Local revenue levels are specified by the state legislature.^{xxxix} In other words, there is no local choice regarding revenues for operations. Districts may not go to the voters to ask for additional revenues for operations as is possible in some other states.^{xl} While this may contribute to Nevada's ability to maintain a standard of equity it also puts an increased burden on the state to ensure funding is sufficient to maintain "programs of instruction... that offer full opportunity for every... child..."^{xli}. If the state guarantee is insufficient to achieve its educational purpose, a district has no authority to raise the needed additional revenues in order to meet state goals and accountability benchmarks.

The Minimum Foundation Program

Once local revenues are determined, the minimum foundation program can be calculated to determine the amount of money coming to districts from the state.

Illustration:

State Aid = [State Basic Support Guarantee] (calculated through Nevada Plan) -

[Specified Nevada Plan Local Revenues] (combined revenues from 2.25 cents of sales tax and \$.25 per \$100 of assessed valuation for property tax)

External Categorical Funds

Nevada provides funding for several categorical programs. These are funds that are earmarked for a specific educational purpose but are outside the per pupil expenditures provided under the Nevada Plan. Examples include the Class-Size Reduction program, Early Childhood Education, remediation programs, and student counseling services^{xlii} Due to the current economic downturn several categorical programs are no longer being funded such as class size reduction, signing bonuses for in-demand teachers, innovation/prevention of remediation, and disruptive students.^{xliii} The advantages of external categorical dollars are: 1) they are earmarked funds that must be spent for their intended purpose and 2) they are relatively easy to add to existing state legislation. The disadvantages are: 1) they are outside the basic support guarantee and thus can be easily eliminated (as discussed above) and 2) they may be less flexible as to how dollars can be used. (A state has specific rules and regulations for external categorical dollars. These stipulations may result in a loss of flexibility and may curtail districts from delivering programs in a way they deem most effective for their unique student populations.) External categorical funds are not equalized and thus may have an adverse effect on the overall equity of a state's funding allocation system. Finally, with categorical funds that are dispersed partly through pupil count data and partly through grant applications, smaller districts that do not have grant writing expertise on staff may be disadvantaged.

Capital Outlay

Essentially, there is no capital outlay funding provided through the state except for capital expenditures for transportation (i.e., buses, cars, etc.). Revenues for capital expenditures such as building schools must be raised locally either through bonds or pay-as-you-go programs. There is a mandated legislative limit on bonded indebtedness. "The total bonded indebtedness of a county school district must at no time exceed an amount equal to 15 percent of the total of the last assessed valuation of taxable property".^{Xliv} As education is a state responsibility this places Nevada in a potentially vulnerable position. Traditionally, capital outlay costs have been borne exclusively by local districts. Despite education being a state responsibility, many states have not supported local school construction.^{xlv} One major problem with local capital outlay funding is the low assessed valuation of property in small districts. In these districts bonding for school construction may become a mathematical impossibility. The cost of a new building or a major renovation could exceed the assessed valuation of a small district. Yet, wealthy and/or

larger districts are able to build or renovate educational facilities with a small tax levy because of the accumulative assessed valuation. Such potential inequities can undermine a state's concept of "equal educational opportunity".

Analysis of Funding System Based on Criteria for an Optimal System

The research literature in public school finance provides multiple criteria for an optimal funding allocation system. Providing criteria for analysis offers the means by which a state can evaluate and refine the elements of its own program. For the purpose of this study the eight criteria outlined by Chambers and Levin (CITE) will be used.^{xlvi} While this is not an exhaustive list it provides us with the most pertinent elements to examine Nevada's current funding system. In addition to the authors' analysis of the funding formula, comments relative to these criteria were incorporated from stakeholder meetings.^{xlvii} The criteria are as follows:

Sufficiently funded and equitable on both horizontal and vertical dimensions. The resource allocation system provides sufficient funding for programs that meet the needs of a specific population of students. The system must be horizontally and vertically equitable, i.e., distribute funds to serve students with like needs in like manner and students with different needs in systematically different ways.

The current funding system only addresses the vertical equity needs of special education pupils. It does not provide differentiated resources for the needs of other types of pupils. The purpose of the Wyoming study, discussed in the first section of this chapter, was to address the needs of taxpayers. The Wyoming study was the impetus for the last major changes to the Nevada state funding formula other than the addition of special education units in 1973. The current formula is an elegantly designed funding mechanism suitable for an essentially homogeneous rural state. This makes sense in view of the population base and demographic characteristics of Nevada in 1967 when the *Nevada Plan* was implemented. However, the Nevada of the 1960s and 1970s is not the Nevada of today. Nevada is a diverse state in terms of types of schools (from one room school houses to 3,000-plus comprehensive high schools), types of pupils (the largest school district is now majority minority), and languages spoken (approximately 145 different languages).^{xiviii}

As discussed in the historical overview, Nevada's performance on some equity measures has eroded over the past decade. Addressing the differentiated needs of pupils and the unique needs of necessary small schools were the two most common comments from the stakeholders meetings conducted under this project. Stakeholders stated that with the current level of resources they were not able to sufficiently meet the needs of all of their students. The student groups mentioned most often for which they struggled to provide effective programming were at-risk, ELL, special education and gifted and talented. In the most recent National Report Card, Nevada received a grade of "F" for the years 2007, 08, and 09 in the *distribution of funding*

across local districts within a state relative to student poverty.^{xlix} This was one of four fairness measures discussed in the historical overview section of this chapter. This grade is to be expected in view of the fact that the *Nevada Plan* does not currently address the differentiated needs of children in poverty. In addition to the above equity challenges, Nevada also may exhibit vulnerabilities in the equity of its capital outlay program, particularly for districts near the ceiling of their bonded indebtedness. In view of these multiple challenges, **the Nevada Plan currently** <u>does not meet</u> this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system.

Transparent, understandable, and accessible. *The system must be clear to all stakeholders, straightforward, and based on publicly available data.*

The State Department of Education has made great strides to ensure transparency of its funding system. It seeks input from its constituents and commits to continuous improvement. The formula is broken down into separate modules through its "Equity Allocation Model" that explains and illustrates each module. Districts are provided worksheets for submitting *Nevada Plan* data elements. The Equity Allocation Model is readily available from the State Department of Education. However, while the end calculations are available through these modules it is difficult to arrive at the underlying data elements. It is not always clear what calculations are going on "behind" the module data columns. This makes simulation calculations difficult. **The** *Nevada Plan* currently only <u>partially meets</u> this criterion for an optimal funding allocation syst

Cost based. The formula must carefully enumerate and justify the differential costs of providing programs to diverse student populations in different settings.

Except for special education funding, the current formula does not enumerate nor justify the differential costs of providing programs to diverse student populations in different settings. In addition, the funding formula calculations are incrementally adjusted historical expenditure data based on a benchmark. Making adjustments to outdated data runs the risk of perpetuating past inequities. It can lead to the consistent overfunding or underfunding of programs. The state currently has no provision or process for systematically reviewing cost ratios or cost data used in its formula. **The Nevada Plan currently does not meet** this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system.

Capable of minimizing incentives. The funding formula should guard against distortion caused by over-identification or misreporting of students in need, enrollment sizes, and so on.

The state provides clear definitions for components in the *Nevada Plan* and due to minimal weighting there are limited opportunities for a district to distort data. **The** *Nevada Plan* **currently** <u>meets</u> **this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system**. However, there is a vulnerability that comes more from the "informal negotiations" with districts and "adjustments" that come after the basic formula is calculated. These may put some districts at an unfair advantage or disrupt the overall equity of the program.¹ One might hypothesize that if

continuous adjustments are necessary to bring the formula in line with current realities then perhaps the funding model is no longer viable to meet the educational needs of the state.

Reasonable in its administrative costs. Administrative costs should be minimal at both local and state levels and system not overburdened by excessive data and reporting requirements.

In the data provided, administrative costs were not specified. Steps have been taken by the State Department of Education to clarify, simplify, and make more transparent the data demands placed on districts for *Nevada Plan* information. While earmarked funds, as well as unfunded or underfunded mandates, could increase overall administrative costs there was not sufficient data to evaluate this claim. There was <u>not sufficient information</u> to determine whether or not The *Nevada Plan* meets this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system.

Predictable, stable, and timely. The system should be robust and stable enough to allow policymakers to project future needs and to plan to allocate resources properly and systematically in advance.

Stability and predictability are necessary in a state funding system in order for districts to plan and proceed in an orderly manner from one fiscal year to the next. However, because schools are financed through tax revenues, a change in the economic conditions can disrupt the stability of funding.^{II} As stated earlier, this was particularly true of Nevada due to the over reliance on the sales tax for the funding of schools. "For this reason, most experts contend that school funding should come from multiple tax sources which respond in different ways to changing economic conditions".^{III} Because of Nevada's taxation system for education **the** *Nevada Plan* currently <u>does not meet</u> this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system.

Accountable for learning outcomes and spending. The state should monitor that resources are being used effectively and progress toward the educational goal is being realized, which will require an appropriate accountability structure in place that can support data-driven decision making. The system should also provide wide latitude to schools that are producing favorable result.

Nevada has a comprehensive accountability system based on the requirements of the *No Child Left Behind Act* (NCLB) that is monitored by the federal Department of Education. There are four basic premises of the program: 1) Accountability for results, 2.) Emphasis on doing what works based on scientific research, 3.) Expanded parental options, and 4.) Expanded local control and flexibility.

NCLB requires that states implement an accountability system for schools that evaluates whether they are making Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP) toward the goals of the legislation. In compliance with NCLB, Nevada AYP classifications are made annually and are based on the percentage of students tested (participation), the percentage of students who score at or above

the proficient level on annual statewide tests of academic achievement, and another academic indicator: school attendance or graduation rate.^{IIII} The state also requires school improvement plans. Moreover, the state requires that fiscal data be disaggregated to the school and program level using a downward accounting model.^{IIV} The accountability system is clearly delineated on the Department of Education website and provides among other things, fiscal, demographic, attendance, and test performance data. The state also has recently implemented new state performance standards and a growth model for determining student progress. **The Nevada** *Plan* currently <u>meets</u> this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system. However, an additional observation is that the funding system does not appear to be linked to state goals or accountability outcomes. The formula provides no incentives for productivity or educational outcomes. This may be an area of future exploration.

Politically acceptable. *Implementation should avoid major sudden short-term loss of funding to schools*

The Nevada Plan has several mechanisms to ensure a district does not have to experience a sudden loss in funds. It includes a "hold-harmless" provision to protect districts during times of declining enrollment. The hold-harmless provision provides that enrollment must be based upon the larger of the current year's enrollment, or that of either of the previous two years. The provision holds a district harmless for a one year period except for districts with declining enrollments of 5% or more, which are afforded two years.

An additional provision assists school districts with significant growth in enrollment within the school year. If a district grows by more than 3% but less than 6% after the second school month, a growth increment of 2% of basic support is added to the guaranteed level of funding. If a district grows by more than 6%, the growth increment is 4%.^{IV} The Nevada Plan currently <u>meets</u> this criterion for an optimal funding allocation system.

A summary of Nevada's performance on the optimal funding criteria is included in Table 2.2

Optimal Funding Criteria	Meets Criteria	Partially Meets Criteria	Does Not Meet Criterion	Insufficient Data to Evaluate
Sufficiently funded; equitable on both horizontal/vertical dimensions			v	
Transparent, understandable, and accessible		v		
Cost based			V	
Capable of minimizing incentives	v			
Reasonable in its administrative costs				v
Predictable, stable, and timely			~	
Accountable for learning outcomes and spending	V			
Politically acceptable	V			

Table 2.2: Summary of Performance on Optimal Funding Criteria*

* Optimal funding criteria taken from Jay G. Chambers and Jesse D. Levin, "Determining the Cost of Providing an Adequate Education for All Students" (Washington, D.C.: National Education Association, 2009).

Chapter 2 – Inventory of State Finance Systems

Inventory of State Finance Systems

This chapter responds to the first task listed under the scope of work, development of an inventory of state finance systems that address individual student needs and characteristics including: 1) pupils with disabilities; 2) English language learners; 3) pupils who are at-risk as defined by such metrics as test scores or eligible for free or reduced priced meals; and, 4) any other individual student needs and characteristics addressed in the funding models of other states that are deemed notable. Also discussed, as delineated in the scope of work, is a list of states that incorporate the needs and challenges of school districts in remote areas and small schools in their methods for financing public schools. The information source is a 50-state survey of state finance policies and programs with data from FY 2011.^{Ivi}

These findings are discussed further below. First, the major approach for distributing state aid for public K-12 schooling is reviewed across states to provide a context for discussion of student needs. Then, mechanisms used to pay for students with special needs and high costs are discussed. Next, district factors for small schools in remote areas, are examined and compared across the states. Finally, an emerging area of interest is discussed: gifted and talented education funding.

Major State Finance Systems

The 50-state school finance survey showed that no fundamentally new state finance distribution models have emerged in recent years. Most states are financing schooling using funding systems that have been in place for almost a century. However, they have modified these systems in important ways. States are moving to weighted systems to tailor funding streams to individual student needs and characteristics and providing additional funding for remote schools/districts. Also, adequacy--that is, whether funding is sufficient to meet state laws, rules and regulations--is emerging as a target for the state guarantee under foundation programs, the type of finance system used in Nevada and the most heavily used system today (45 states use this system).^{Ivii}

Table 2.1 provides a listing of the number of states using each major type of finance system drawn from the 50-state survey. As shown in the table, states provide funding to their public elementary and secondary school districts using one of four types of finance formulae:

- Foundation Programs (36 states)—provides a uniform state guarantee per pupil, with state and local district funding.
- District Power Equalization Systems (3 states)—provides funding that varies based on tax rates.
- Full State Funding (1 state)—all funding is collected and distributed by the state.

- Flat Grants (1 state)—provides a uniform amount per pupil from state funds; localities can add funding to this amount.
- Combination Systems--(9 states)—these combine several funding plans (listed above).

Table 2.1 – State	School Finance	Formulae.	. b\	v State

Finance System	State
	AK, AL, AZ, AR, CA, CO, DE, FL,
	ID, IN, IA, KS, ME, MA, MI,
Foundation Program (36)	MN, MS, MO, NE, NV, NH, NJ, NM, NY,
	ND, OH, OR, PA, RI, SC, SD, TN, VA,
	WA, WV, WY
Full State Funding (1)	н
Flat Grant (1)	NC
District Power Equalizing (DPE) (3)	CT, VT, WI
Combination/ Tiered System (9)	GA, IL, KY, LA, MT, MD, OK, TX, UT

The Foundation Program

The survey findings showed that the Foundation School Program (FSP) was the finance system of choice, with 36 states reporting using it, including **Nevada**. When states employing a foundation program as part of a combination/tiered funding approach are added to states supporting education through these funding plans the total number of states using foundation formulae to pay for public elementary and secondary education increases to 45 states. Recently, **New York, Indiana**, and **Michigan** have shifted to a foundation program for funding public education.

Foundation program allocation schemes support education through a set state guarantee of funding per pupil or per teacher, which historically was intended to pay for a basic or minimum education program. Localities contribute to the state guarantee through a uniform tax rate or the funding that would result from it. Local support is drawn mainly from the property tax although some states, like Nevada, also use the sales tax for local funding under the plan. With similar tax efforts, poor localities raise less funding and wealthy localities raise more funding, due to variations in the local property tax base. The state makes up the difference up to the state guarantee per pupil—this is called "equalization". Usually localities can "go beyond' this amount with additional property taxes that are not equalized by the state.^{Iviii}

The state guarantee per pupil varies across the states. For 2011, Arizona reports providing \$3,267.72 per *weighted* student (where differential weights exists for grade level, special education, small and isolated schools, ELL and other areas approved by the legislature); the foundation amount in Arkansas is \$6,023 per student in average daily membership (ADM) based on the previous year's attendance. In Nevada, for the 2011 fiscal year the foundation program provided \$5,196 in basic support per student enrolled on count day.^{lix}

The local contribution to the FSP also varies across the states. In Colorado it is capped at 27 mills (\$27 per 1,000 of assessed valuation of property (or \$2.70 per \$100 assessed valuation). The local contribution for public schooling under the Nevada Plan is 25 cents per \$100 assessed valuation (2.5 mills per \$1000 assessed valuation) and 2.25% of sales taxes.^{1x} Additional property taxes (50 cents per \$100 assessed valuation) and various other revenues collected outside basic aid also contribute to funding under the Nevada Plan.

Of those states employing a FSP, a few (e.g., Alabama) use a teacher unit for allocation purposes but most states base allocations on a pupil unit. Students are counted in various ways. Utah has a weighted student foundation program with additional weight given to students in small/sparse districts. In Virginia, students are counted for seven months and an average is taken to determine average daily membership (ADM). In Nevada, there is only a single count of students enrolled on the last day of the first month of school.

District Power Equalizing Systems

Unlike FSPs, District Power Equalizing (DPE) Systems support taxpayer equity, rather than pupil equity, by providing *equal yield in the form of funding for similar tax rates (effort)* across the state. They consist of a Guaranteed Tax Base system, Guaranteed Yield approach and Percentage Equalizing Formulae. These are quickly becoming obsolete, most likely because they permit differential funding per pupil across the state based on variations in tax rates. Only three states reported using a district power equalization approach, including Vermont (Guaranteed Yield), Wisconsin (three-tiered Guaranteed Tax Base) and Connecticut (Percentage equalization).

These finance systems shift decision choices and policy options for taxing and spending from the state to the locality. There are various levels of state support based on local choices unlike a foundation program that provides a single level of basic aid per pupil. For example, the Guaranteed Yield system in Vermont has a base of \$8,544 per pupil at a tax rate of 8.6 mills. For every percent of funding the voters add to this amount, the tax rate goes up 1%--until double tax rates become operative above 125% of the average spending level.

Other Funding Approaches

Other major finance systems used by states include **Full State Funding** (FSF) or the **Flat Grant**— each is used in only one state. Although local funds are not part of the finance plan under FSF,

flat grants do permit local supplements but they are not equalized by the state. Flat grants were used by states as an initial means of assistance for schooling but have since been abandoned as a major approach for state funding because they provide low levels of aid and drive inequalities due to the excess local funding permitted. North Carolina reports using a Flat Grant as the major state aid mechanism. Hawaii is the only state that reports employing full state funding. In Hawaii, all public education funding is collected and distributed by the state.

Interestingly, nine states provide **Two-Tiered Systems**, that is, combination approaches to distribute funding to school districts: Georgia pays for schools through a combination Foundation and Guaranteed Yield formula, Illinois uses three finance formulae. In Kentucky, under SEEK (Support Education Excellence in Kentucky) funding is derived from a base foundation level with an optional two tiers of supplementation under a District Power Equalization Program.

Key Issues in Choosing a Funding Formula

A key issue related to funding formulae and the amount of funds they provide per pupil is whether or not the funding plan is equitable with respect to providing equal opportunities for all students, regardless of their circumstance. Another issue is whether the amount of funding is adequate--sufficient to teach all children to ambitious standards, laws and requirements. The following are some examples of how selected states have addressed this issue of adequacy:

- In **South Carolina**, base funding supports a *minimally adequate education*, according to the state.
- Maine's foundation program specifically mentions that it is an "adequacy"-based formula—it uses cost analysis to establish the amount, level and cost of education components needed in each school to ensure all students have equitable opportunities to achieve proficiency on learning standards.
- **Missouri** develops an "adequacy target" based on several factors including the average current expenditures of districts meeting all performance standards established by the Missouri State Board of Education.

Therefore, whether the adequacy target funds a minimum or quality education is an important issue that the state inventories raise. Many states have moved away from the *minimum* foundation program to providing an *adequate* foundation program that targets quality, often in response to school finance litigation^{1xi} Also, how basic support is determined is another important issue. In the past, the amount of the major equalizing grant was based more on politics or residual budgeting than on a rational basis anchored in research.^{1xii}

Financing Individual Student/District Needs and Characteristics

States also provide finance adjustments to the foundation amount/basic support to acknowledge cost pressures beyond the control of the school district that affect providing an

equitable educational opportunity for all students. These cost pressures include size (e.g., enrollment), geography (e.g., locale type or dispersion of enrollment), labor market characteristics (e.g., supply and demand for labor and cost of living), and special student needs and characteristics (e.g., poverty, English learner, or disability status of students). Students in poverty (as a proxy for students at-risk of low performance or dropping out of school), students with limited English proficiency, or students with disabilities may require additional resources (e.g., smaller classes, specialized staff, or instructional materials) to meet state standards, laws and goals. Small and remote school districts may also experience higher education per-pupil costs due to diseconomies of scale.

Provisions to increase funds for justifiably higher costs than the foundation amount can be *included* in the major finance grant through weights or can be *added* to that amount as a separate provision outside the major finance formula, through categorical aid. A question remains concerning whether the amounts expended for high-cost students are sufficient and the interplay of funding streams when students fall into several special categories. Another issue is what constitutes best practice in providing funding for individual student/district needs.

Special Education Funding

Table 2.2 lists funding mechanisms states use to pay for students receiving special education and related services. Appendix D provides a brief description of each state's special education funding provision. State aid for exceptional students is supplemented by federal aid under the Individuals with Disabilities Education and Improvement Act (IDEIA).

According to the 50-state survey, all but one state reports providing state aid for special education although apportionment systems vary. Generally, states pay for special education programs and services using one of **four methods**, described below:

- Per pupil funding—either pupil weighted or a flat grant,
- Cost reimbursement—state defines eligible costs,
- Instructional/teacher units—funds to support teachers, and
- Census—based on total student population rather than eligibility for special education.

States may also provide funding for services through intermediate units rather than directly to the LEA (local education agency) as is the case in Colorado, New York, Montana and Wisconsin. Other approaches include funding for extraordinary high-cost students, which is used in tandem with other apportionment methods (described further below).

<u>Student Weights</u>. Overall, 20 states reported providing assistance for special education students through weights that recognize the excess cost of programs and services beyond general education. For example, *if additional special education costs are 90% above general education funding, the special education weight would be 0.90; the total student weight (including general education) would be 1.90.*^{1xiii} States may set limits on the percentage of

students funded under weighted systems to limit costs and can include multiple or single weights for different categories of disability to reflect cost variations. When states use weights to fund special education, as general funding increases or decreases, so does special education funding. Weights treat special students equitably but provide no incentive for efficiency. Weights also vary widely across states. Some of the options used by states are highlighted below:

- Several states (e.g., **Maryland**, **Oregon**, and **Utah**) use a single weight to fund special education programs.
- Arizona has 10 weights and Oklahoma has 12 weights based on a student's disability (e.g. orthopedic impairment, visual impairment).
- **Texas** has 9 weights based on instructional arrangements (e.g. resource room, self-contained) including a weight (an additional 0.10) for "mainstreamed students."
- **Hawaii** uses four broad categories of need coupled with hours a week that services are rendered. Indiana has five categories of support.
- **Iowa** provides three weights based on need: 0.72, 1.21, and 2.74.
- **Delaware** and **Kentucky** have three broad weighted categories based on exceptionality. For example, Kentucky provides funding for children and youths with *mild*, *moderate and severe* disabilities, weighted 0.24, 1.17 and 2.35, respectively.

Allocation Mechanism	State
Per Pupil/Weighting (20)	AZ, FL, GA, HI, IA, KS, KY, LA, MD, MO,
	NY, OH, OK, OR, SC, TN, TX, UT, WA, WV
Cost Reimbursement (7)	AR, IN, ME, MI, MN, NE, VT, WY
Unit (6)	AL, DE, ID, MS, NV, VA
Census (9)	CA, ID, IL, MA, NJ, NC, ND, NM, PA
Other (16)*	AL, AR, CA, CO, CT, ID, IL, MD, MN,
	MT, NH, NY, ND, OR, SD, WA

Table 2.2 – State Allocation Policies for Special Education

*Multiple methods are used in some states

<u>Cost Reimbursement and Unit Based Funding of Special Education</u>. States also use cost reimbursement methods to support special education. These methods usually define eligible cost-categories and the percentage of these costs that will be reimbursed by the state. Seven states currently use this approach. Additionally, six states use instructional *unit* approaches that pay for teachers, generally based on need or the number of students served. **Nevada** uses this "unit" approach to pay for special education and related services.

Census-Based Funding of Special Education. A new category of interest is census-based funding. It provides funding based on an overall percentage of total students in a school district not on the basis of the number of students eligible for special education and related services. Thus, this model provides no fiscal incentives for classification yet provides funding for special education programs and related services. California uses this model and reports that the funding model is based on the assumption that over reasonably large geographic areas, the incidence of disabilities is relatively uniformly distributed. New Jersey's new funding system for special education also uses a census-based method of funding.

<u>Other Approaches to Funding Special Education</u>. Sixteen (16) states report "other" funding approaches that may be used in combination or singularly. **Alaska** provides a block grant to districts that funds special students, including vocational education, gifted and talented, and bicultural/bilingual students. Illinois and several other states use additional types of funding for special education such as personnel reimbursement, preschool and private school placement funding allocations.

Another common example is to couple census funding with "other" state assistance for extraordinary or, what are often referred to as catastrophic, costs a district may incur for the most severely involved students with disabilities. Several states report funding extraordinarily high-cost, exceptional students. For example, **Alabama** reports a "catastrophic" funding category for this purpose, Connecticut reports an Excess Cost Grant for extraordinary costs a school district may incur for special education students, defined as 4.5 times the prior year's average cost per pupil. Massachusetts has a "circuit breaker" that provides state funds special education costs above 4 times the foundation budget at 75% of costs.

Funding for Low Income/At-Risk Students and English Language Learners

Several states report providing supplemental funding for low-income/at-risk students and English learners, as shown in Tables 2.3 and 2.4. Appendix E provides a short description of state-by-state funding provisions for low-income students or students at-risk of dropping out of school. Appendix F provides a listing of weights states use for funding low income/at-risk students. A state-by-state description of funding mechanisms for English learners/limited English proficient students is shown in Appendix G. A listing of ELL funding and weights is provided in Appendix H. State funds for low income students are supplemented by federal aid under Title I of the Elementary and Secondary Education Act, also called the No Child Left Behind Act (P.L. 89-313 as amended in 2002).

Most states use weighted approaches to address the needs of low-income/at-risk and English language learners. Variations among these states include the eligibility requirements put in place and whether the funding adjustment occurs inside or outside the major finance system. In addition, formulae for low-income/at-risk students may be used to target funding to a school based on federal free and/or reduced lunch participation (which defines eligible incomes) but once funding is received at a school site, it is available to redistribute based on particular needs such as low test scores or remediation that are identified by the school district.

Currently 34 states supplement the general state finance system for low-income students, a proxy for low achievement and/or being at risk of dropping out of school. There are 14 states that do not provide additional funding for these students, including **Nevada**. A few states base funding directly on the number of students in need of remediation, which is a notable change from the past when funding was based on the number of students eligible for the federal free and/or reduced price lunch program (F&RL)—the factor most used today. For example:

- In Kentucky, the eligibility criterion is based on free lunch recipients only;
- In Michigan, it is free breakfast, lunch or milk pupils;
- In **Iowa**, eligibility is based partially on both the free and reduced lunch count and the enrollment of the school district used for the budget.
- In **Kansas**, participation is based on free meals, with additional funds based on density and non-proficient at-risk students.

Program/Policy	Yes- 36	No- 14
Low Income/	AL, CA, CO, CT, DE, GA,	AK, AZ, AR, FL,
At-Risk Funding	HI, IL, IN, IA, KS, KY,	ID, MT, NV, NM,ND, RI,
	LA, MA, MD, ME, MI, MN,	SD, UT,WV, WY
	MS, MO, NE, NH, NJ, NY,	
	NC, OH, OK, OR, PA, SC,	
	TN, TX, VT, VA, WA, WI	

Table 2.3 – State Funding Mechanisms for Low Income/At-Risk Students

Survey information revealed that some states provide additional funding based on performance, or provide assistance for students at-risk of dropping out of school. For example:

- **New York** provides state support for students who are at-risk of not meeting learning standards.
- **South Carolina** provides funding directly for students who fail to meet statewide standards in reading, writing and mathematics or who do not meet the first-grade-readiness test standards.
- In **Delaware**, an Academic Excellence unit is provided for each 250 pupils. Funds are also provided for extra time for students at risk of not meeting state standards in core subjects.

Weights vary but range between and an additional 0.05 in **Mississippi** and 0.97 in **Maryland**. The average weight is 0.29—or an additional 29% funding per pupil beyond the base. However, most states provide about an additional 0.20-0.25 in funding for low-income students and target eligibility on either federal free or reduced price lunch status or both.

- Missouri provides an additional 25%,
- Kentucky, 15%,
- Georgia, 31%,
- Minnesota, 100% for free lunch recipients and 50% for reduced lunch recipients,
- Kansas, 45.6%, and
- Georgia, 53.37%.

Some states provide funding on a sliding scale based on prevalence rates (concentrations) of students that are low income, because larger concentrations of low income students incur higher costs, on average. This is a new area of support that emerged in survey findings.

- In **Arkansas**, for a school district in which 90% or more students are eligible for free or reduced-price lunch, the state provides an additional \$1,488 per pupil. For 70% 90%, additional funding is \$992. For less than 70%, additional funding is \$496 per pupil.
- In **Kansas**, a weight of 45.6% is used with additional funds available for high or medium density. For example, for high density (students on free meals exceed 50% of total district enrollment) or a density of 212.1 students per square mile and a free lunch percentage of at least 35.1% and above—districts receive 0.10 per at-risk student.
- In **New Hampshire**, differentiated funding varies by school based on the rate of free and reduced-price lunch recipients from 12% (additional funding of \$863 per student) to above 48% (additional funding of \$3,450 per student).

Depending on the overall context of the funding allocation system and the supplemental manner in which the differentiated needs of students may be addressed, lack of formula funding may put school districts in a position of having to make false choice: either take funds from the general education program to pay for high cost students at-risk of failing academically and/or dropping out of school, or ignore the special needs of these students altogether.

Funding for English Learners

Funding for English language learners (ELL), bilingual education or students with limited English proficiency (LEP) is a growing area of interest across the states. These funding policies are shown in Table 2.4 by state and are described in Appendix G. Appendix H provides illustrative listing of state funding approaches for ELL students including weighted approaches.

Currently, over 85% of states currently provide additional support for ELL or LEP students. Only eight states, including **Nevada**, do not provide funding for ELL/LEP students.

Funding Policy	Yes- 42	No- 8
English Language Learner/	AL, AK, AZ, AR, CA, CT,	CO, DE, MS, MT,
Limited English Proficient	FL, HI, ID, IL, IN, IA, GA,	NV,PA, SC, SD
	KY, KS, LA, ME, MD, MA,	
	MI, MN, MO, NE, NH, NJ,	
	NM, NY, NC, ND, OK, OH,	
	OR, RI, TN, TX, UT, VA,	
	VT, WA, WI, WV, WY	

Table 2.4 – State Funding Mechanisms for English Language Learners

States support English learners through a variety of funding methods, including weighted approaches as well as with block grants, per pupil funding, unit funding, and lump-sum general state appropriations. Weights vary widely from 0.10 in **Texas** to 0.99 in **Maryland**. The average weight is 0.387 or anther 38.7% in funding. Selected approaches for the states follow:

- Wyoming provides a full-time teacher for every 100 ELL students.
- In Arizona, a weight of 0.115 is included in the basic state aid calculations.
- Florida reports funding for speakers of other languages weighted at 0.147.
- The new weighted-student formula in **Hawaii** supports ELL students at 0.2373 of general education aid.
- **Iowa** provides an additional 0.22 per pupil.
- **Missouri** supports LEP students at 0.60 of Basic Aid when the count of students exceeds the statewide threshold, currently at 1.1% of the district's ADA (average daily attendance).

Only three states provide no additional support for either compensatory education or English learners: **Nevada**, **Montana**, and **South Dakota**.

Funding for Remote and Small Schools

Table 2.5 lists states that provide funding for remote and small schools through their finance system. Appendix I provides a short description of each state's provision for distributing these funds to school districts. As shown, 32 states recognize size and/or sparsity of small schools or districts.^{1xiv} Small size is used to adjust funding in 25 states; 15 states provide assistance to isolated school districts with some states employing both adjustments. Eighteen (18) states do not include either factor in their funding system, while several states include both.

Program/Policy	Yes- 32	No- 18
Sparsity/Density or	AK, AZ, AR, CA, FL,	AL, CO, CT, DE,
Small Schools	HI, ID, IN, IA, KS,	GA, IL, KY, MD,
	LA, ME, MI, MN, MO,	MA, MS, MT, NE,
	NV, NM, NY, NC, ND,	NH, NJ, PA, RI,
	OH, OK, OR, SD, TX,	SC, TN
	UT, VT, VA, WA. WV,	
	WI, WY	

Table 2.5 – State Funding Mechanisms	for Sparsity/Density of Small Schools
--------------------------------------	---------------------------------------

The following represents some highlights of how different states incorporate size and sparsity into their finance system for K-12 schools:

- Florida has a sparsity index that recognizes the relatively higher operating cost of smaller districts due to sparse student populations.
- Kansas employs a linear transition formula ranging from 100 to 1,622 students. Districts with fewer than 100 students have a low-enrollment weight of \$3,993.42 per pupil. Each increase or decrease of one pupil changes the low-enrollment weight down or up (i.e., inversely to the enrollment change). High enrollments of 1,622 and over are weighted an additional 0.03504 times the Basic State Aid Per Pupil (BSAPP).
- In New Mexico, the following types of schools and districts qualify for additional aid:
 - Schools with less than 200 elementary and junior high school pupils;
 - Districts with less than 200 or 400 senior high school pupils;
 - Districts with between 4,000 and 10,000 ADM (average daily membership), but less than 4,000 ADM per high school; and,
 - Districts with less than 4,000 total ADM.
- In **Oklahoma**, school district size of 529 or less is weighted in the State Aid formula with a Small School District Weight.

• Wyoming uses multiple adjustments to provide needed teachers based on size. An elementary school with fewer than 49 pupils in average daily attendance receives one full time teacher for every 7 students and one assistant principal position. If it has more than 49 students, then it receives a minimum of 6 teachers.

Other Individual Student Needs and Characteristics

There are a variety of other weights/adjustments states use to tailor funding systems to meet unique student and district needs in K-12 education. For example, approximately 28 states, including **Nevada**, fund vocational education, or career and/or technical education. In **Louisiana**, students in vocational education have a supplemental cost weight of 0.06. **Hawaii** adds a supplemental cost weight for transient students of 0.05. In **New Jersey**, security aid is a component of the funding system. In **Alaska**, a cost differential is incorporated into the funding system. **Pennsylvania** and **Maryland** employ geographic cost of education adjustments.

In addition to weights for student characteristics and needs, the most prevalent type of funding weights used across the states is for different grade levels. These modify base funding amounts by grade level within a school. For example, **Hawaii** provides supplemental weights for grade level differences are: 0.15 for K-2, 0.0347 for elementary school, 0.1004 for middle school, and 0.0240 for high school.

Gifted and Talented Funding Policy

Another area of funding for special student characteristics emerging from the survey findings is for gifted and talented students (G&T). Information on funding for G&T students is shown by state in Table 2.6; Appendix J describes each state's policy for financing gifted and talented students. Currently 33 states provide additional funding for G&T students as part of their finance system; 17 states, including **Nevada**, do not provide separate G&T funding.

- In **Arkansas**, an incremental weight of 0.15 is provided per pupil based on 5% of the school district's ADM (average daily membership) the previous year.
- In Virginia, the state provides one instructional position per 1,000 eligible students.
- **Hawaii** has an incremental weight for gifted and talented students of 0.0265 for an estimated 3% of the school's total population.
- Louisiana reports an incremental weight of 0.60 for gifted students.

Funding Policy	Yes (33)	No (17)
Gifted and Talented	AK, AR, CA, CO, FL,	AL, AZ, CT, DE, IL, KS,
	GA, HI, ID, IA, IN, KY, LA,	MA, MI, NE, NV,
	ME, MD, MN, MS, MO, MT,	NH, NY, OR, RI,
	NJ, NM, NC, ND, OH, OK,	SD, VT, WV
	PA, SC, TN, TX, UT, VA	
	WA, WI, WY	

Table 2	2.6 -	State	Funding	Mechanisms	for Gi	fted an	d Talented
		Juic	1 unung	Wiecenanishis		itcu an	

Only two states, **South Dakota** and **Nevada**, report *no additional state funding* for any of the following student needs and characteristics: **compensatory/at risk students, English learners or gifted and talented students**.^{Ixv}

Summary

Nevada provides funding to public schools using a foundation program—the finance system used in whole or in part in 45 states. However, Nevada's funding system was created in 1967, and it has changed little over the past nearly 50 years. It generally lacks support for individual student needs and characteristics. Much has changed since the state initiated the Nevada Plan in 1967. Nevada was mainly a rural state then with greater homogeneity—but student diversity has grown enormously since that time. Yet, Nevada is one of only two states that do not fund low income/at-risk students, English learners or gifted and talented students. Moreover, small and remote schools do not receive additional state aid. As the committee that recommended the Nevada Plan stated at the time, "Future experience may dictate necessary changes not indicated by today's conditions." Perhaps that time has arrived in the Silver State.

Chapter 3 - Identifying Adjustments Used to Address Cost Factors

Defining Cost Factors

The main motivation behind this study is to investigate adjustments that might be made to the Nevada school finance system in order to improve the equity with which it allocates funding to districts based on the needs of the student population served, as well as regional characteristics that affect the costs of providing educational services. This is well-aligned to general consensus in the field of education finance. Specifically, the research questions embedded in our investigation are responsive to a large body of work in the education finance literature that focuses on identifying factors that differentiate the costs of providing education among various settings. In the *Handbook of Research in Education Finance and Policy*, Duncombe and Yinger (2008) sum up the main factors thought to affect educational costs (*cost factors*):

"Education costs can be affected by three categories of factors, each of which is outside of the district control: 1) geographic differences in resource prices, 2) district size, and 3) the special needs of some students."

We operationalize these cost factors with the following definitions and explanations of how these factors affect the cost of providing similar educational opportunity across students with differing circumstances:

• Student Needs – Pupil characteristics that necessitate additional and/or specialized services, including low-income (eligible for free or reduced price lunch), English language learner designation, and enrollment in special education programs.

Students from low-income families, whose first language is other than English, or who have been identified with a disability will require additional services to meet their needs to achieve state outcome standards. These additional services require the investment of additional personnel and non-labor resources, i.e., additional costs. Vertical equity (i.e., ensuring students with varying needs have the same educational opportunities) will require the state to ensure the provision of additional dollars for schools and districts who have larger shares of these special need populations of students.

 Scale of District Operations – Geographic and population characteristics of a school district, including enrollment (number of students served by a district) and student population density (district enrollment divided by the area of a district in square miles).

Scale refers to the factors that may result in costs associated with the diseconomies of small school districts. In fact, scale is really a short hand term for a combination of factors that include the size as measured by enrollment; density, as measured by the enrollment per square mile; and sparsity of population (as reflected in the dispersion of population within a geographic area. Remote rural districts which are located far away from more urbanized communities may require schools to operate at necessarily small sizes because of the cost of transporting children to and from

schools – i.e., to avoid children spending inordinate amounts of time on school buses. Such schools will be small and will require replication of certain minimum levels of administrative and support costs (the services of principals, pupil support, and custodial personnel) and the combination of educational services across multiple grade levels (e.g., self-contained classes with 3 or more grade levels per classroom). Both of these factors will tend to raise the cost per pupil of providing quality educational services.

The cost perspective on economies of scale is of primary interest in school finance policy. This is because the measurement of cost differences across districts of varied size has direct implications for the design of state school funding formulas. For example, if it is found to cost 25% more than average to provide comparable education services in a district with only 300 pupils, then the state may choose to allocate an additional 25% aid per pupil. Legislators should be cognizant, however, of the anti-consolidation incentive created by such policies.

Figure 3.1 provides a general depiction of how unified (k-12) school district per-pupil operating costs vary with district size, holding outcomes and other factors constant (from Baker, 2005).^{Ixvi} Y represents the per pupil costs of achieving a specific level of student outcomes in a district that is scale efficient (2,000 to 6,000 or more students). This cost is set to 1.0 (1 x basic cost). Costs rise for smaller districts along a curve, increasing gradually for districts with below 2,000 students down to 1,000 students, then increasing more sharply approaching 300 students and fewer. In studies of marginal costs associated with economies of scale, the marginal costs for the smallest districts range from about 20% to 100% above basic costs in scale efficient districts.







 Geographic Differences in Resource Prices – Differences in the costs to hire similarly qualified staff across different regional labor markets.

Adjustments for this cost factor focus on assessing the geographic variations in the cost of providing educational services across arising out of differences in the labor markets within which districts operate. It attempts to answer the question,

"How much more or less does it cost to recruit and employ comparable teachers, administrators and other school staff in different locations throughout a state?" Ideally, to properly control for the true variation in staffing costs across labor markets (districts) one must utilize estimate that reflects factors that are solely outside the control of local school district decision makers. That is, one cannot simply compare the average salaries of teachers and other educational staff across districts, as these reflect preferences of the demand rather than the supply side of the market (for instance, the preference of some districts to pay much higher wages regardless of what the going rate is for teachers in their immediate labor market).

General Methodology

The proscribed methodology developed in the original scope of work dictated a sequential approach in which the research team would first identify five states that were similar to Nevada in terms of various cost factors related to student needs (poverty, English learners, special education) and scale of district operations (district size in terms of enrollment, degree of remoteness, etc.). Next, it would be determined whether or not each of the five similar states included an adjustment mechanism in their school funding systems for the differential costs of providing education to students in remote rural areas. Any states that did not incorporate such an adjustment in their funding system would be discarded and replaced with an alternative state that did make use of such an adjustment. As a final step, the funding mechanisms of this group of similar states that also made use of rural remote funding adjustments would be evaluated for effective practices in terms of funding adjustments to account for the differential costs of serving students in remote rural areas, but also for student needs. The application of these cost adjustment practices would then be simulated in the context of the Nevada state funding system.

Figure 3.1 depicts the intersection between this state selection criteria and identification of effective practices in a Venn diagram where the intersection of all three circles denoted by the star in the diagram represents the target set of states with effective funding practices, necessarily including remote rural adjustments, that are similar in terms of student needs and regional characteristic to Nevada.





This chapter provides more in-depth descriptions of the research steps taken to identify similar states and the effective funding practices used to address each of the various cost factors.

Determining Similar States

Selecting comparison states to serve as Nevada's "peers" with respect to student needs and district characteristics required compilation and synthesis of a broad collection of extant, publicly available datasets containing demographic, administrative, organizational and fiscal information. These data were used, as proposed, to investigate and characterize the diversity of districts within states along types of dimensions: student needs, district remoteness and rurality, and revenue sources.

Selecting states similar to Nevada is a difficult task given the heterogeneity of states and Nevada's uniqueness. Since no common algorithms exist for selecting similar entities based on the types of data and criteria involved, the research team developed a relatively straightforward methodology. The approach identifies states that are similar to Nevada with respect to the variables of interest by focusing on average district-level measures of student needs, district remoteness and revenue sources within groups of districts categorized by four locale classifications. The locale area classifications are determined by the National Center for Educational Statistics for every school district in the nation, which denote the degree of remoteness based upon population and proximity to urban areas. These four main locale types within which districts have been analyzed are: 1) City, 2) Suburb, 3) Town, and 4) Rural. The table in Appendix K provides the formal definitions of each locale types. Table 3.1 summarizes the data sources for the key variables used in this analysis.

To facilitate comparisons between Nevada and other states, averages across districts for each of the variables listed below were calculated by locale group within each state. This meant that for each variable of interest we were actually making four distinct comparisons between Nevada and each state, one for each locale type. For example, the average poverty across districts in Nevada was calculated for the City, Suburb, Town and Rural districts separately and these were compared to similar locale-specific district averages in other states.

The process of making these comparisons was automated. For each variable of interest, each of the locale-specific averages across states were sorted and ranked. Any states which fell within seven positions in the rankings above or below Nevada were then identified as similar for that variable/locale combination. To summarize all of these lists, a score was given to each state for each variable of interest which indicated the number of locales in which the state ranked similar to (within seven rankings of) Nevada. These scores ranged from 0, meaning no locales in the comparison state showed averages similar to Nevada, to 4 which indicated every locale average was deemed similar. For example, Colorado received a score of 4 for the percent of ELL students. This meant that Colorado had comparable average percentages of ELL students

for City, Suburban, Town and Rural school districts compared to the same types of school districts in Nevada. North Dakota on the other hand received a score of 0 which meant that none of the locale specific averages for ELL students were similar between this state and Nevada.

Table 3.1 – Da	ita Sources Used to Identify Si	milar States
Dimension	Analysis Variables	Contributing Data Source
	Percent English Learners	
	Percent Special Education	National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)
Student	Percent Free/Reduced	Common Core School and District Data
Needs	Price Lunch (FRPL) Eligible	
	Percent Poverty	US Census Small Income Area Poverty (SAIPE) Data
		• National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)
	Student Density	Common Core School and District Data
		US Census Bureau - TIGER/Line [®] Shapefiles
Remoteness	Herfindahl Index ^{lxvii}	
and Rurality	Percent of Districts by	
	Locale	National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)
	Percent of Statewide	Common Core School and District Data
	Enrollment by Locale	
	District Enrollment Size	
	Percent of Revenue from	
	Local Sources	
Revenue	Percent of Revenue from	National Center for Education Statistics (NCES)
Sources	State Sources	Common Core District Finance Data
	Percent of Revenue from	
	Federal Sources	

Table 3.2 contains the results of this analysis. Each column in the table represents one of the dimensions of student needs and scale of operations that were analyzed. For example, the first column of the table indicates that Colorado, Delaware, Kansas, Montana, South Dakota and Wyoming were all deemed similar to Nevada in terms of the incidence of student poverty or low-income status. While these results are interesting, they do not offer clear patterns of states that are consistently similar to Nevada across all or even a majority of the student need and regional characteristic dimensions considered.^{Ixviii}

Table 3.2 – Stat	tes With Sim	ilar Within-L	ocale Chara	acteristics							
Stu	dent Needs			Scale o	f District O	perations		Re	svenue Soui	.ces	
Percent Poverty or Free/Reduced Price Lunch Eligible	Percent English Learners	Percent Special Education	Student Density	Herfindahl Index	Percent of Districts by Locale	Percent of Statewide Enrollment by Locale	District Enrollment Size	Percent of Revenue from Local Sources	Percent of Revenue from State Sources	Percent of Revenue from Federal Sources	
CO	AZ	СТ	AK	sc	FL	FL	FL	CA	AL	AL	
DE	CA	ΙA	Ę	IJ	MA	ВA	GA	ВA	K۷	Z	
KS	0	ΓA	Q	Ŵ	MD	MD	КY	KS	SC	КY	
MT	KS	ΟW	МТ		R	5	Γ	КY	۸۷	МT	
SD	OR		ND		RI	VA	MD	ΓA		SD	
γv	ТX		MN		10		ΣN	M		TN	
	UT		٨٧				TN	ОК		ТX	
							UT	OR		MA	
							٨٨	SC		~~	
								TN			
								Ŵ			
											1

Given these findings the general methodology put forth above, while perfectly logical, must be modified somewhat to accommodate the reality that Nevada is truly unique in terms of the combinations of student needs, scale of district operations, and composition of revenue sources. To this end, we have broadened our approach to identify the most effective practices with respect to the differential funding of student needs (low-income, English learners and special education) and remote/rural populations to encompass <u>all</u> states. Once those states using the relatively most effective practices in each of these areas are identified (and the practices simulated in the context of Nevada's state funding system), we point out whether or not they also happen to be similar to Nevada along this dimension.

Identifying Cost Adjustments

The following section describes the analyses used to identify the funding practices thought to be most effective across states, which are later used in the simulation model presented in Chapter 4. Different methods were drawn upon to identify funding practices that could be considered effective with respect to each of the cost factors. As different methods were employed to identify effective practices for the various cost factors, the descriptions are organized around each of these approaches as follows:

Table 3.3 – Approaches Used to Identify Cost Factor Specific Funding Practices			
Cost Factor	Approach Used		
Student Poverty	Empirical Analysis of Implicit Funding		
Scale and Student Density	Weights Across States		
Special Education	Mainstream Education Finance Literature		
Geographic Differences in Labor Prices			
English Learners	 Evaluation of Explicit Funding Weights Used in Other States 		

Identifying Student Poverty Cost Adjustments

In order to identify which states employ more effective funding practices with regard to accounting for the differential costs of students that are impoverished or being served in remote rural areas we relied on a statistical analysis that estimates the relationships between funding per-pupil and the student poverty and regional characteristic cost factors, respectively. It is important to note that this approach provides estimates of the *implicit funding weights* or those relationships between per-pupil funding and cost factors that occur as an end result <u>after</u> a state-specific combination of multiple funding policies have interacted with one another. This is in stark contrast to the evaluation of those *explicit funding weights* described in Chapter 2 that represent the specific funding adjustments for various cost factors established by states as individual components of their finance systems, the intended effects of which may not be ultimately realized after they have been fully interacted with the other funding policies. With this distinction in mind, the authors feel that the analysis of implicit funding weights is a

superior method to identify effective funding practices. In effect, this empirical approach provides a measure of the net impact of the various features of a school funding formula.

The model we use to estimate implicit poverty funding weights closely follows that used in the recent *School Funding Fairness* report by Baker, Sciarra and Farrie.^{1xix} Using a 3-year panel of data on all school districts across the United States, we estimated state-specific models of the relationship between state and local revenues per pupil and various factors that influence the costs of providing equal educational opportunity. Next, we use that model to project whether each state's school finance system tends, on average, to provide more resources to school districts with higher concentrations of children in poverty than to districts with fewer children in poverty. We identify states with *progressive* (more resources to higher poverty districts) versus *regressive* (more resources in lower poverty districts) state school finance systems.

Specifically, our model corrects for (controls for) differences in school district size and population density to capture costs associated with sparsity and economies of scale, and we control for competitive wage variation using the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Comparable Wage Index (CWI). While the main models make use of the district percent of students eligible for free and reduced price lunch (FRPL) reported in the NCES Common Core Data as the measure of student poverty for each local public school district, we have also run models that employ the district percent of students in poverty per the Small Area Income Area Estimates (SAIPE) generated by the U.S. Census Bureau Poverty Rate.

State/Local Revenue per Pupil = f(Poverty, District Size, Student Density, Wages)

The most recent school funding fairness report, just released in June (2012), used data from 2006-07, 2007-08 and 2008-09. Here, we provide an update of the fairness profiles including data from 2007-08 through 2009-10 (recently released data).

The models were run separately for each state to obtain individual relationships between state/local per-pupil funding and district percent FRPL or state-specific implicit poverty funding weights. The similar set of state-specific models was then run using the SAIPE poverty measure instead of FRPL. After omitting the state-specific estimates that did not prove to be statistically significant using both models, those corresponding to the FRPL models were rank ordered. ^{Ixx} The largest 10 of these statistically significant estimates, representing the most progressive relationship between per-pupil funding and poverty, were selected as the most effective practices across the states. The states associated with these most progressive funding/poverty relationships were: Minnesota, South Dakota, New Jersey, Arkansas, Ohio, Massachusetts, Indiana, Kentucky, Utah, and Connecticut. Note that South Dakota was also identified as one of the states whose incidence of students in poverty across its Urban, Suburban, Small Town and Rural districts was similar to that of Nevada.





Figure 3.3 illustrates the estimated relationships for these states as implicit funding weight profiles. The horizontal axis denotes the district-level percent of FRPL students, while the vertical axis represents the implicit poverty funding adjustment. The funding adjustment index values reveal the difference in state/local per-pupil funding that is expected from a district with a specific percent of its students in poverty relative to a district serving no students in poverty. For example, the vertical dotted line at 86% FRPL intersects the profile for Minnesota at 1.30, which says that in that state a district with 86% of its students in poverty is expected to receive approximately 30% percent more state/local funding per-pupil compared to an otherwise similar district with 0% poverty. Figure 3.4 displays the average profiles for the top-3, middle-4, and bottom-3 of the 10 most progressive profiles.

To obtain the implicit poverty funding weight one simply has to evaluate the profiles at 100% poverty. For instance, evaluating the Minnesota profile at 100% poverty yields an index value of 1.34, which is how much more that state effectively funds an impoverished student relative to one that is not in poverty. Table 3.4 includes the implicit poverty funding weights associated with each of the estimated profiles presented in the two graphics. The estimated weights presented in the table are used as effective practice to address student poverty in the simulation presented in Chapter 4.

Table 3.4 – States With the Most Progressive Implicit Poverty Weights		
State	State-Specific	Averages
Minnesota	1.34	
South Dakota	1.28	1.30
New Jersey	1.27	
Arkansas	1.25	
Ohio	1.25	1 21
Massachusetts	1.18	1.21
Indiana	1.17	
Kentucky	1.17	
Utah	1.16	1.15
Connecticut	1.13	

Identifying Scale of Operations Cost Adjustments

The identification of particularly effective state practices that adjust funding to take into account scale of district operations (district size in terms of enrollment and degree of remoteness and rurality) uses results from the same models as those presented above for the analysis of implicit poverty funding weights. Again, we have taken only the statistically significant estimates from the state-specific models and created scale/density profiles that can be used to create implicit weighting indices showing how much more each state funds smaller more remote districts relative to larger ones that are less remote.^{Ixxi} While the estimates used to generate the scale/density profiles are slightly more complicated than for poverty, the profiles themselves are easily interpreted in a similar manner.^{Ixxii}

Figures 3.5 and 3.6 show the results for the 10 states that exhibit the most aggressive scale/density profiles (New York, New Mexico, Colorado, Arizona, Texas, Nebraska, Massachusetts, Oregon, Kansas, and California) and averages of the top-3, middle-4 and bottom-3 of these, respectively. It should be noted that out of these 10, New Mexico was the only state deemed similar to Nevada in terms of key scale characteristics (district enrollment and student density). That is, the profiles are those with the steepest at lower categories of enrollment. For example, in Figure 3.5 the dashed vertical line intersecting the implicit scale/density profile for New York shows that the average district with under 100 students has an implicit scale/index value of about 3.25, which suggests that such a district in that state receives approximately 225% more state/local funding per pupil than an otherwise similar district with 2,000 students or more (the reference enrollment category where the implicit scale/index equals 1.00). Using these results the research team calculated formulas to generate smooth profiles that showed how relative funding varied by a continuous student count enrollment measure, which are ultimately used in the simulation model presented in Chapter 4.




Identifying Special Education Cost Adjustments

To identify special education funding adjustment weights that can be considered best practice we draw on data from a national study previously conducted by AIR for the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP).^{Ixxiii} Since the inception of the Education for All Handicapped Children Act (EHA and now commonly referred to as IDEA or IDEIA under its current reauthorization) in 1975 and even a few years before its inception, OSEP has conducted studies of special education spending about once every ten years. The last of these studies conducted was carried out by AIR and produced a series of studies of the patterns of spending on special education across the United States and estimated the variations in spending for serving various student disability populations. A key product that came out of this work was the calculation of reliable per-pupil spending figures on students with various disabilities relative to per-pupil spending for the average regular education student (i.e., special education weights). These spending or cost ratios for special education students have ranged from about 1.9 in the earliest study (Rossmiller, 1970) to 2.2 (Kakalik et al, 1977) to 2.3 (Moore et al), and 1.9 (Chambers et al, 2005).

Each of the OSEP studies also examined the relative per-pupil spending on special education students for each one of the 12 disability categories. The latest of these studies by Chambers et al (2005) which is referred to as the Special Education Expenditure Project (SEEP) provided estimates developed estimates of these spending ratios by student disability based on analysis of a nationwide random sample of students with disabilities. Of all of the studies done, this was the largest and most comprehensive data collection and gathered information about individual students from the most knowledgeable provider for that student. The data included detailed delineations of services, the amount of time the student spent in each of those services, and included the detailed resources devoted to providing both the regular and special education services received for those students. We believe that this analysis represent a reasonable basis and an objective source of data upon which to base a student weight and provides comprehensive evidence of best practices currently used to serve these students across the United States. A student weight is intended to reflect the relative cost of educating a student with a disability relative to a regular education student. The spending on special education students is based on services provided to those students as specified in their Individualized Education Program (IEP), which is required under the federal IDEA legislation to define the specific special education services requirements for each child that is eligible. The IEP is a document that is intended to use the input from educational professionals and parents, and it specifies the goals for each individual student along with the services they believe are necessary for the student to achieve those goals.

For the special education cost simulations in Nevada, we used the 12 estimated SEEP weights corresponding to the disability categories recognized in the counts of special education students in the State. These weights are presented in Table 3.5, which shows the relative

weights of students with disabilities using two alternative base weights: one shows the spending or cost ratio compared to a regular education student, while the other shows the spending or cost ratio of a student with a disability compared to a special education student who is classified as having a specific learning disability (SLD).

Table 3.5 – Specific Disability Category Weights									
Student Category	Special Education Weight Using General Education Student as Comparison Group	Special Education Weight Using Student With Specific Learning Disability as Comparison Group							
General Education Student	Comparison group 1.0	n/a							
Specific Learning Disability (SLD)	1.6	Comparison group 1.0							
Speech/Language Impairment (SLI)	1.7	1.1							
Emotional Disturbance (ED)	2.2	1.4							
Mental Retardation (MR)	2.3	1.4							
Orthopedic Impairment (OI)	2.3	1.4							
Other Health Impairment (OHI)	2.0	1.3							
Autism (AUT)	2.9	1.8							
Hearing Impairment/Deafness (HI/D)	2.4	1.5							
Multiple Disabilities (MD)	3.1	1.9							
Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)	2.5	1.6							
Visual Impairment/Blindness (VI/B)	2.9	1.8							
Preschool (PRE) 2	2.0	1.3							
Average Special Education Student	1.9	1.2							
Source: Appendix B-1 of Special Education Expenditures for Students with Disabilitien (2003).	on Expenditure Project (SEEP es, 1999-2000: Spending Var) Report 5, Total iation by Disability							

Chapter 4 details how the SEEP weights are used to simulate how special education funding could be allocated to Nevada school districts.

Identifying English Learner Cost Adjustments

A similar statistical model as the one used to identify effective funding practices for poverty and scale of operations was run in an attempt to uncover those practices that were most effective with respect to addressing the funding need associated with English language learners (ELLs). However, due to the strong correlation between the incidence of students in poverty and ELLs (i.e., there is large "overlap" in these populations such that English learners also tend to be from low income families), it was simply not possible to disentangle the relationship between per pupil spending and the percent of low income and ELL students. In turn, to identify the

most effective ELL funding practices we reviewed the explicit funding weights presented in Chapter 2.

Explicit ELL Funding Weights Used by States

Using the inventory of state finance systems provided in Chapter 2, Figure 3.7 illustrates the explicit ELL funding weights across all states, as well as the average weight overall and for the largest, middle and bottom 5, respectively. As can be seen from the figure, the weights vary widely ranging from 1.10 to 1.99 with an overall average of 1.39. The average of the top-, middle-, and bottom-5 are 1.53, 1.38 and 1.16. These figures are used in the simulation model presented in Chapter 4 that allows the user to see how the adoption of these various weights would play out in the context of the Nevada funding system.

A Note on Suggested Adjustments from Cost Studies

It should be mentioned that there is a large and growing body of studies coming out of the mainstream education finance literature that focuses on providing estimates of 1) the total cost of providing a sufficient education across districts within a state and 2) how costs vary across districts according to the three major cost factors (student needs, scale of operations, and geographic differences in labor prices).^{bxiv} These "costing-out" studies often provide alternatives to the existing implicit and explicit funding weights covered in this investigation that might be considered indicative of "best practice", as a key objective of this work is to identify the differential costs of providing an equitable opportunity for all students to meet a set of concrete educational goals regardless of their specific needs or characteristics of their district of residence. In contrast, it is unclear whether any of the state-specific explicit funding weights were designed to be aligned with producing the state's educational goals given the unique set of cost factors (student needs, scale of operations, and geographic variations in staffing prices). While a systematic review of the suggested weights coming out of the costing-out literature was beyond the scope of the present study, the authors feel that it is most certainly a promising area of future research for the state.



Identifying Differential Wage Cost Adjustments

In the field of education finance there is general recognition that districts located in different geographic regions of a state face differential costs of recruiting and employing comparable school personnel. Variations in the purchasing power of the educational dollar across local districts largely result from factors that are beyond local control. In general these factors include regional and/or district characteristics that affect the willingness of teachers and other professional personnel to supply their services to school districts in different regions of the state. Therefore, if a state is to provide equal access to similar educational resources in different parts of the state, the school finance formula should account for these differential costs of recruiting and employing school personnel.

To address this issue in the context of the current study, we have made use of the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Comparable Wage Index (CWI), which was designed to answer the following question:

How much more or less does it cost in different local school districts to recruit and employ comparable teachers and other school personnel?

The Comparable Wage Index (or CWI) was originally developed by Lori Taylor (2006) for the National Center for Education Statistics (NCES).^{Ixxv} The CWI has been designed as an index of the labor market costs in various geographic locations controlling for differences in personal and industry characteristics. Taylor (2006) describes the CWI as follows:

The basic premise of a comparable wage index is that all types of workers—including teachers—demand higher wages in areas with a higher cost of living (e.g., San Diego) or a lack of amenities (e.g., Detroit, which has a particularly high crime rate) (Federal Bureau of Investigation 2003). Therefore, one should be able to measure most of the uncontrollable variation in educator pay by observing variations in the earnings of comparable workers who are not educators.^{bxxvi} The CWI reflects systematic, regional variations in the salaries of college graduates who are not educators. Provided that these non-educators are similar to educators in terms of age, educational background, and tastes for local amenities, the CWI can be used to measure the uncontrollable component of variations in the wages paid to educators. Intuitively, if accountants in the Atlanta metro area are paid 5 percent more than the national average accounting wage, Atlanta nurses are paid 5 percent more than the national average nursing wage, and so on, then the CWI predicts that Atlanta teachers should also be paid 5 percent more than the national average nursing wage, and so on the national average teacher wage.^{bxxvi}

The index is designed to make use of those factors that affect labor supply to estimate differential patterns of compensation of school personnel across local school districts. That is, it

predicts relative differences across labor markets in staff compensation rates using factors that are solely associated with labor market conditions outside of the control of the districts themselves and therefore represents the true differential costs of hiring and retaining staff across different regions. Appendix L provides a more detailed description of how the CWI is calculated.

Longitudinal analysis of the CWI shows that the geographic variation in the relative cost of labor is quite steady over time. Indeed an early study by Chambers (1998) of geographic costs reports correlations well above 0.900 over time, and the CWI shows even higher correlations over time ranging from 0.952 to 0.998. For the purpose of the present study, Dr. Taylor has recently provided us with an update through 2011 as she continually updates the index for her own and other research purposes. Chapter 4 shows how the CWI is used as an alternative adjustment for differential staffing costs to the implicit adjustments made in the current Nevada funding system.

Chapter 4 – Simulation of Alternative Practices in Nevada

As explained in the previous chapter, mainstream education finance literature contends that there are three main types of factors that affect the cost of providing educational services and therefore should be considered in constructing an equitable state school funding formula:

- Student Needs (Poverty, English language learners, Special Education)
- Scale of District Operations
- Geographic Differences in Resource Prices

This chapter will address each one of these components in the context of the Nevada state funding system. We first provide a brief description and assessment of how each cost factor is (or is not) accounted for within the current Nevada Plan. Next, we show how the alternative effective adjustments identified in the previous chapter can be incorporated into the current system. Finally, we will introduce a simulation model developed by the research team that calculates projected funding allocations across Nevada districts resulting from the application of the various funding adjustments.

Our Understanding of the Distributive School Account Model (DSA)

With the three types of cost factors in mind, we next describe how these elements are currently treated by the current school funding formula in the state through the Distributive School Account (DSA) Equity Allocation Model. After careful examination of the DSA we have concluded that the model includes components that, by explicit design or otherwise, make funding adjustments for scale of operations (district size and degree of remoteness) and geographic differences in resource prices, but it contains no adjustments for pupil needs such as poverty or English language learners. However, special education is handled outside of the DSA separately and will be discussed later on in this chapter.

How the DSA treats Scale and Price

One of the key elements of the DSA Equity Allocation Model is a mechanism designed to calculate the Basic Support Ratio (BSR). The portion of the DSA that calculates the BSR determines the staffing and operating expenditures for each district with adjustments related to scale of operations (district size, student density, and sparsity) and differential resource prices. From Chapter 1, the BSR is described as follows:

It (the BSR) is expressed as a ratio that represents the relative cost of a district doing business in Nevada compared with the statewide average cost. It takes into account certain economies of scale for districts to provide like services. Staffing costs are determined by aggregating school enrollments within attendance areas with allowable teacher staffing units assigned by projecting the aggregated enrollments through a Staffing Allotment Table maintained by the Nevada Department of Education (see Appendix B). Once units are assigned to each attendance area they are aggregated within their respective districts. Operating costs are based on prior year expenditures incrementally increased for inflation and additional monies when the general fund allows. The Basic Support Ratios for Nevada districts are indexed to the mean which is expressed as a 1.0. Ratios ranged from 0.9621 (Clark) to 3.1398 (Esmeralda) for 2010-11.

In essence the BSR attempts to, through a fairly involved series of calculations, account for variations in the cost of providing educational services in different districts throughout the state. In particular, it is designed to account for cost differences associated with the diseconomies of small scale operations associated with differences in enrollment, density, and sparsity of populations as well as differences in the costs of labor and non-labor inputs faced by the districts across the state of Nevada.

Applauding the Intentions of the BSR

The BSR attempts to address variation in cost factors related to differential scale and staffing prices across the 17 Nevada districts. The DSA does this by performing various calculations related to average staff and expenditure levels based within groups of districts that operate on similar scale and possibly with similar labor market conditions. The teacher allotment table accounts for diseconomies of scale in smaller schools, allowing for increasing student-to-teacher ratios as district size increase. The varying district salary and operating costs are grouped together by type of locale, minimizing any one district's ability to gain revenues by inflating the costs used in the BSR calculations.

The BSR calculations are also intended to capture some of the factors underlying differences in the labor markets and markets for other goods and services confronted by different types of districts. That is, differences in labor and non-labor spending result from differences in the wages or prices a district must pay to attract comparable personnel or purchase similar supplies and materials. Thus, to some degree, these differences in spending account for differences in the cost of comparable goods and services in different locations.

It is important to note that the DSA assumes that the historical staffing and expenditures represent a reasonable estimate of the differences in the true costs of providing educational services, which may not be the case. As long as these historical staffing and spending patterns are supported by local goals setting for schools and the ability of local communities to set their own taxes, it is not unreasonable to suggest that differential spending reflect, to some degree, the factors that impact their costs of doing business. However, these patterns of resource allocation also, in part, reflect choices that may well go beyond the absolute minimum costs of doing business.

Possible Caveats in the BSR Cost Adjustments

While the BSR reflects educational cost differences in the scale of district operations, the differences in labor and non-labor expenditures reflected in the BSR reflect a combination of factors – some outside the control of the district and some that are within the control of the district. That is, differences in spending on labor and non-labor reflect, in part, choices that the individual districts have made to recruit and employ a more talented labor force or to obtain better quality instructional materials. For example districts with greater fiscal capacity (property wealth) have a greater ability to pay and may choose to pay higher compensation to attract a more talented staff of teachers and administrators. But it is important to point out that the grouping districts in the calculation of average labor and non-labor spending by type/size of locality might mitigate some of these possible wealth-effects.

Isolating the Impact of Current Cost Factor Adjustments in the DSA

To create a simulation model that would allow the incorporation of alternative effective funding adjustments for individual cost factors it was necessary to first construct measures of the adjustments currently included in the DSA that reflect the current system used in Nevada (i.e., to serve as a "baseline"). To this end, we used the DSA model to isolate the variations in spending reflected in the BSR into its two components: one component isolates the impact of scale (i.e., district size, student density, and sparsity) and another which measures effect of wage level differentials across districts. We refer to these as the *Scale-Only BSR* and *Average*

DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment – The DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment attempts to isolate the impact of scale on educational spending. That is, it attempts to remove the variations in spending associated with variations in the patterns of compensation across districts. We used the DSA modules to recalculate the BSR by making the following adjustments:^{Ixxviii}

- Replaced all of the district-specific average calculations of the compensation of licensed teacher staff and administrative staff with state-wide averages.
- Used an index of average compensation of teachers to adjust the per-pupil spending figures on classified personnel. In effect, this assumes that the variations in the average compensation of classified personnel follow those of teachers.^{lxxix}

In effect, we have taken out of the BSR calculations the differences arising out of compensation levels and left only those variations in labor and non-labor spending that might be associated with scale.

DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment – Once we isolated the impact of scale, we then divided the BSR for each district by the *DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment* to obtain a measure of the difference in the BSR associated with differences in compensation of teacher, administrator and classified staff across districts that we call the *DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment*.

Basically, we have decomposed the BSR into its two constituent components in such a way that multiplying them together returns the original BSR:

Original BSR = DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment x

DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment

Table 4.1 shows the values of the newly created DSA BSR Scale-Only and Wage Differential Adjustments as well as the product of the two, which by definition equals the Original BSR.

Table 4.1 – DSA Scal Differential BSR Adju	e-Only Basic Support ustment and Original	Ratio (BSR) Adjustmei BSR	nt, DSA Wage
District	A - DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment	B - DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment	C - Original BSR (A x B)
Clark	0.97	0.99	0.96
Washoe	1.01	0.99	1.00
Elko	1.13	1.06	1.20
Lyon	1.14	1.04	1.18
Carson City	1.10	1.04	1.14
Douglas	1.12	1.04	1.16
Nye	1.16	1.06	1.23
Churchill	1.12	1.04	1.16
Humboldt	1.13	1.06	1.20
White Pine	1.22	1.06	1.29
Lander	1.24	1.06	1.31
Lincoln	1.68	1.08	1.81
Pershing	1.55	1.08	1.67
Mineral	1.60	1.08	1.73
Storey	1.64	1.08	1.77
Eureka	2.04	1.23	2.50
Esmeralda	2.68	1.24	3.33

Figure 4.1 presents the data included in the table above in a bar chart that allows easier comparisons across districts, which have been strategically sorted in descending order according to district scale (enrollment). The illustration makes clear how the DSA Scale-Only BSR increases as district size becomes smaller. For instance, the Scale-Only BSR Adjustment for Esmeralda suggests that controlling for wage differentials under the current funding system this district of 48 students receives 2.68 times the amount of basic support per-pupil funding received by the average-sized district in the state. At the other end of the spectrum, Clark being the largest school district with over 300,000 students receives about 3 percent less per-pupil than the average sized school in the district (arguably because it does not have to endure the



diseconomies of scale experienced by the smaller districts). The relevant policy here is whether the Scale-Only adjustments across the districts appropriately reflect the true cost differentials associated with operating smaller versus larger districts across the state.

The DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment can be interpreted in a similar fashion. Its value ranges from 0.99 in Clark to 1.24 in Esmeralda. The interpretation here is that independent of district size, Esmeralda is funded 24 percent higher on a per-pupil basis compared to the district attended by the average student. Clark on the other hand receives about 1 percent less per-pupil compared to the average attended district. Again, the relevant policy question here is whether the effective wage differential funding adjustment included in the BSR represents the true cost differences in hiring and retaining staff across the state's districts.

Simulating Cost Factor Adjustments Using the Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS)

With the decomposition of the BSR into the DSA Scale-Only and Wage Differential BSR Adjustments components, we now have a starting point (baseline) model of how the current Nevada funding system separately addresses educational cost differences associated with district scale of operations and geographic price differences. This will allow us to replace these components with alternative adjustments and compare the district funding allocations under each scenario. The following section does just that, beginning with evaluating alternatives to the DSA Wage Differential BSR and Scale-Only BSR Adjustments, followed by incorporating the additional alternative funding adjustments for poverty and ELL identified in Chapter 3. To facilitate this analysis we introduce a simulation model that has been developed for this purpose. While the special education cost factor is accounted for in the state funding system, this mechanism resides outside of the DSA Equity Allocation Model and therefore is not covered in the simulation model. In turn, we have provided a separate analysis of incorporating the alternative special education funding practice identified in Chapter 3.

Incorporating the Comparable Wage Index (CWI) Into the DSA

We can see from the discussion above that the current DSA treats differences in resource prices through variations in the average compensation of teachers, administrators, and classified personnel across districts (at least implicitly in the calculations). As suggested above the current approach to addressing price differences has some disadvantages in that it does not isolate the true costs of labor but rather incorporates some differences that are within the control of the school district by using average compensation levels to calculate the BSR. These average compensation levels used in the DSA calculations involve choices that the districts make which to some extent are impacted by the preferences and fiscal capacity (i.e., wealth) of the district.

In Chapter 3 we introduced an alternative measure of resource price differentials that better represented the true price-level of hiring and retaining staff across various labor markets, the

Comparable Wage Index (CWI). To compare a CWI-based funding adjustment against the DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment implied in the current BSR, we need to embed the CWI into the DSA modules. We can then use the DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment for each district in conjunction with a BSR calculated using the CWI instead of its native DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment to obtain an implicit overall index of the differences educational costs. The approach we take is careful to appropriately weight the CWI so that it is only applied to those portions of spending pertaining to school personnel (i.e., teachers, administrators, and classified staff) and not non-personnel (materials and supplies, books, etc.). The following describes how this is done.

Creating the Scale-Only/CWI BSR and CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment

The Scale-Only/CWI BSR uses the DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment and adjusts for salary differentials in different labor markets by applying the CWI using the following steps:

- Re-Center the CWI. We re-centered the CWI around the district serving the average student in the state – that is CWI = 1.00 corresponds to the pupil-weighted average of the raw CWI for Nevada. Centering this index this way ensures that the index as applied to Nevada school districts will be fiscally neutral.
- 2. Adjust Compensation Using the CWI. The classified staff expenditures, average teaching and average administrative staff salaries calculated and used in the DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment are each multiplied by the district's respective CWI.
- 3. Use CWI-Adjusted Expenditure and Staff Data. The CWI adjusted figures for classified staff expenditures, licensed teacher and administrative salaries are then used to replace the original numbers in the Table 2 of the Staff Accounting sheet of DSA Module 1 and linked into the other modules to calculate the Scale-Only/CWI BSR.
- 4. *Calculate CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment*. The CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment is simply just the ratio of the Scale-Only/CWI BSR to the DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment and can be interpreted as an implicit CWI index calculated for Nevada districts within the context of the DSA Equity Allocation Model.

While the DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment is the implicit price level adjustment component of the original BSR, the CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment is simply an analog adjustment that more directly takes into account geographic price differences derived from applying the raw CWI to the DSA modules. It is quite informative to compare these two approaches to addressing differential wage levels across districts. Table 4.2 shows the figures behind the calculation of the CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment (column C), which simply equals the Scale-Only/CWI BSR Adjustment (column B) divided by the DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment (column A). Figure 4.2 illustrates both adjustments across all districts in the state.

Washoe and Clark are the only two districts for which the CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment is higher than 1.00 (1.01), indicating that the wage level in these districts is higher than in the district attended by the average student. This result is quite consistent with previous literature which shows that more urbanized areas tend to exhibit the highest labor costs within a state. In smaller and more rural districts the CWI Wage Differential drops below 1.00 denoting lower than average wage levels. For instance, the CWI differential for Lyon of 0.94 suggests that staffing costs are approximately 6 percent lower than the district attended by the average student. Comparing the two adjustments shows that the original DSA Wage Differential Adjustment is higher than the CWI Wage Differential Adjustment for all districts other than Clark and Washoe, with the difference between the two adjustments becoming quite large in the smallest districts (note that the districts in the table are ordered in terms of enrollment from large to small). This finding shows that the way in which the current DSA Wage Differential Adjustment allocates dollars is not representative of the true variation in staffing costs across the state. In fact, the current adjustment directs proportionately more resources to those districts that in actuality have lower than average labor costs.

Wage Differential BSR Adjustment										
District	A - DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment	B - Scale-Only/CWI BSR	C - CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment (B / A)							
Clark	0.97	0.98	1.01							
Washoe	1.01	1.02	1.01							
Elko	1.13	1.02	0.90							
Lyon	1.14	1.07	0.94							
Carson City	1.10	1.04	0.94							
Douglas	1.12	1.05	0.94							
Nye	1.16	1.05	0.90							
Churchill	1.12	1.05	0.94							
Humboldt	1.13	1.02	0.90							
White Pine	1.22	1.10	0.90							
Lander	1.24	1.12	0.90							
Lincoln	1.68	1.54	0.92							
Pershing	1.55	1.42	0.92							
Mineral	1.60	1.47	0.92							
Storey	1.64	1.50	0.92							
Eureka	2.04	1.81	0.89							
Esmeralda	2.68	2.38	0.89							

Table 4.2 – DSA Wag	ge Differential Basic S	upport Rati	o (BSR) Ad	justment and CWI
wage Differential D.	n Aujustinent			
				C - CWI Wage



Using the Nevada Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS)

To simulate how dollar allocations to districts differ when the CWI Wage Differential Adjustment is put in place of the DSA Wage Differential Adjustment, we will make use of the simulation model developed for this study, the Nevada Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS). The FAS allows the user to implement up to four different alternative funding adjustments that control for the following cost factors: differential resource prices (Price Level), student poverty (Free/Reduced Price Lunch), English language learners (English Learners), and scale of operations (Scale/Density).

Figure 4.3 provides a snapshot of the FAS interface page. The first panel contains the userselected simulation settings. The first row is simply a set of toggles that turn each of the four possible cost factor adjustments "On" or "Off". When a given cost factor adjustment is turned to the "Off" position indicating that it should not be applied neutral values equal to 1.00 appear in the corresponding column under the Basic Support Ratio (BSR) Adjustments. When set to "On" the cost factor will be applied and numbers different from the neutral 1.00 will appear under the corresponding Basic Support Ratio (BSR) Adjustment column. The top-left cell in the panel provides a summary of the funding adjustment settings that have been selected including indicators of whether an adjustment has been activated (toggled "On"), which specific adjustments have been selected, and the student funding weight (applicable only for the Free/Reduced Lunch and English Language Learner adjustments).

The second row in the simulation setting panel contains pull-down menus that allow the user to select specific adjustments for each cost factor. For the Price Level and Scale Density menus are each pre-populated with DSA, which will apply the DSA Wage Differential BSR Adjustment and DSA Scale-Only BSR Adjustment, respectively. Using these two adjustments as depicted in the snapshot will provide dollar allocations that replicate the current DSA Equity Allocation Model. Each of the pull-down menus in the second row is also populated with various alternative funding adjustments identified in Chapter 3. For Price Level, this includes the CWI Wage Differential BSR Adjustment (CWI) discussed above. The other funding adjustment categories include state-specific alternatives that were identified.

The following are descriptions of the columns in the lower panel of the snapshot:

- Column A The Original BSR from the most recent DSA Equity Allocation Model.
- Column B The Price Level funding adjustment that allows the user to select either the DSA or CWI Wage Differential Adjustments (depending on which is chosen from the pulldown menu).
- Columns C and D The Free/Reduced Price Lunch and English Learner funding adjustments that allow the user to select values corresponding to each of the statespecific (or average of state-specific) funding practices identified in Chapter 3 (depending on which is chosen from the pull-down menu).*

- Column E The Scale/Density funding adjustment that allow the user to select values corresponding to either the DSA Scale-Only Adjustment or the state-specific/average of state-specific funding practices identified in Chapter 3 (depending on which is chosen from the pull-down menu).*
- Column F The Raw Adjusted BSR is the combination of all of the separate adjustments that were chosen and is calculated by simply multiplying each of the four individual adjustments in columns B, C, D and E together.
- Column G The Pupil-Weighted Adjusted BSR takes the Raw Adjusted BSR from column F and re-centers these figures around their pupil-weighted average. This is done to ensure that the application of this new BSR is fiscally neutral (i.e., that the index strictly redistributes the existing amount of available funding).
- Column H The Current Foundation Basic Support Per Pupil is the legislatively-approved total support level per pupil from the FY2012 Basic Support Guarantee.^{Ixxx}
- Column I The DSA Projected Per-Pupil Funding is calculated by multiplying the Original BSR (column A) by the Current Foundation Basic Support Per Pupil (column H), which generates the district allocations in the current state funding system *prior to any adjustments made for wealth (DSA Module 8) transportation (DSA Module 9)*.
- Column J The FAS Projected Per-Pupil Funding is calculated by multiplying the Pupil-Weighted Adjusted BSR (column G) by the Current Foundation Basic Support Per Pupil (column H), which generates the simulated district allocations corresponding to the funding adjustment choices made by the user.

*Note: the menus of adjustment types for Free/Reduced Price Lunch, English Learners, and Scale/Density have been ordered in magnitude from most to least progressive.

Although not shown in the snapshot, the actual FAS also contains columns that calculate the total dollars corresponding to the per-pupil allocations in column I and J (Total DSA and FAS Projected Funding), the district-by-district differences between these two figures, and the amount of funding necessary to hold all districts harmless should their Total FAS Projected Funding fall short of what the current DSA provides.

Figure 4.3 – Screen Shot of Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS) Set to Baseline Model

Simulation Setting Summary: Price Level = On (DSA) Free/Reduced Price Lunch = Off (MN - Weight = 1.38) English Learner = Off (MD - Weight = 1.99) Scale/Density = On (DSA)	Price Level	Free/Reduced Price Lunch	English Learner	Scale/ Density
Toggle (On/Off)	On	IJО	Off	On
Select Adjustment Type from Pull-Down Menu	DSA	MN	MD	DSA

	J - FAS Projected Per-Pupil Funding (G x H)	\$ 17,508	\$ 13,148	\$ 9,308	\$ 9,084	\$ 8,771	\$ 9,538	\$ 6,909	\$ 6,796	\$ 6,298	\$ 6,101	\$ 6,472	\$ 6,120	\$ 6,023	\$ 6,218	\$ 6,298	\$ 5,279	\$ 5,068
	I - DSA Projected Per-Pupil Funding (A x H)	\$ 17,508	\$ 13,148	\$ 9,308	\$ 9,084	\$ 8,771	\$ 9,538	\$ 6,909	\$ 6,796	\$ 6,298	\$ 6,101	\$ 6,472	\$ 6,120	\$ 6,023	\$ 6,218	\$ 6,298	\$ 5,279	\$ 5,068
	H - Current Foundation Basic Support Per-Pupil	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263
	G - Pupil- Weighted Adjusted BSR	3.327	2.498	1.768	1.726	1.667	1.812	1.313	1.291	1.197	1.159	1.230	1.163	1.144	1.181	1.197	1.003	0.963
ustments	F - Raw Adjusted BSR (B x C x D x E)	3.327	2.498	1.769	1.726	1.667	1.812	1.313	1.291	1.197	1.159	1.230	1.163	1.144	1.182	1.197	1.003	0.963
io (BSR) Adj	E - Scale/ Density	2.681	2.035	1.638	1.599	1.545	1.678	1.237	1.217	1.128	1.117	1.159	1.120	1.102	1.138	1.128	1.012	0.971
c Support Rat	D - English Learner	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
Basi	C - Free/ Reduced Price Lunch	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000	1.000
	B - Price Level	1.241	1.228	1.079	1.079	1.078	1.080	1.061	1.061	1.061	1.038	1.061	1.038	1.038	1.038	1.060	0.992	266.0
	A - Original BSR	3.327	2.498	1.768	1.726	1.667	1.812	1.313	1.291	1.197	1.159	1.230	1.163	1.144	1.181	1.197	1.003	0.963
	District	Esmeralda	Eureka	Storey	Mineral	Pershing	Lincoln	Lander	White Pine	Humboldt	Churchill	Nye	Douglas	Carson City	Lyon	Elko	Washoe	Clark



The FAS also generates in real-time a bar chart that compares the DSA and FAS projected perpupil allocations and therefore allows the user to assess how their funding adjustment choices changed the allocations relative to those currently in place. The user will note that the graphics also include the simulation setting summary information directly under the chart legend. Figure 4.4 provides an example of the chart when the formula adjustments are set to a baseline model where the FAS mimics the current DSA funding allocations (i.e., with the Price Level and Scale/Density funding adjustments set to "DSA" and all other funding adjustments toggled to "Off", as in the snapshot in Figure 4.3).

Simulating Differential Wage Cost Adjustments

To simulate the effect of implementing the CWI Wage Differential Adjustment developed above we have simply set the Price Level adjustment from "DSA" to "CWI" and left everything else the same. Figure 4.5 shows the results of this exercise. Clearly, the replacement of the existing DSA wage differential adjustment results in large differences between the existing DSA and projected FAS funding projections. As explained above, the CWI will direct additional funding to those districts with higher staffing costs associated with regional labor market conditions as opposed to district ability and/or preference to offer higher salaries. Clark and Washoe are the only two districts that would experience an increase in per-pupil funding under this scenario (by \$106 and \$111 per pupil, respectively). As the simulator was designed to generate fiscally neutral allocations, the remaining districts have FAS projections that fall short of what they receive under the current DSA (i.e., the FAS performs zero-sum calculations so that the reductions in revenues must be balanced against the increases in revenues across all of the districts). For example, while Elko currently receives an allocation of \$6,298 per pupil under the current DSA, switching to the CWI adjustment results in a FAS per-pupil projection of \$5,638 (representing a decrease of \$660 or 9.3%). In terms of total dollars redistributed, the FAS projection would result in increases to Clark and Washoe on the order of \$39,653,142, which would have to be made up by the reductions across the other districts. It follows that in order to hold these other districts harmless (i.e., to ensure that no district would experience a drop in funding), additional funding in this amount (equal to 1.8% of the FY 2012 legislatively-approved statewide support level) would be required.

Simulating Student Poverty Cost Adjustments

As an example of how implementing an effective poverty cost adjustment would redistribute funding we have chosen to use the most progressive of the state-specific poverty funding adjustments identified in Chapter 3. The poverty funding adjustment for Minnesota provided a student weight of 1.34, which implies that funding for an impoverished student is about 34% higher than for an otherwise similar student that is not in poverty. We apply this funding adjustment to the original baseline model by setting the Free/Reduced Price Lunch toggle to "On" and select as an adjustment type "MN". Figure 4.6 shows the results of this simulation,





which suggests that the current system is inequitable in terms of how funding is distributed with respect to student poverty. Here, Clark is projected to receive a modest funding increase of about \$55 per pupil, while Washoe would expect a decrease of approximately \$120 per pupil (if they were not held harmless). Nye, Pershing and Esmeralda would stand to gain \$96, \$329, \$569 per pupil, respectively, while the remaining districts would have per-pupil decreases ranging from \$39 to \$1,429. The poverty funding adjustment would have more severe effects on the other districts and come with a hold harmless price tag of \$17,562,616 or 0.8% of the FY 2012 legislatively-approved statewide support level).

Simulating English Learner Cost Adjustments

Following the approach put forth above we activate the English Learner funding adjustment by setting the toggle to "On" and selecting the strongest adjustment, which in this case was identified in Chapter 3 for Maryland ("MD") where there is an explicit ELL weight of 1.99. The results in Figure 4.7 suggest that the current funding system does not equitably distribute funding with respect to the English language learner needs of districts. The applied adjustment would result in modest per-pupil funding increases for Clark, Washoe and Carson City (on the order of \$59, \$32 and \$39, respectively), a large increase for Esmeralda (\$2,046), and decreases ranging from \$274 to \$1,804 for the other districts. The cost of holding the other districts harmless is even larger than was the case in the poverty scenario (due to the more generous weight applied), standing at \$20,472,021 or 0.9% of the FY 2012 legislatively-approved statewide support level.

Simulating Scale of Operations Cost Adjustments

We next provide a scenario using the scale of operations (scale and student density) funding adjustment. Here we replace the existing DSA scale/density funding adjustment with an adjustment from the state identified with the most aggressive scale/density profile in Chapter 3, New York (adjustment type set to "NY"). The results in Figure 4.8 suggest that compared to the state with the most aggressive practice with respect to funding rural remote districts the current DSA model to varying a extent exaggerates the differential resources provided to many of the mid-sized and smaller remote districts in Nevada. Under this scenario, all districts except for Clark, White Pine, and Lander would be considered overfunded with the degree of overfunding ranging from just \$1 per-pupil in Storey to \$1,842 in Lincoln. The amount to hold districts harmless in this case would be \$39,724,694 or 1.8% of the FY 2012 legislatively-approved statewide support level.







Figure 4.10 – Screen Shot of Funding Adjustment Simulator (FAS) Set to Combination of Progressive Funding Adjustments

Simulation Setting Summary: Price Level = On (CWI) Free/Reduced Price Lunch = On (MN - Weight = 1.38) English Learner = On (MD - Weight = 1.99) Scale/Density = On (NY)	Price Level	Free/Reduced Price Lunch	English Learner	Scale/ Density
Toggle (On/Off)	uO	On	On	On
Select Adjustment Type from Pull-Down Menu	CWI	MN	MD	٨٧

	K –FAS/DSA Difference (J – I)	\$ (4,408)	\$ (6,411)	\$ (3,571)	\$ (2,731)	\$ (1,958)	\$ (3,962)	\$ (1,401)	\$ (1,760)	\$ (1,763)	\$ (1,667)	\$ (2,027)	\$ (1,883)	\$ (1,120)	\$ (1,869)	\$ (2,032)	\$ (97)	\$ 321
	J - FAS Projected Per-Pupil Funding (G x H)	\$ 13,100	\$ 6,736	\$ 5,736	\$ 6,352	\$ 6,814	\$ 5,577	\$ 5,509	\$ 5,036	\$ 4,535	\$ 4,434	\$ 4,445	\$ 4,237	\$ 4,903	\$ 4,349	\$ 4,266	\$ 5,183	\$ 5,390
	I - DSA Projected Per-Pupil Funding (A × H)	\$ 17,508	\$ 13,148	\$ 9,308	\$ 9,084	\$ 8,771	\$ 9,538	¢ 6'909	\$ 6,796	\$ 6,298	\$ 6,101	\$ 6,472	\$ 6,120	\$ 6,023	\$ 6,218	\$ 6,298	\$ 5,279	\$ 5,068
	H - Current Foundation Basic Support Per-Pupil	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263	\$ 5,263
	G - Pupil- Weighted Adjusted BSR	2.489	1.280	1.090	1.207	1.295	1.060	1.047	0.957	0.862	0.843	0.845	0.805	0.931	0.826	0.811	0.985	1.024
istments	F - Raw Adjusted BSR (B x C x D x E)	2.493	1.282	1.092	1.209	1.297	1.061	1.048	0.958	0.863	0.844	0.846	0.806	0.933	0.828	0.812	0.986	1.026
o (BSR) Adju	E - Scale/ Density	2.442	1.816	1.636	1.557	1.461	1.353	1.318	1.258	1.033	1.004	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994	0.994
c Support Rati	D - English Learner	1.114	0.861	0.861	0.861	0.934	0.861	0.949	0.884	0.954	0.922	0.929	0.902	1.004	0.915	0.953	1.004	1.009
Basi	C - Free/ Reduced Price Lunch	1.031	0.920	0.846	0.984	1.036	0.995	0.928	0.955	0.969	0.968	1.014	0.955	0.992	0.966	0.948	0.976	1.010
	B - Price Level	0.888	0.892	0.916	0.917	0.917	0.916	0.902	0.902	6.903	0.941	6.903	0.941	0.941	0.941	0.903	1.012	1.012
	A - Original BSR	3.327	2.498	1.768	1.726	1.667	1.812	1.313	1.291	1.197	1.159	1.230	1.163	1.144	1.181	1.197	1.003	0.963
	District	Esmeralda	Eureka	Storey	Mineral	Pershing	Lincoln	Lander	White Pine	Humboldt	Churchill	Nye	Douglas	Carson City	Lyon	Elko	Washoe	Clark

Simulating Multiple Cost Adjustments

As a final demonstration we combine all of the effective funding practices presented above into a single simulation. This simulation represents the simultaneous application of the four alternative funding practices described above:

- Price Level Adjustment CWI
- Free/Reduced Price Lunch Adjustment Minnesota (Weight = 1.38)
- English Language Learner Adjustment Maryland (Weight = 1.99)
- Scale/Density Adjustment New York

The results are graphed in Figure 4.9 and unsurprisingly show large differences between the current DSA and projected FAS per-pupil allocations. A modified screen shot of the FAS interface for this simulation is provided in Figure 4.10 where the final column calculates the absolute difference between the DSA and FAS Projected Per-Pupil Funding across the districts. The simulation clearly shows that implementation of this particular set of funding adjustments would result in sizable funding decreases for many of the state's districts.

A Note on the Intention of the FAS

The FAS has been developed to provide a flexible tool that can be used to evaluate the effects of implementing a broad range of funding adjustments intended to increase the equity with which educational resources are distributed to Nevada school districts. It is important to note that the presentation of the simulation model serves as a beginning to a policy-oriented process of determining what constitutes appropriate adjustments for each cost factor in the context of Nevada rather than offering an ultimate solution as to which adjustments should be used. We feel that the development of the FAS provides a readily accessible tool to policy makers in Nevada. The FAS will greatly facilitate policy discussion and help provide estimates of the impact of selecting alternative funding adjustments that are both effective and palatable to policy makers and stakeholders alike.

Analysis of Alternative Special Education Cost Adjustments

A major consideration in any state's funding practices is how to effectively finance its special education needs. Currently, Nevada uses a unit-based funding system, where each district is assigned a specific number of units. The value of each special education unit is set at\$39,768 for the 2012-13 school year. Based on this unit value, we have presented the number of units along with the total dollars allocated to each of the 17 districts plus the state charter schools to provide special education services for the 2012-13 school year.

Table 4.3 – A	llocation	of Units and	Revenues for	Special Educatio	n Services	
School Districts	Nevada Group	Allocated Special Education Units, 2012-13	Allocated Amount, 2012-13	Average Students with Disabilities Per-Special Education Unit	Average Total Number of Students Per- Special Education Unit	Total Enrollment (All Students)
Carson City	1	98.5	\$ 3,917,148	9.4	78.6	7,741
Churchill	1	47	\$ 1,869,096	12.2	83.3	3,917
Douglas	1	70	\$ 2,783,760	11.3	89.6	6,273
Lyon	1	63	\$ 2,505,384	17.4	130.6	8,228
Elko	2	84	\$ 3,340,512	12.6	114.4	9,611
Humboldt	2	32	\$ 1,272,576	15.4	107.3	3,434
Nye	2	58	\$ 2,306,544	15.6	95.4	5,535
Lander	2	13	\$ 516,984	9.2	85.4	1,110
White Pine	2	16	\$ 636,288	12.1	86.3	1,380
Lincoln	3	18	\$ 715,824	6.4	54.7	985
Mineral	3	8	\$ 318,144	11.9	64.1	513
Pershing	3	16	\$ 636,288	6.2	43.1	690
Storey	3	8	\$ 318,144	7.8	51.0	408
Esmeralda	4	1	\$ 39,768	3.0	64.0	64
Eureka	4	3	\$ 119,304	8.0	84.0	252
Clark	5	1926	\$ 76,593,168	17.2	162.7	313,301
Washoe	5	576	\$ 22,906,368	14.7	112.4	64,740
State Charter Schools		11.5	\$ 457,332	81.0	964.8	11,095
Totals		3,049	\$ 121,252,632	16.1	144.07	439,277

We have been unable to identify any formal documentation of how the number of units assigned to each district is exactly determined. According to the information we have received from various sources in the Nevada Department of Education, the number of units was assigned historically and the growth of units has been adjusted over time to ensure compliance with maintenance of effort requirements of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).^{Ixxxiii}

Another complicating issue involves the treatment of gifted students within special education funding in Nevada. As we proceed in this analysis, we will point out alternative ways of analyzing the data. We first assume that special education funding allocations are focused only on those students with disabilities. We will then see what impact results from including gifted students as part of special education funding. Let's begin with the focus on students with disabilities only.

Students with Disabilities

Our understanding is that the special education unit itself is intended to represent an FTE special education teacher and the unit value of\$39,768 reflects the average salary and benefit cost of a special education teacher.^{lxxxiv} Given that the average compensation of a licensed teacher in the state of Nevada is \$57,312 (see DSA Module 5), a unit value of\$39,768 represents a significant shortfall of revenue, even if the number of units assigned represents some sort of equitable distribution of services or funds.

One source we consulted suggested that the number of units assigned to any given district was originally based on total enrollment (special and non-special education) combined, while others contended that the number of units is based on total count of students with disabilities.^{bxxv} Based on the analysis of current allocations of units, the empirical evidence would cast doubt that there is any rational or systematic process for the assignment of units to districts. Under this current system, the number of students with disabilities per-special education unit varies greatly across districts from as low as 5 students in Lincoln County to a high of 19 in Lyon Count with a statewide average of 16 students per unit. The total number of students per unit (using all students, special and non-special education combined) varies from 43 to 162 (not including the charter schools).

Based on this analysis, we see two potential problems with the current approach to funding special education.

- 1. **Special education is under-funded:** If the unit indeed is intended to represent the average compensation of a teacher, the value of\$39,768 represents a substantial under funding of that unit. Moreover, since the unit was, in theory, supposed to represent the value of a teacher, it provides no support for other licensed non-teaching personnel who might provide services to students with disabilities, much less any support for instructional aides or non-personnel resources (e.g., specialized instructional materials, supplies or technology) that might be necessary to serve students with disabilities.
- 2. The distribution of units appears to be inequitable: Regardless of how the number of units is determined, the current method reveals an extremely disproportionate distribution of special education units between districts based on the number of students with disabilities per allotted unit.

Based on the data presented in the 2011 Statutes of Nevada, Page 2141 (Chapter 370, AB 579), we calculated a total of 3,049 special education units and \$121 million in expenditures across all districts and state charter schools in Nevada.

The goal of this project was to evaluate the current approach to school funding in Nevada and offer alternative recommendations for improving the equity by which educational services are funded. In the case of special education, it is treated outside of the DSA in an entirely separate funding model. Part of the reason for treating special education separately is because of the compliance oriented approach being used for supporting educational services for students with disabilities under IDEIA (the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act, the most recent reauthorization of IDEA). The state wants to be sure it can demonstrate its maintenance of effort in funding special education services. For this reason, we have continued to maintain the treatment of special education funding separate from the DSA.

That said, the inequity and apparent arbitrariness of the current system of funding needs to be addressed in any reform of funding of special education services. Moreover, we desire to maintain the goals of reducing or minimizing any incentives for over-identification of students with disabilities or for serving students with disabilities in more segregated placements (i.e., encouraging districts to place students in the *least restrictive environment* possible).

With these goals in mind, we propose three basic funding methods for the consideration of policy makers in Nevada for reforming special education funding:

- **Fixed allocation per pupil:** This fixed allocation per pupil, allocates an equal amount per student eligible for special education services across all districts.
- Weighted pupil funding: A weighted model allocates revenues to districts based on the relative weights to each student that reflects the relative cost of providing educational services. Under this model, we will propose that each student will be assigned a weight corresponding to the relative cost of serving a student with that disability.
- **Census-based funding:** A census based approach allocates revenues to districts based on the total enrollment (all students, special and non-special education, combined). This is the equivalent of assuming that there is a fixed (constant) incidence of special education students across all districts.

For each method, we hold the total expenditures on special education at the same amount as in the 2011 statutes, only redistributing the funds amongst districts.

Table 4.4 presents the results of each of these three alternative special education funding distribution approaches compared to the current allocations of funds. Before going into a discussion of the actual results and differences in the allocations resulting from these alternative models, we will describe how we arrived at each of these numbers.

Table 4.4 – (Comparis	on of Allocatio	ns Between the	e Current N	evada Special Ec	lucation Fu	nding Method	and Alterr	ative Funding	Models:
Fixed Weigr	Li Pupil V	Neights, Group	ed Pupil Weight Fixed Weight A	ts, and Cen llocation	sus-Based Pupil-Weighted	Allocation	Pupil-Weighted Using Grouped	Allocation Averages	Census-Base	d Model
)		(SLD=1.(6	(SLD=1	.0)		
			Allocation		Allocation Based				Census Based	
			Based on Fixed	Percent	on Weighted Punil Allocation	Percent	Allocation Based on	Percent	Allocation (\$	Percent
School	Nevada	Allocated	Amount (All	Change from	(Separate	Change from	Group Weight	Change from	Allocated	Change from
Districts	Group	2012-13	Spec Education with Same	Original Allocation	Weights by Disability	Original Allocation	and Group Incidence,	Original Allocation	to Total Enrollment),	Original Allocation
			Weight), FY2013		Category SEEP), FY2013		FY2013		FY2013	
Carson City	1	\$ 3,917,148	\$ 2,277,439	-42%	\$ 2,193,332	-44%	\$ 2,424,663	-38%	\$ 2,136,731	-45%
Churchill	1	\$ 1,869,096	\$ 1,420,312	-24%	\$ 1,364,631	-27%	\$ 1,226,896	-34%	\$ 1,081,201	-42%
Douglas	1	\$ 2,783,760	\$ 1,961,265	-30%	\$ 1,921,028	-31%	\$ 1,964,851	-29%	\$ 1,731,522	-38%
Lyon	1	\$ 2,505,384	\$ 2,712,178	8%	\$ 2,714,623	8%	\$ 2,577,203	3%	\$ 2,271,156	%6-
Elko	2	\$ 3,340,512	\$ 2,613,374	-22%	\$2,482,478	-26%	\$ 2,990,213	-10%	\$ 2,652,902	-21%
Humboldt	2	\$ 1,272,576	\$ 1,215,293	-5%	\$ 1,165,519	-8%	\$ 1,068,400	-16%	\$ 947,879	-26%
Nye	2	\$ 2,306,544	\$ 2,240,387	-3%	\$ 2,154,987	-7%	\$ 1,722,071	-25%	\$ 1,527,813	-34%
Lander	2	\$ 516,984	\$ 293,943	-43%	\$ 293,679	-43%	\$ 345,348	-33%	\$ 306,391	-41%
White Pine	2	\$ 636,288	\$ 476,731	-25%	\$ 458,720	-28%	\$ 429,351	-33%	\$ 380,918	-40%
Lincoln	3	\$ 715,824	\$ 284,062	-60%	\$ 268,548	-62%	\$ 332,129	-54%	\$ 271,887	-62%
Mineral	3	\$ 318,144	\$ 234,660	-26%	\$ 225,150	-29%	\$ 172,977	-46%	\$ 141,602	-55%
Pershing	3	\$ 636,288	\$ 244,541	-62%	\$ 234,995	-63%	\$ 232,659	-63%	\$ 190,459	-70%
Storey	3	\$ 318,144	\$ 153,147	-52%	\$ 146,645	-54%	\$ 137,572	-57%	\$ 112,619	-65%
Esmeralda	4	\$ 39,768	\$ 7,410	-81%	\$ 9,975	-75%	\$ 12,909	-68%	\$ 17,666	-56%
Eureka	4	\$ 119,304	\$ 59,283	-50%	\$ 53,761	-55%	\$ 50,828	-57%	\$ 69,559	-42%
Clark	5	\$ 76,593,168	\$ 81,832,188	7%	\$ 82,834,275	8%	\$ 85,568,178	12%	\$ 86,479,763	13%
Washoe	5	\$ 22,906,368	\$ 20,924,280	-9%	\$ 20,415,570	-11%	\$ 17,681,667	-23%	\$ 17,870,035	-22%
State										
Charter		\$ 457,332	\$ 2,302,140	403%	\$2,314,716	406%	\$ 2,314,716	406%	\$ 3,062,528	570%
Schools										
Totals		\$121,252,632	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0

The Fixed Allocation Per Pupil

To determine the fixed allocation per pupil, we begin with the total dollars made available for special education services for the 2012-13 school year of\$121,252,632. By dividing this amount by the total number of students with disabilities, we arrive at an average allocation of \$2,470 per special education pupil. We then multiply this per pupil amount by the count of students with disabilities in each district and/or state charter schools to determine the amount available for each.

Weighted Pupil Funding

The weighted pupil funding draws on data from a national study conducted by AIR for the Office of Special Education Programs (OSEP).^{Ixxxvi} Specifically, the Special Education Expenditure Project (SEEP), directed by Jay Chambers, resulted in a rich series of studies that provided estimates of special education spending ratios by student disability based on analysis of a nationwide random sample of students with disabilities. As mentioned in Chapter 3, this was and still remains to be the largest and most comprehensive data collection and gathered information about special education students from the most knowledgeable providers of services supplied to each individual. While we have already listed the special education weights generated from this research in Chapter 3, we summarize them again below in Table 4.5:

Table 4.5 – Specific Disability Categor	ry Weights	
Student Category	Special Education Weight Using General Education Student as Comparison Group	Special Education Weight Using Student With Specific Learning Disability as Comparison Group
General Education Student	Comparison group 1.0	n/a
Specific Learning Disability (SLD)	1.6	Comparison group 1.0
Speech/Language Impairment (SLI)	1.7	1.1
Emotional Disturbance (ED)	2.2	1.4
Mental Retardation (MR)	2.3	1.4
Orthopedic Impairment (OI)	2.3	1.4
Other Health Impairment (OHI)	2.0	1.3
Autism (AUT)	2.9	1.8
Hearing Impairment/Deafness (HI/D)	2.4	1.5
Multiple Disabilities (MD)	3.1	1.9
Traumatic Brain Injury (TBI)	2.5	1.6
Visual Impairment/Blindness (VI/B)	2.9	1.8
Preschool (PRE) 2	2.0	1.3
Average Special Education Student	1.9	1.2
Source: Appendix B-1 of Special Educatio Expenditures for Students with Disabilities (2003)	n Expenditure Project (SEEP s, 1999-2000: Spending Var) Report 5, Total iation by Disability

Because special education is funded in Nevada outside of the DSA and the total dollars allocated are intended to be focused on special education students only, we decided to use the student weight based

on SLD (i.e., using SLD as the *comparison group*) rather than the one that compares special education to regular education students. We multiplied the SLD based student weight by the proportion of students by disability category for each district and the state charter schools. This calculation produces an overall average student weight for each district/charter school. By dividing the total dollars made available by the Nevada legislature for special education services (\$121,252,632) by the statewide total weighted enrollment across all districts and state charters, we determined that the average SLD students would be allocated \$2,470. Multiplying the weighted sum of students for each district and charter by this base allocation provides, in effect, the weighted allocation of dollars (column 6 of Table 4.4).^{Ixxxvii}

However, this approach treats each district separately in the determination of both the special education identification rates and the classification of students by disability. A district that identifies more students with disabilities receives greater funding, and a district that identifies greater proportions of students who are classified in high-cost disability categories will receive greater funding. To mitigate these incentives somewhat, we also calculated the allocations based on averages across groups of districts as was done in the calculations of the BSR in the DSA Modules. That is, using the same groupings of districts as was done in the current DSA Modules, we calculated group-based average identification rates and group-based average proportions of students classified by disability. By using the group averages, we recognize some of the variations in the identification and classification of special education students across districts, but we assume that districts in the same size/density group are facing similar circumstances and conditions that may impact the policies and determination of special education services. By grouping the districts, it reduces the impact of any one district on its own special education allocations, and the allocations of dollars are presented in column 8 of Table 4.4.

A Census-Based Approach

To avoid creating any incentives for identifying or classifying special education students, a number of states (9 out of the 50) use a census-based approach to allocating dollars for special education. This approach essentially allocates special education dollars to the district from the state based entirely on the total enrollment (special and non-special education combined) of the district or charter school. In effect, this is equivalent to assuming that all districts have the same identification and classification rate for special education students.

The census-based approach also generally provides flexibility in how special education dollars are used. It incentivizes districts to find ways to reduce the identification of special education students through such service models as response to intervention (commonly referred to as RTI) or early intervention services. RTI attempts to identify learning deficits early and ameliorate the potential impact through various instructional interventions or strategies. Using a census-based system provides funds to districts to support RTI and other early intervention or pre-referral programs for students who do not (yet) have an IEP. The report of the *President's Commission on Excellence in Special Education* suggested that to some extent, the rate of special education identification is due to inadequate school funding and the provision of quality programs being offered to students sufficiently early to avoid the learning problems that eventually lead to identification for special education services.^{bxxxviii}
Census-Based Model Combined with a Catastrophic Aid Program

Because census-based models do not provide differential funding for variations in identification or any other factors affecting the costs of special education services, they are often accompanied by catastrophic aid programs or what are otherwise known as risk management model or contingency fund. If Nevada does consider the implementation of a census-based approach to funding, we would also recommend the establishment of a contingency fund to which districts can apply for money to help pay for the cost of educating extraordinarily high-cost special education students. This type of contingency fund serves as an insurance provision to protect districts against extraordinarily high special education costs that may arise and be particularly difficult for small districts to sustain. Because of the number of small districts in Nevada, the establishment of this type of fund would be especially important.

As of 1999-2000, 31 states had such contingency funds for high-cost students. To define what constitutes a high-cost student, most states establish a threshold per pupil cost based on a multiple of the average cost of a regular education student, and these multiples range from 1.1 to 5.0. Kansas reimburses expenditures over a base of \$25,000 per student (Parrish et al., 2003). The percentage of spending above this threshold covered by states also varies from 65 to 80 percent.

The contingency fund should be designed to be used rarely, to be transparent and simple, and to be low-cost to administer. Districts would be eligible to apply for funds for students for whom they can document costs of more than, for example, three times that of the average pupil. There should be some district responsibility (e.g., co-pay) for the excess costs for these high-cost students; thus, the state could cover 75 percent of the cost above the threshold of special education services for students who cost over three times the average per pupil cost for a general education student.

Table 4.6 presents data that offer estimates of the potential costs of establishing a contingency fund to support exceptionally high cost special education students in Nevada. Data used in this table include the Basic Support Guarantee derived from the DSA Module 2, data from the Nevada Department of Education, and estimates of costs and percentages of students under the alternative high-cost scenarios (1, 2, and 3). These high-cost scenarios are based on data originally collected as part of the Special Education Expenditure Project (SEEP) referred to earlier which was conducted by AIR for the U.S. Office of Special Education Program.^{bxxxix} Scenario 1 classifies students as high cost if the cost of serving them is at least four times the Basic Support Guarantee (\$5,374), while Scenarios 2 and 3 classify as high cost only the top one percent and the top one-half of one percent of students, respectively, with respect to their cost of services. Under each of the three scenarios, we have estimated the percentage of special education students, based on district data, that are likely to be identified as high cost (e.g., severely and profoundly handicapped), and we have applied that percentage to actual counts of special education students in Nevada in 2012-13 (49,088).

In row E, we have also estimated the cost thresholds for students to qualify as being high-cost under the two scenarios along with the average per pupil costs for qualifying students. We have then calculated the excess cost for which the state would assume some responsibility for reimbursement. We are using cost estimates originally produced under the SEEP study conducted by AIR to come up with values for

the cost thresholds and the average costs of the special education students identified under the two scenarios (see footnotes to the exhibit for further explanation).

We have then assumed the state would take responsibility for 75% of those excess costs under the contingency fund program, and have calculated the total cost based on the percentages of students likely to be served. Based on these estimates, the costs of such a program under Scenarios 1, 2, and 3 are \$21.2 million, \$6.7 million, and \$4.1 million, respectively. One can see that these estimates will vary with the choice of the criteria for classifying students as high cost along with the choice of what percent of costs the state will reimburse. Depending upon which scenario is selected, these figures represent a substantial investment of education funds to serve these high cost students amounting to approximately \$73.3 million under scenario 1, \$25.4 million under scenario 2, and \$15.7 million under scenario 3.

How large should a contingency fund be? Unfortunately, there is no straightforward answer to this question. AIR was able to obtain estimates from two states, Connecticut and New Hampshire, based on NCES data on total expenditures combined with data from (Parrish et al 2003) on the amounts set aside for these contingency funds. In both instances, the contingency funds were significantly less than one percent of total K-12 spending. New Hampshire set aside one million for the contingency fund, while spending a total of 1.6 billion on K-12 education. Connecticut set aside \$11.5 million while spending \$6.2 billion on K-12 education.

Table 4.	6 – Steps to Calculating a Special Education Con	ntingency Fund t	o Support Excel	otionally High-C	ost Students with Disabilities (2012-2013)
Row	Description	Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3	Source/Explanation
A	High Cost Student Definition	4 x Base Cost	Top 1%	Top	Scenario 1 equals four times base per pupil cost, Scenarios 2 and 3 equal costs of top one and one-half percent of special education students, respectively.
В	Total number of special education students	49,088	49,088	49,088	NDE Research Bulletin, 2011-2012
J	Percent classified as high cost (estimated)	5.70%	1.00%	0.50%	Chambers et al, Journal of Special Education Leadership (2005)
D	Estimated students classified as high cost	2,798	491	245	Equals B x C
ш	Base per pupil cost (Basic Support Guarantee)	\$ 5,374	\$ 5,374	\$ 5,374	Defined in DSA Module 2 (compatibility mode)
ш	Estimated cost reimbursement threshold, above which costs are partially reimbursed from the contingency fund	\$21,496	\$38,918	\$47,177	Scenario 1 is four times the base sufficiency cost, while for Scenarios 2 and 3 the thresholds have been estimated (see note <a>, below)
U	Estimated average cost of a special education student falling above the threshold	\$31,584	\$57,183	\$69,318	Estimates are based on ratio of per pupil expenditures for high cost special education students to general education students (source: Figure 1 in Chambers et al, Journal of Special Education Leadership, 2005), see
т	Average excess cost per high-cost special education student	\$10,088	\$18,264	\$22,140	Average cost over and above the cost reimbursement threshold, equal to G-F (see note , below)
-	Percentage of this excess cost that state would pay	75%	75%	75%	Option for state responsibility for excess costs based on a survey of practices from multiple states
-	Total amount necessary for Contingency Fund	\$21,169,789	\$6,724,186	\$4,075,574	Equals D x H x I
х	Estimated total expenditure allocated to high cost students over and above the Basic Support Guarantee	\$73,335,999	\$25,431,889	\$15,694,345	equals D x (G-E)
<a> As a ro respectivel	ugh estimate of the threshold values under scenarios 2 and 3, we a v. or 1.47 (=531.584/521.496). The estimated cost reimbursement i	applied the Scenario 1 thresholds for Scenari	ratio of the average h ios 2 and 3 are as follo	igh cost special educa ws: \$38.918 (=\$57.18	tion student to cost reimbursement threshold in rows G and F, 3./1.47) and \$47.177 (=\$69.318/1.47).

Ab> The ratios presented in the table below were applied to the projected sufficient base per pupil cost in order to estimate the average cost per pupil of special education students qualifying as high cost under Scenarios 1, 2, and 3 in the exhibit above. In each case, the ratio in row C of the following table was applied to the\$5,374 figure presented in Row E of the table.

		Scenario 1	Scenario 2	Scenario 3
A	Nationwide estimates of the cost of a special education student, Special Education Expenditure Project (SEEP)	\$40,553	\$69,760	\$84,564
В	Nationwide cost of a regular education student, SEEP	\$6,556	\$6,556	\$6,556
С	Ratio of A to B	6.19	10.64	12.90

The Impact of Adding Gifted Students

In the previous analysis, we focused exclusively on students with disabilities. But it is our understanding that Nevada treats gifted students as special education. The SEEP Study, upon which the previous analysis was based, does not include gifted students in its analysis. There is no prevailing literature of which we are aware that provides a solid estimate of the relative cost or expenditure on gifted students. Nevertheless, we made some assumptions that would permit us to include gifted students in the analysis for this report. For the sake of simplicity, we made the assumption that the cost of a gifted student was between that of a regular student and a student who was classified as SLD. An SLD student has a weight of 1.6 relative to a regular education student and therefore we are assuming for simplicity that a gifted student would have a weight of 1.3 relative to a regular student. Entering this number into our special education simulation model, this implies a weight of 0.81 (equal to 1.3/1.6) relative to an SLD student. This weight was used to recalculate all of the figures presented in Table 4.5 to show how the allocations under the different scenarios would change relative to the current allocations. These revised allocations of special education funds including gifted counts of students are displayed in Table 4.7.

It is important to note that adding gifted students to the analysis has no impact on the simulation of the costs of implementing the census-based approach since that is based on total enrollment, special and non-special education students combined.

Table 4.7 – (Gifted Stude	Comparis ents Inclu	on of Allocatic ded As Part of	ons between Cu Special Educat	urrent the N tion: Fixed	Vevada Special Weight. Pupil V	Education F	unding Method a Juped Pupil Weigl	nd Alternative hts. and Censu	e Funding Models Is-Based <a>	: with
			Fixed Weight	Allocation	Pupil Weighter (SLD=1	d Allocation 1.0)	Pupil Weighted All Grouped Averag	location Using es (SLD=1.0)	Census-Based	Model
School Districts	Nevada Group	Allocated Amount, 2012-13	Allocation Based on Fixed Per- Pupil Amount	Percent Change from Original Allocation	Allocation Based on Weighted Pupil Allocation	Percent Change from Original Allocation	Allocation Based on Group Weight and Group Incidence	Percent Change from Original Allocation	Census-Based Allocation (\$ Allocated Proportional to Total Enrollment), FY2013	Percent Change from Original Allocation
Carson City	1	\$ 3,917,148	\$ 3,395,115	-13%	\$ 3,008,731	-23%	\$ 2,619,002	-33%	\$ 2,136,731	-45%
Churchill	1	\$ 1,869,096	\$ 1,374,066	-26%	\$ 1,338,074	-28%	\$ 1,325,233	-29%	\$ 1,081,201	-42%
Douglas	1	\$ 2,783,760	\$ 1,951,215	-30%	\$ 1,918,672	-31%	\$ 2,122,336	-24%	\$ 1,731,522	-38%
Lyon	1	\$ 2,505,384	\$ 2,532,472	1%	\$ 2,584,863	3%	\$ 2,783,768	11%	\$ 2,271,156	-9%
Elko	2	\$ 3,340,512	\$ 2,536,580	-24%	\$ 2,443,043	-27%	\$ 2,746,711	-18%	\$ 2,652,902	-21%
Humboldt	2	\$ 1,272,576	\$ 1,010,524	-21%	\$ 1,024,043	-20%	\$ 981,397	-23%	\$ 947,879	-26%
Nye	2	\$ 2,306,544	\$ 1,862,897	-19%	\$ 1,893,404	-18%	\$ 1,581,838	-31%	\$ 1,527,813	-34%
Lander	2	\$ 516,984	\$ 244,415	-53%	\$ 258,031	-50%	\$ 317,225	-39%	\$ 306,391	-41%
White Pine	2	\$ 636,288	\$ 396,405	-38%	\$ 403,038	-37%	\$ 394,388	-38%	\$ 380,918	-40%
Lincoln	3	\$ 715,824	\$ 236,200	-67%	\$ 235,950	%29-	\$ 309,218	-57%	\$ 271,887	-62%
Mineral	3	\$ 318,144	\$ 203,337	-36%	\$ 203,739	-36%	\$ 161,045	-49%	\$ 141,602	-55%
Pershing	3	\$ 636,288	\$ 211,553	-67%	\$ 212,389	-67%	\$ 216,610	-66%	\$ 190,459	-70%
Storey	3	\$ 318,144	\$ 174,582	-45%	\$ 162,877	-49%	\$ 128,082	-60%	\$ 112,619	-65%
Esmeralda	4	\$ 39,768	\$ 6,162	-85%	\$ 8,764	-78%	\$ 11,342	-71%	\$ 17,666	-56%
Eureka	4	\$ 119,304	\$ 49,294	-59%	\$ 47,236	%09-	\$ 44,658	-63%	\$ 69,559	-42%
Clark	5	\$ 76,593,168	\$ 79,759,523	4%	\$ 81,219,460	%9	\$ 85,592,537	12%	\$ 86,479,763	13%
Washoe	5	\$ 22,906,368	\$ 23,120,875	1%	\$ 22,059,778	-4%	\$ 17,686,700	-23%	\$ 17,870,035	-22%
State										
Charter		\$ 457,332	\$ 2,187,415	378%	\$ 2,230,540	388%	\$ 2,230,540	388%	\$ 3,062,528	570%
Schools										
Totals		\$121,252,632	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0	\$121,252,632	%0

<a> This table includes the total count of students with disabilities plus the count of gifted students as part of the analysis.

 Table 4.8 – Analysis of Enrollment, Special Education Units and Percent Identified as Eligible for Special

 Education With and Without Gifted Student Counts

District	Counts of Gifted and Talented Students	Total Special Education Enrollment including Gifted	Allocated Special Education Units, 2012-13	Average Students Per-Unit Including Gifted, 2012-2013	Average Students with Disabilities per Special Education Unit	Percent Total Enrollment Identified as Special Education (Including Gifted)	Percent of Total Enrollment Identified as Special Education Students
Carson City	731	1,653	99	16.8	9.4	21.4%	11.9%
Churchill	94	669	47	14.2	12.2	17.1%	14.7%
Clark	5,704	38,833	1,926	20.2	17.2	12.4%	10.6%
Douglas	156	950	70	13.6	11.3	15.1%	12.7%
Elko	177	1,235	84	14.7	12.6	12.8%	11.0%
Esmeralda	0	3	1	3.0	3.0	4.7%	4.7%
Eureka	0	24	3	8.0	8.0	9.5%	9.5%
Humboldt	0	492	32	15.4	15.4	14.3%	14.3%
Lander	0	119	13	9.2	9.2	10.7%	10.7%
Lincoln	0	115	18	6.4	6.4	11.7%	11.7%
Lyon	135	1,233	63	19.6	17.4	15.0%	13.3%
Mineral	4	99	8	12.4	11.9	19.3%	18.5%
Nye	0	907	58	15.6	15.6	16.4%	16.4%
Pershing	4	103	16	6.4	6.2	14.9%	14.3%
Storey	23	85	8	10.6	7.8	20.8%	15.2%
Washoe	2,786	11,257	576	19.5	14.7	17.4%	13.1%
White Pine	0	193	16	12.1	12.1	14.0%	14.0%
State Charter Schools	133	1,065	12	92.6	81.0	9.6%	8.4%
Totals	9,947	59,035	3,049	19.4	16.1	13.4%	11.2%

Including gifted students as part of special education changes the landscape of the allocations and the percent of students identified as eligible for special education services. Excluding gifted, the average special education identification rate is 11.2%, while with gifted included, the average identification rate equals 13.4%. Carson City stands out with the highest combined identification rate of 21.4%, almost half (44%) of which is accounted for by gifted students. Seven of the 17 districts in Nevada report no gifted students at all.

It is also noteworthy that the range of variation in the total number of special education students, including gifted, per unit allocation is still quite large. The average number of students per special education unit excluding gifted is about 16 and, excluding the state charter schools, ranges from 3 students per unit to more than 17 students. Including gifted, the average rises to more than 19 and, excluding the state charter schools, ranges from 3 to 20 students.

Analysis of the Special Education Funding Options

The analyses in Table 4.4 reveal that there are substantial reallocations of funds that result from any of the options for funding special education. We have been careful to ensure that all of the options were applied so that the impact would be fiscally neutral overall: that is, changes in the allocations across districts basically add up to zero. It is a zero sum game in effect: the total dollars remains at\$121.3 million.

It is important for state policy makers to consider what they regard as the most equitable way to allocate funds and recognize that any short term gains or losses in this process reflect the fact that the State is moving from a less to a more equitable solution and resolving any over or under funding that existed under the old system. That said, we also realize that sudden adjustments of funding can have substantial impact on programs, services, and children and cannot be done over night, no matter how much better or preferable a new method for allocating funds might be. The so-called winners (losers) in moving from the old to a new system are resulting only from the fact that these districts were being underfunded (overfunded) under the old system.

Table 4.4 reveals that regardless of which new option the state might adopt for funding special education, Clark County Public Schools stands to gain significant amounts of absolute dollars ranging from as low as a 7 percent increase under a fixed weight allocation (with all students with disabilities receiving equal weight) to a 13 percent increase under a census-based system (with funds being allocated based on total enrollment – special and non-special education combined).

The State Charter schools also stand to gain substantial funds under almost any new option for funding special education. Under the current regime, State Charter schools are receiving roughly \$460,000 in special education funding, while under any of the new options, these schools would receive anywhere from about \$2.3 million to just over \$3.1 million dollars.

Lyon Public Schools would gain funding under the first three options – the fixed weight or the pupil weighted allocation with implemented with individual district or grouped rates of identification (reflecting the overall percent of students identified as eligible for special education services) and classification (reflecting the distribution of special education by disabilities) of special education students.

The losses of funds among the remainder of the districts range from just under 10% to as high as 80% and depend, to some degree, on which model is implemented.

Adding gifted students into the analysis of special education resulted in similar patterns of change across districts. Clark County and Lyon Public Schools along with the State Charter Schools gained funding under the same options they did before and the remaining districts lost

funding. However, the magnitudes of the changes, both positive and negative, tended to be somewhat smaller, with some exceptions.

There is a range of costs for holding districts harmless if the State of Nevada were to decide to implement one of the four alternative funding models for special education immediately. By holding districts harmless, no districts lose any funding to prevent dramatic losses of services. Tables 4-9 and 4-10 present the district-by-district and total state costs of implementing the alternative models without and with gifted students included, respectively. In each case, the *fixed weight model* was the least costly amounting to \$7.3 million and \$5.1 million, respectively, while the *census-based* model was the most expensive at \$12.5 million in both cases. District-by-district amounts show the amounts that each district would lose in real terms. Lyon, Clark and the state charter schools would all gain revenues as suggested above with the exception of the *census-model* in which Lyon would join the remaining districts requiring state revenues to hold them harmless.

We strongly recommend using a phase-in of any selected funding alternative over a three- to five-year period to take advantage of additional revenues that might result from changes in economic conditions and gradually moving toward a more equitable distribution of funds so as not to disrupt current programs serving special education students.

Table 4.9 – Analysis Models Under a "He	able 4.9 – Analysis of the Cost of Implementing Alternative Special Education Funding Aodels Under a "Hold Harmless" Provision, Including Students with Disabilities Only									
School Districts	Fix A	xed weight Allocation	Pup A (il Weighted Illocation SLD=1.0)	Pup Allo (il Weighted cation Using Grouped Averages SLD=1.0)	Ce	nsus-Based Model		
Carson City	\$	1,639,709	\$	1,723,816	\$	1,492,485	\$	1,780,417		
Churchill	\$	448,784	\$	504,465	\$	642,200	\$	787,895		
Douglas	\$	822,495	\$	862,732	\$	818,909	\$	1,052,238		
Lyon	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	234,228		
Elko	\$	727,138	\$	858,034	\$	350,299	\$	687,610		
Humboldt	\$	57,283	\$	107,057	\$	204,176	\$	324,697		
Nye	\$	66,157	\$	151,557	\$	584,473	\$	778,731		
Lander	\$	223,041	\$	223,305	\$	171,636	\$	210,593		
White Pine	\$	159,557	\$	177,568	\$	206,937	\$	255,370		
Lincoln	\$	431,762	\$	447,276	\$	383,695	\$	443,937		
Mineral	\$	83,484	\$	92,994	\$	145,167	\$	176,542		
Pershing	\$	391,747	\$	401,293	\$	403,629	\$	445,829		
Storey	\$	164,997	\$	171,499	\$	180,572	\$	205,525		
Esmeralda	\$	32,358	\$	29,793	\$	26,859	\$	22,102		
Eureka	\$	60,021	\$	65,543	\$	68,476	\$	49,745		
Clark	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-		
Washoe	\$	1,982,088	\$	2,490,798	\$	5,224,701	\$	5,036,333		
State Charter Schools	\$		\$	-	\$	-	\$	-		
Totals	\$	7,290,622	\$	8,307,730	\$	10,904,213	\$	12,491,791		

Table 4.10 – Analysis of the Cost of Implementing Alternative Special Education Funding Models Under a "Hold Harmless" Provision, Including Students with Disabilities and Gifted Students as Part of Special Education

School Districts	Fix A	ed weight llocation	Pup #	il Weighted Allocation (SLD=1.0)	Pur Allo Grou	bil Weighted ocation Using uped Averages (SLD=1.0)	Ce	nsus-Based Model
Carson City	\$	522,033	\$	908,417	\$	1,298,146	\$	1,780,417
Churchill	\$	495,030	\$	531,022	\$	543,863	\$	787,895
Douglas	\$	832,545	\$	865,088	\$	661,424	\$	1,052,238
Lyon	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	234,228
Elko	\$	803,932	\$	897,469	\$	593,801	\$	687,610
Humboldt	\$	262,052	\$	248,533	\$	291,179	\$	324,697
Nye	\$	443,647	\$	413,140	\$	724,706	\$	778,731
Lander	\$	272,569	\$	258,953	\$	199,759	\$	210,593
White Pine	\$	239,883	\$	233,250	\$	241,900	\$	255,370
Lincoln	\$	479,624	\$	479,874	\$	406,606	\$	443,937
Mineral	\$	114,807	\$	114,405	\$	157,099	\$	176,542
Pershing	\$	424,735	\$	423,899	\$	419,678	\$	445,829
Storey	\$	143,562	\$	155,267	\$	190,062	\$	205,525
Esmeralda	\$	33,606	\$	31,004	\$	28,426	\$	22,102
Eureka	\$	70,010	\$	72,068	\$	74,646	\$	49,745
Clark	\$		\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Washoe	\$	-	\$	846,590	\$	5,219,668	\$	5,036,333
State Charter Schools	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-	\$	-
Totals	\$	5,138,034	\$	6,478,979	\$	11,050,962	\$	12,491,791

Under Funding of Special Education

While the current study has not been focused on the adequacy, but rather the equity, of Nevada school funding, we feel that it is important for us to reveal what we believe to be a potentially significant issue with regard to overall special education funding.

Based on the overall estimated cost of special education derived from the SEEP weights, we estimate that the average expenditure to educate a special education student takes up approximately 19.3 percent of total education budgets and just about half of that represents the additional expenditure required because the student has a disability.^{xc} Based on figures from the National Center for Education Statistics, Digest of Education Statistics, for 2011, Nevada school districts reported a total current expenditure of \$3.61 billion for 2008-09.^{xci} This suggests that special education from all sources of funds (federal, state and local) likely

required took up about \$697 million (equal to 19.3% x 3.61). The incremental expenditures on special education amounted to \$330 million. Even ignoring the fact that these figures are three years old and therefore do not represent current dollars, this incremental expenditure on special education represents roughly \$220 million dollars more than the state and local combination of revenues (the \$121 million) being provided for special education services.

All of this said, we recognize that the \$121 million reflects only the state allocations for special education and ignores entirely any IDEIA funding that are presumably being allocated to special education services. Our best sources suggest that federal IDEIA funding for Nevada amounted to \$71.5 million^{xcii}, which makes up some of this short fall between our estimated cost of special education in the state and the current level of support being provided.

Chapter 5 – Recommendations

Distributive School Account DSA Model Recommendations

Modify DSA Adjustments for Scale/Density and Geographic Differences in Staffing Prices to Ensure Equity across Districts

As we have demonstrated earlier in this report, the process used by the DSA to calculate the Basic Support Ratio (BSR) attempts to adjust for two components of differences in educational costs (cost factors) across districts:

- Scale/Density This component provides an estimate of the differences in educational costs associated with differences in district size and density of student population served.
- **Differences** in Staffing Prices This portion of the BSR captures differences in educational costs associated with variations in the average compensation levels of educators across districts.

The following section offers a series of recommendations stemming from our in-depth investigation of the DSA and touches on the various elements involved in calculating the BSR that represent the current funding adjustments for differences in scale/density and compensation across Nevada districts.

Recommendation 1 - Review and Revise the Teacher Allotment Tables and Attendance Areas

The teacher allotment tables are a critical component of the DSA. These tables provide the foundation for the variation in the relative costs of services across the districts in relation to differences in size and sparsity of populations. The teacher allotment tables basically provide additional dollars to smaller districts to reflect the consolidation of courses and classes that inevitably are associated with smaller districts in rural and more remote locations. It is our understanding that the teacher allotment tables were last reviewed several years ago. However, because of the critical role that these tables play in determining funding allocations and guarantees in the current DSA, they need to be reviewed and possibly updated approximately every five years.

To carry this analysis out, we recommend a panel be convened that would be charged with examining existing school-level data on enrollments and actual teacher allocations and compare current pupil-teacher ratios to those suggested by the teacher allotment tables. This same panel could simultaneously review the structure and conceptual underpinnings upon which the attendance areas were built and the way in which the FTE allocations generated by the teacher allotment tables are affected by the choice of attendance areas. This type of analysis would help inform decisions by Nevada policy makers as to how the teacher allotment tables and/or attendance areas might be modified to create appropriate funding adjustments.

The panel could seek out stakeholder input on how well the current funding adjustments meet the needs of districts in remote rural regions of the state and may be compared to similar adjustments in other states as we have done earlier in this report (e.g., the most aggressive scale/density funding profiles such as New York -- see the scale of operations cost adjustment simulation in the section *Using the Nevada Funding Adjustment Simulator* in Chapter 4). As part of this investigation, one could ask whether the teacher allotment tables might be better applied to school catchment areas rather than the larger attendance areas in which schools of varying sizes are lumped together and when and under what circumstances more aggregated school data might be permissible to use for this purpose.

In addition, while the attendance areas are being reviewed and possibly modified, the definitions and procedures for determining these should be well documented. While we were able to obtain the data and the calculations underlying the attendance areas, we were not able to obtain any documentation that described how schools were assigned to attendance areas.

Recommendation 2 – Update the FTE Staffing and Expenditure Data Used in DSA Calculations

As part of the many calculations involved in determining the BSR for each district, the DSA makes use of data on administrative and teacher full-time-equivalent (FTE) staff to calculate administrative to teacher ratios. The DSA then uses these ratios in conjunction with the projected teacher FTE allotments to project administrative staffing needs. In addition, the model uses per-pupil expenditure on classified staff and operations to calculate the funding necessary to support these functions. The research team found that the DSA currently uses information dating as far back as 2004 to support these calculations that underlie the BSR. After some investigation, including discussions with various individuals with ties to the Nevada Department of Education, it appears likely that the use of 2004 figures in the current DSA are simply those that were used the last time the model was modified by the DSA Evaluation Team in 2006.

The BSR is obviously a critical component to the determination of the amount of funding to be made available to each district and the data underlying these calculations need to as accurate as possible. While we believe the basic conceptual framework upon which the DSA has been developed is well founded, it is vitally important that these data be reviewed and updated on a periodic basis of roughly every three to five years. Note that modifying this information on a more frequent basis is not warranted, as it could create a perverse incentive for districts to distort their behavior, although this incentive is tempered by the district groupings explained below (see Recommendation 4, below). While we do not believe that many of the relationships that are utilized and measured within the DSA data and calculations change rapidly over time (e.g., from year to year), it is important to update these as the configurations of enrollments and services in each district may change in response to changes in local conditions over longer periods (e.g., five years). To this end, we strongly suggest that the administrative and teacher

staffing data, as well as the information on operational and classified staff expenditures used to populate the DSA be updated no less frequently than every five years.

Again, a key suggestion under this recommendation focuses on documenting the data elements utilized within the DSA calculations. The idea here is that detailed documentation be drafted as to *what* FTE staffing and expenditure data will be used to populate the DSA (including the year and source of the information), as well as *how* these data are employed by the DSA (i.e., what calculations are made using these pieces of data that enter the model). This should take the form of an independent stand-alone document which should greatly improve the maintenance, update, and improvement of the model over time, as well as provide a much greater degree of transparency than is currently offered.

Recommendation 3 – Replace the Implicit Wage Differential Adjustment in the DSA with a More Objective Measure of Geographic Labor Cost Variation Such As the Comparable Wage Index (CWI)

As described in Chapter 3, the CWI is intended to capture the variations in the market price of hiring and retaining education staff across different geographic regions of the state of Nevada. The CWI provides an estimate of the wages of non-education laborers who have comparable characteristics and educational attainment, while controlling for regional differences in the composition of industries. Currently, the DSA attempts to capture these labor market differences through what amounts to the model's grouped average levels of compensation of school personnel. While the grouping of these averages reduces the ability of any given district to impact the average on which their own funding is determined, the implicit average compensation indices that help drive the BSRs in the current DSA at least partially reflect the choices of districts regarding personnel rather than external factors affecting the supply of labor and thus the market price of comparable staff. The CWI is explicitly designed to capture the differences in the staffing prices derived from the supply-side of the market and are therefore outside the control of the districts. The findings presented in Chapter 4 show that the implicit staffing price adjustments made by the DSA are greatly driven by the demand side of the labor markets (district preferences), and these variations result in counterintuitive patterns of staffing price levels across districts (see the section *Incorporating the Comparable Wage* Index (CWI) Into the DSA in Chapter 4). For this reason, using the CWI or a similar type of measure would be a preferable way to capture differences in the prices of educational resources.

Recommendation 4 - Reconsider the Way the DSA Groups Districts for Calculations

We believe that the grouping of districts for calculating certain staffing, expenditure, and staff compensation averages seems to be conceptually reasonable. In effect, it groups districts by what amounts to size and other characteristics of the attendance areas in order to capture some of the systematic differences in staffing and spending that impact the costs of educational

services in different geographic regions of the state. As the state begins to review the teacher allotment tables and the attendance areas within the DSA, we believe it would be useful for the state to review the criteria for grouping the districts for the calculations contained within the DSA. Table 5.1 below shows the variations in size and student density that exist across the 17 Nevada school districts. Our view is that the types of differences in costs that the DSA attempts to capture in the BSR are associated with differences in both size and student density. These two factors, size and density, taken together impact the way districts organize and provide services to students living in different communities. Distances between schools and sparsity of student populations may also have significant impact on the configurations and costs of services and should be studied and reviewed as part of the review of the teacher allotment tables and attendance areas. While the definitions of district groupings are explained within the DSA, we believe that providing further information for the rationales and criteria underlying the organizing and assignment of districts to the groupings as well as conducting further analyses of distances between schools and between schools and the central offices would be useful in assessing the validity of these assignments of districts to groups. Specifically, further investigation on the appropriateness of the existing district groupings should be performed and include analyses of staffing and expenditures on non-personnel resources across districts in relation to their size, density values, and other criteria such as distances between schools. The state policy makers could then develop recommendations as to whether the assignments of districts to groupings are appropriate and what impact alternative groupings would have on the DSA allocations.

Incorporate New Adjustments for Low-Income Students and English Learners into the DSA to Ensure Equity across Districts

Recommendation 5 – Embed the Pupil-Weighted Adjustments for Low Income and EL Students As Well As Scale/Density into the DSA through the BSR

As mentioned in Chapter 2, Nevada's current funding system does not include funding adjustments for the additional costs associated with serving low-income students or English learners. Moreover, Nevada is generally not in line with the rest of the country being one of 14 states that does not adjust funding to account for the needs of low-income students and one of only 8 that doesn't account for the additional cost of English learners. As low-income students and English learners are widely accepted in the mainstream education finance literature to be associated with higher educational costs, it is our strong recommendation that funding adjustments be incorporated into the current funding system to account for these student need cost factors.

Table 5.1 – Enrollment and Student Density (Number of Students Per Square Mile) in									
Nevada Districts									
Districts	Group	Group Description	Enrollment	Density					
Churchill	1	Centralized	4,206	0.85					
Douglas	1	Centralized	6,591	9.29					
Carson City	1	Centralized	7,761	53.65					
Lyon	1	Centralized	8,765	4.38					
Lander	2	Rural	1,136	0.21					
White Pine	2	Rural	1,442	0.16					
Humboldt	2	Rural	3,401	0.35					
Nye	2	Rural	6,170	0.34					
Elko	2	Rural	9,422	0.55					
Storey	3	Small	447	1.70					
Mineral	3	Small	571	0.15					
Pershing	3	Small	719	0.12					
Lincoln	3	Small	1,005	0.09					
Esmeralda	4	Very Small	67	0.02					
Eureka	4	Very Small	259	0.06					
Clark	5	Large	64,838	10.29					
Washoe	5	Large	307,059	38.91					

The analysis in Chapter 3 provided examples of the adjustments used in other states to account for the additional costs associated with serving low income students, English language learners, and those students in districts of varying sizes and degree of remoteness, which could be adopted by Nevada. Furthermore, the Formula Adjustment Simulator (FAS) introduced in Chapter 4 and delivered with this report shows explicitly how to incorporate these alternative adjustments. Specifically, the FAS was developed to provide a flexible tool that can easily provide real-time analysis of the effects of various funding adjustments on projected funding to districts. It should be noted that the FAS is a strict *distributor* of existing funding so that whatever combination of adjustments chosen for the various cost factors, a fiscally neutral BSR is generated that represents an equitable allocation of funding across districts that takes into account the main factors thought to impact differences in educational costs. We strongly suggest that Nevada makes use of this tool both to select and implement funding adjustments for low-income students and English learners that are palatable in terms of being both practical and politically acceptable.

Other Recommendations

Recommendation 6 – Review How Categorical Funding Might Be Used More Flexibly

Many states including California are seriously considering the implementation of new weighted student funding formulas that focus on directing resources equitably to local school districts to capture differences in the factors affecting educational costs. While improving the equity by which funds are distributed to district, this approach also increases the flexibility of how these funds are used in contrast to the approach implied by categorical funding which tends to be targeted to specific student populations. Tied to this greater flexibility is also greater accountability for results. Rather than focusing efforts on the compliance mentality that emphasizes tracking exactly how dollars are targeted to specific student populations, the accountability focuses on outcomes broken down into more detailed categories of student need. We therefore recommend that a panel be convened to review how existing categorical funding might be used more flexibly with greater accountability in place tied to improvement in outcomes for specific subpopulations of students. The suggested review could lead to a consolidation of some categorical funding that might be subsumed within the Basic Support Guarantee, providing greater flexibility on how this funding is used linked to stronger accountability for achieving results.

Recommendations for Funding Special Education

Documenting How Special Education is Funded

Recommendation 7 – Document the Current Approach to Funding Special Education

If Nevada decides to maintain its current approach to funding special education, it will need to document fully and in detail the processes and procedures currently being used to allocate special education units to districts and charter schools. We asked representatives of the Nevada Department of Education (NVDOE) for documentation and little concrete information was forthcoming. There seemed to be conflict among the NVDOE representatives as to whether the original assignment of units was based on total enrollment (special and non-special education combined) or total enrollment of students identified as eligible for special education services (whether we included or excluded gifted students). Our analysis also showed wide variations in the number of special education pupils per unit across districts, regardless of whether or not we included gifted students in the count. At the very least, this suggests a weak link between special education funding for special education services. Documentation of the procedures for allocating special education units to districts should not only be made readily available, but should be based on a respectable assessment of the relative needs of students being served. If the unit approach is to be retained, the unit values need to be more precisely defined in the

documentation and the elements (e.g., average compensation levels of licensed special education staff) included in determining these values should be calculated using updated data.

Establish One or More Panels to Consider Special Education Funding Policy Recommendations

Recommendation 8 - Consider One of the Four Special Education Funding Options

The state should consider one of the four options proposed by AIR in the context of its policy objectives for serving special education students. Three of the options provide simple approaches that maintain fiscal neutrality and explicitly acknowledge the differential costs of serving students with disabilities based on an objective national source of data. The pupil weights proposed in these options should be updated through careful study that could be undertaken by the state to examine how much is being spent on special education services and how these expenditures are allocated among students by disability or other need category. These objective data could be used to develop weights that are unique to Nevada and that reflect the differences in the service models and organization of these special education services across the diverse groups of districts within the state. Such analysis could follow the structure of the DSA model in which staffing and expenditure data are grouped according to district size/density (i.e., the well-known five groupings of districts used in the DSA).

Recommendation 9 - Separate Funding for Gifted Students

We recommend that funding for gifted and special education students be separated to follow the federal IDEIA law supporting funding for students with disabilities. This division of the funding approach between gifted and students with disabilities would follow the existing federal law which is primarily focused on the latter category of students. Moreover, this approach would permit analysis and funding priorities to differentiate between these diverse groups of students. The variation in the identification of gifted students across districts found in Chapter 4 (see section *The Impact of Adding Gifted Students*) also suggests quite varied approaches to defining what constitutes a gifted student. It would seem more productive to provide districts with the flexibility to identify gifted students in a way that reflects the diversity and unique talents that exist in almost any student population. Giftedness can reveal itself in a multitude of ways and currently there is no literature of which we are aware that provides any solid data on what the additional costs are to educate a gifted child.

Recommendation 10 -Study Census-Based Funding

We recommend that a state appointed panel to explore the viability of employing a censusbased approach to special education funding combined with a contingency fund to help support the costs of services for severely disabled children and who require extraordinarily high-cost services. The census-based approach greatly reduces, if not eliminates, any incentives for over identifying children with disabilities and for inappropriately classifying them into high cost categories. It also creates incentives for more inclusive approaches to serving students with disabilities in the *least restrictive environment* and in finding creative ways through funding flexibility to ameliorate learning deficits through RTI or pre-referral services (i.e., services that occur prior to identification of a child as eligible for special education). A second part of this recommendation is to establish a contingency fund (a risk management fund, if you will) that reduces the likelihood that one or a few high-cost children with disabilities could cause excessive financial strain or even bankruptcy on small districts, who are less able to absorb such costs. An example of how this might look is presented in Chapter 4 (see section *Census-Based Model Combined with a Catastrophic Aid Program*). The panel we recommend would explore ways of setting aside state or federal funds that may be used to support these contingency programs and determine how evaluating specific high-cost students would be conducted by districts, what the eligibility guidelines are for applying for additional support from the contingency fund, and the amount of funding districts would receive for educating students with various high-cost disabilities.

Recommendation 11 – Integration of Special Education into the DSA

Rather than treating special education funding as a separate revenue stream, special education could be integrated into the DSA model in the same manner as we have suggested for low-income and English learner students. This could make use of district-by-district or grouped weights using as a starting point the weights presented from the Special Expenditure Education Project (SEEP) study. Eventually, Nevada's own weights could be developed via the proposed project in Recommendation 2, above. An appropriate set of weights could be built into the FAS model described earlier in this report and the funding set aside for special education could be integrated into the Basic Support Guarantee funding per-pupil.

Recommendation 12 – Funding Sufficiency

Further work on special education should be done to obtain an estimate of how much districts are spending to education students with disabilities and/or gifted students. The importance of this is to assess the extent to which federal, state and local funds are providing even minimally sufficient funds to support services. Our estimates suggest that the special education allocations are substantially below what we believe to be reasonable estimates of spending on special education services.

References

Chapter 1 References

- Brimley, V., Verstegen, D. A., & Garfield, R. (2012). *Financing Education in a Climate of Change*. New York, NY: Pearson
- Parrish, T. B., & Verstegen, D. A. (1994). Fiscal Provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act: Policy Issues and Alternatives. (Policy Paper No. 3). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, Center for Special Education Finance.
- Rossmiller, R. A., Hale, J. A. & Frohreich, L. E. *Educational Programs for Exceptional Children: Resource Configurations and Costs.* National Education Finance Project, Special Study No. 2. Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin, August 1970.
- Verstegen, D. A. (2011). Public education finance systems in the United States and funding policies for populations with special educational needs. *Education Policy Analysis Archives.* 19(21). http:epaa.asu.edu/ojs/article/view/769.
- Verstegen, D. A. (1994). Fiscal Provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act: Historical Overview. (Policy Paper No. 2). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, Center for Special Education Finance.
- Verstegen, D. A. (2002). Financing adequacy: Towards new models of education finance that support standards-based reform. *Journal of Education Finance*, 27(3), 749-781.
- Verstegen, D. A., & Jordan, T. S. (2009). A fifty-state survey of school finance policies and programs: An overview. *Journal of Education Finance*, *34*(3), 212-230.
- Verstegen, D. A. and Barclay, N. (2012). A Quick Glance at School Finance: A 50 State Survey of School Finance Policies and Programs Vol. I: State by State Descriptions. Vol. II: Finance Formulae and Cost Differentials. Retrieved from http:schoolfinances.info (June 2012).
- Verstegen, D. A. & Knoeppel, R. C. (2011). Financing Education into the Next Decade: A 50-State Survey of Finance Policies and Programs. National Education Finance Conference, Tampa, FL, May, 2011.
- Verstegen, D. A. & Knoeppel, R. C. (Winter 2012). Statehouse to Schoolhouse: Finance Apportionment Systems Across the United States. Journal of Education Finance, in press.
- Wisconsin Legislative Fiscal Bureau (January, 2007). *State Aid to School Districts* (Informational Paper 27). Madison, WI: State Capitol.

Chapter 2 References

Chapter 3 References

- Chambers, J.G. (1998). *Geographic Variations in Public Schools Costs* (NCES 98-04). U.S. Department of Education. Washington, DC: National Center for Education Statistics Working Paper.
- Chambers, J.G., Pérez, M., & Socias, M. (2004). *Explaining variations in expenditures for students with disabilities: Comparing the roles of the IDEA disability categories and the ABILITIES index.* Manuscript submitted for publication.
- Chambers, Jay G., María Pérez, Jenifer J. Harr., and Jamie Shkolnik, Special Education Spending Estimates From 1969–2000 (2005). Journal of Special Education Leadership 18(1), April 2005, pp. 5-13.
- Duncombe, W., and Yinger, J. (2008). *Measurement of cost differentials*. In E. Fiske and H.F. Ladd (Eds.), *Handbook of research in education finance and policy* (pp. 239–256). New York: Routledge.
- Kakalik, J.S., Furry, W.S., Thomas, M.A., & Carney, M.F. (1981). *The cost of special education*. Santa Monica, CA: The Rand Corporation.
- Moore, M.T., Strang, E.W., Schwartz, M., & Braddock, M. (1988). *Patterns in special education service delivery and cost.* Washington, DC: Decision Resources Corporation.
- Rossmiller, R.A., Hale, J.A., & Frohreich, L.E. (1970). *Resource configurations and costs* (National Educational Finance Project, Special Study No. 2). Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin, Department of Educational Administration.
- Ruggles, S., Sobek, M., Alexander, T., Fitch, C., Goeken, R., Hall, P., King, M., and Ronnander, C. (2004). *Integrated public use microdata series: Version 3.0* [machine-readable database]. Minneapolis, MN: Minnesota Population Center. Retrieved from: http://www.ipums.org.
- Taylor, L., and Fowler, W. (2006). *A comparable wage approach to geographic cost adjustment*. Research and Development Report from U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, NCES 2006-321.

Chapter 4 References

Taylor, L., and Fowler, W. (2006). *A comparable wage approach to geographic cost adjustment*. Research and Development Report from U.S. Department of Education, Institute of Education Sciences, NCES 2006-321. ^{iv} William Dean McClurkin, *Public Education in Nevada: A Survey Report* (Nashville, TN: George Peabody College for Teachers, Division of Survey and Field Services, 1954),

[∗] <mark>Ibid</mark>

^{vi} Ibid, p. vii

^{vii} <mark>Stetler 1959 p.12</mark>

^{viii} Sawyer, 1963

^{*}National Center for Education Statistics, "Digest of Education Statistics," *Institute of Education Sciences*, 2011, http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/2011menu_tables.asp.

^x Bittman Dissertation

^{xi} John Augenblick, et. al., "Estimating the Cost of an Adequate Education in Nevada", (Denver, Colorado: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, 2006)

^{xii} K. Forbis Jordan and Teresa S. Lyons, *Financing Education in an Era of Change*, (Bloomington IN: Phi Delta Kappa 1990).

^{xiii} John Augenblick, et. al., "Estimating the Cost of an Adequate Education in Nevada", (Denver, Colorado: Augenblick, Palaich and Associates, 2006)

^{xiv} Bruce D. Baker, David G. Sciarra, and Danielle Farrie, "Is School Funding Fair? A National Report Card," *School Funding Fairness*, last modified September 2010,

http://www.schoolfundingfairness.org/National Report Card 2010.pdf.

^{xv} Robert Alan Bennett, "An Analysis of Nevada's Public School Funding System" (unpublished Ed.D. dissertation, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 2003).

^{xvi} Adequacy Study p.105

^{xvii}National Education Association, "Rankings & Estimates," NEA Research, December 2011,

http://www.nea.org/assets/docs/NEA_Rankings_And_Estimates_FINAL_20120209.pdf.

^{xviii} Bruce D. Baker, David G. Sciarra, and Danielle Farrie, "Is School Funding Fair? A National Report Card," *School Funding Fairness*, last modified September 2010,

http://www.schoolfundingfairness.org/National Report Card 2010.pdf

^{xix} Ibid. p.7

^{xx}Wordle-Beautiful Word Clouds, (www.wordle.net).

^{xxi} Nevada Revised Statutes, 2011, 387.121

^{xxii} Deborah *A. Verstegen, "*Quick Glance at School Finance: A 50 State Survey of School Finance Policies and Programs Vol. I: State by State Descriptions", 2011, http:schoolfinances.info.

^{xxiii} Allan R. Odden and Lawrence O. Picus, *School Finance: A Policy Perspective*, 4th edition, (New York, NY: McGraw-Hill, 2008).

^{xxiv} Nevada Revised Statutes, 2011, 387.121

^{xxv} Robert Alan Bennett, "An Analysis of Nevada's Public School Funding System" (unpublished Ed.D. dissertation, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 2003).

^{xxvi} Nevada State Department of Education Administrative and Fiscal Services "The Nevada Plan: Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 387.121: Guaranteed Per Pupil Level of Educational Financial Support." (2011).

^{xxvii} Nevada Department of Education *DSA Module 10* 2010-11.

^{xxviii} Ibid.

xxix Quality Counts

XXX

^{xxxi} Tom Parish and Larisa Shambaugh, "Analysis of Special Education Funding in Nevada", (Washington D.C.: American Institute of Research, 2009).

^{xxxii} Nevada State Department of Education, "THE NEVADA PLAN: Nevada Revised Statutes (NRS) 387.121 Guaranteed per Pupil Level of Educational Financial Support", (2011).

ⁱ Comment from participant at stakeholders meeting with Nevada district superintendents, NASA, Lake Tahoe, Nevada, June 18, 2012.

ⁱⁱ Robert Alan Bennett, "An Analysis of Nevada's Public School Funding System" (unpublished Ed.D. dissertation, University of Nevada, Las Vegas, 2003

ⁱⁱⁱ Ibid, p.61

^{xxxiii} Ibid p. <mark>XX</mark>

^{xxxiv} XXX.

^{xxxx} Vernon Brimley and Deborah A. Verstegen, *Financing Education in a Climate of Change*, (New York, NY: Pearson, 2012).

xxxvi XXX need reference for % taxes from different sources

xxxvii Paul Takahashi, "With Pink Slips Looming, Arbitration Victory is Bittersweet for Teachers Union, Las Vegas Sun, August 6, 2012.

^{xoxviii} Bruce D Baker, Preston Green and Craig E. Richards, *Financing Education Systems*, (Upper Saddle River, NJ: Pearson, 2008).

^{xxxix} NRS 374.015

^{×I} Ibid.

^{×li} *Ibid*, p. <mark>XX</mark>

^{xlii} Pepper Sturm 2012 report

^{xliii} Julia Teska, e-mail to Jesse Levin, June 29, 2011.

^{xliv} Nevada Revised Statutes 387.440

^{xiv} Deborah A. Verstegen, "Quick Glance at School Finance: A 50 State Survey of School Finance Policies and Programs Vol. I: State by State Descriptions", 2011, http:schoolfinances.info.

x^{ivi} Jay G. Chambers and Jesse D. Levin, "Determining the Cost of Providing an Adequate Education for All Students" (Washington, DC: National Education Association, 2009). ^{xlvii} "Stakeholders Meeting with Nevada District Superintendents", NASA, (Lake Tahoe, Nevada, June 18, 2012).

xIVIII Cy Ryan, "School District Seeks Study on Actual Cost of Educating Students" Las Vegas Sun, March 14,2011, http://www.lasvegassun.com/news/2011/mar/14/school-district-seeks-study-actual-cost-educating-/

xlix Bruce D. Baker, David G. Sciarra, and Danielle Farrie, "Is School Funding Fair? A National Report Card," School Funding Fairness, last modified September 2010,

http://www.schoolfundingfairness.org/National Report Card 2010.pdf

¹ Comments from stakeholders meeting with Nevada district superintendents, NASA, Lake Tahoe, Nevada, June 18, 2012.

^{II} K. Forbis Jordan and Teresa S. Lyons, *Financing Education in an Era of Change*, (Bloomington IN: Phi Delta Kappa 1990).

^{lii} Ibid. p. 26.

iii Nevada Department of Education, "A Guide to No Child Left Behind & Adequate Yearly Progress Analyses in Nevada," (2007), http://nde.doe.nv.gov/APAC.htm

^{liv} In\$ite

^{Iv} Fiscal Analysis Division: Legislative Counsel Bureau, "The Nevada Plan For School Finance: An Overview", (2011 Legislative Session)

^{Ivi} Verstegen D. A. (2011). A Fifty State Survey of School Finance Policies and Programs. www.schoolfinances.info. Data were collected from the chief finance officer or their designee in all fifty states for 2010-2011, formatted and posted for peer review and verification on the web. Changes were incorporated and uploaded to the website. For previous work, using 2007 data see: Verstegen, D. A. Public Education Finance Systems in the United States and Funding Policies for Populations with Special Educational Needs. Education Policy Analysis Archives, North America, 19, Jul. 2011. Available at: <<u>http://epaa.asu.edu/_ojs/article/view/769</u>>. Date accessed: 05 June. 2012. See also, Verstegen, D. A. & Jordan, T. S. (2009). A Fifty-State Survey of School Finance Policies and Programs: An Overview. Journal of Education Finance, 34(3), 212-230.

^{Ivii} See: Verstegen, D. A. & Knoeppel, R. C. (Winter 2012). Statehouse to Schoolhouse: Education Finance Apportionment Systems in the United States. *Journal of Education Finance*, in press.

^{Will} Brimley, V. D., Verstegen, D. A., & Garfield, R. (2012). *Financing Education in a Climate of Change*. N.Y.: Pearson Inc.

^{lix} While \$5,196 is the figure reported on the 50-state survey, the Distributive School Account Model (DSA) lists \$5,192 as the legislatively approved total support level per-pupil (see DSA Module 2).

^{ix} Currently 2.6% of sales tax is provided for public education through the Local School Support Tax (LSST).

^{lxi} Verstegen, D. A. (2004). Towards a Theory of Adequacy: The Continuing Saga of Equal Educational Opportunity in the Context of State Constitutional Challenges to School Finance Systems. Saint Louis University Public Law Review, 33(2), 499-530. Verstegen, D. A. (2002). Financing Adequacy: Towards New Models of Education Finance That Support Standards-Based Reform. Journal of Education Finance, 27(3), pp. 749-781. Verstegen, D. A. (1998). Judicial Analysis During the New Wave of School Finance Litigation: The New Adequacy in Education. Journal of Education Finance, 24 (1), 51-68.

ixii Verstegen, D. A. (2002). Financing Adequacy: Towards New Models of Education Finance That Support Standards-Based Reform. Journal of Education Finance, 27(3), pp. 749-781.

^{lxiii} Parrish, T. and Verstegen, D. A. (1994). Fiscal Provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act: Policy Issues and Alternatives. (Policy Paper No. 3). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, Center for Special Education Finance. For seminal work on special education costs see: Rossmiller, R. A., Hale, J. A. & Frohreich, L.E. (August 1970). Educational Programs for Exceptional Children: Resource Configurations and Costs. National Education Finance Project, Special Study No. 2, Madison, WI: University of Wisconsin. Verstegen, D. A. (1994). Fiscal Provisions of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act: Historical Overview. (Policy Paper No. 2). Palo Alto, CA: American Institutes for Research, Center for Special Education Finance.

^{lxiv} See also: Grider, A. & Verstegen, D. A. (2000). Legislation, Litigation and Rural & Small Schools: A Survey of the States. Journal of Education Finance, vol. 26, no. 1, pp. 103-120.

^{lxv} Note the inclusion of Nevada in this statement simply reflects how the Nevada Department of Education responded to the survey item (specifically, that funding for Gifted and Talented programs "does not apply"). However, the authors acknowledge that the state does provide some funding for G&T technology, as well as allows special education funding to be used for G&T students. Nevertheless, it does not have a separate programmatic funding stream G&T students.

^{ixvi} Baker, B.D. (2005) The Emerging Shape of Educational Adequacy: From Theoretical Assumptions to Empirical Evidence. Journal of Education Finance 30 (3) 277-305.

^{lxvii} The Herfindahl Index is used to measure the within-district concentration of the schooling market. The index ranges from 0 to 1 where lower values denote a lower market concentration where the proportion of districtwide enrollment is more evenly shared across schools, while higher values indicate that there is a more uneven distribution of enrollment share across schools in the district.

^{txviii} Although within categories of these dimensions, there are states that are similar across multiple dimensions (e.g., Colorado with respect to student needs, Florida with respect to regional characteristics, etc.) ^{kix} See Bruce D. Baker, David G. Sciarra, and Danielle Farrie, "Is School Funding Fair? A National Report Card,"

School Funding Fairness, last modified September 2010,

http://www.schoolfundingfairness.org/National Report Card 2010.pdf.

** "Statistically significant" implies that the estimated relationships were larger than would be expected simply by chance. The conventional 5%-significance level was used to make these determinations.

^{lxxi} The profiles for each state were created by predicting the enrollment category-specific implicit scale/density funding weight value for the district with average density within each category.

^{txxii} The additional complexity is due to the fact that the model accounts for enrollment in terms of categorical indicators denoting enrollment ranges and interacts these with a measure of student density.

^{Ixxiii} See Chambers et al (2004).

For a good overview of the main methods used in the costing-out literature the reader is referred to the report by Chambers and Levin, "Determining the Cost of Providing an Adequate Education for All Students" (Washington, DC: National Education Association, 2009).

^{hxx} The development of the CWI actually dates back to a more detailed analysis of the geographic cost of education index (GCEI) developed by Chambers (insert lists of years for citations here). Dr. Taylor's CWI provided a more readily available and simplified and easily understood approach to measuring geographic differences in labor market costs than Chambers original GCEI.

^{lxxvi} See for example, Rothstein and Smith (1997), Guthrie and Rothstein (1999), Goldhaber (1999), Alexander et al. (2000), Taylor et al. (2002), and Stoddard (2005). ^{Ixxvii} [reference: Documentation for the NCES Comparable Wage Index Data Files May 2006, Lori L. Taylor Bush

School of Government and Public Service Texas A&M University Mark C. Glander K-Force Government Solutions William J. Fowler, Jr. Project Officer National Center for Education Statistics, , page 3]

^{lxxviii} A more detailed description of the steps involved in calculating the DSA Scale-Only Adjustment is contained in Chapter 4.

^{lxxix} We have access to no data on actual average compensation levels for classified personnel, so we felt teacher salaries would be a reasonable and close approximation to be used for this purpose. This component could be made more accurate if we had actual average compensation levels by district for classified personnel.

^{IXXX} The figure used in the FAS was taken from cell D10 of the InputOutput worksheet of most recent version of DSA Module 2 (DSA-2-Module.xls).

^{lxxxi} It is important to note that the intention of the model is to provide simulations of different funding adjustments accounting for cost factors related to geographic differences in resource price levels, poverty, English learners, and scale/density (excluding transportation) and does not address how the projected district allocations are shared between local and state burden, which are dealt with in DSA Modules 8 and 9.

^{lxxxii} Unit Value =\$39,768. The unit value is dollar amount allotted to each special education unit. This is calculated as the total allocation for special education (\$121,252,632) divided by the total number of special education units (3,049).

bxxiii Special Education in Nevada, February 2009. For this information, we are relying heavily on conversations with Michael Alastuey, Director of Public Policy at Applied Analysis and former Deputy Director at the Nevada State **Budget Office**

bxxxiv Special Education in Nevada, February 2009. This information on the unit value was based on a phone conversation with Michael Alastuey, former Deputy Director at the Nevada State Budget. This unit method was develop in the 1980's and each distributed unit was approximately equivalent to the average salary and benefits of a licensed teacher.

^{lxxxv} That the assignment of units was based on total enrollment came from a telephone conversations with Mike Alastuey, former Deputy Director at the Nevada State Budget.

^{lxxxvi} See Chambers et al (2004).

^{kxxxvii} For example, Carson City's mental retardation count is 17, which is multiplied by its SEEP weight of 2.3, and the same is done for the other disability categories for a weighted special education enrollment of 1,058 students. Carson City's special education allocation is \$2,193,332 (1,058 disability-based weighted enrollment multiplied by \$2,470 per weight pupil amount). ^{booxviii} The introduction to the report to President Bush, states:

'Of those with "specific learning disabilities," 80% are there simply because they haven't learned how to read. Thus, many children identified for special education—up to 40%—are there because they weren't taught to read. The reading difficulties may not be their only area of difficulty, but it's the area that resulted in special education placement. Sadly, few children placed in special education close the achievement gap to a point where they can read and learn like their peers.'

Excerpt taken from A New Era: Revitalizing Special Education for Children and their Families, report of the President's Commission on Excellence in Special Education (2002), available for download at http://www.ed.gov/inits/commissionsboards/whspecialeducation/index.html.

^{bxxxix} Data for this analysis draws on information published in the Journal of Special Education Leadership. ^{xc} If districts spend roughly 1.9 times on a special education student that they do on a regular education student and roughly 11.2% of the students are identified as special education (or 88.8% of the students are non-special education), then the average portion of the budget spent on a special education student amounts to 19.3 percent [equal to 1-{88.8/(88.8+1.9*11.2)}].

^{xci} See http://nces.ed.gov/programs/digest/d11/tables/dt11 185.asp. Total current spending in Nevada amounted to \$3.61 billion.

^{xcii} http://www.whitehouse.gov/sites/default/files/omb/budget/fy2012/assets/topics.pdf table 18-15

Appendices

Appendix A – District Groupings in the Distributive School Account (DSA) Model

Table X.1 - Distri DSA	ct Group	ings from the
School District	Group	Group Description
Carson City	1	Centralized
Churchill	1	Centralized
Douglas	1	Centralized
Lyon	1	Centralized
Elko	2	Rural
Humboldt	2	Rural
Nye	2	Rural
Lander	2	Small
White Pine	2	Small
Lincoln	3	Small
Mineral	3	Small
Pershing	3	Small
Storey	3	Small
Esmeralda	4	Very Small
Eureka	4	Very Small
Clark	5	Large
Washoe	5	Large

Appendix B – Teacher Allotment Table in Distributive School Account (DSA) Model

	ELEMENT	ARY Attendance Areas	5		SECONDARY Attendance Areas				
Enrol Rar	llment nges	Factor: 0>136 Divisor: 136>300,000		Enrol Rar	lment Iges	Factor: 0>136 Divisor: 136>300,000			
Greater than or Equal to	Less Than or Equal to	Teacher Allotments	Number AA's in Range	Greater than or Equal to	Less Than or Equal to	Teacher Allotments	Number AA's in Range		
0	0.3	-							
0.40	12	1.0	<u>7</u>	- 0.00001	0.0001	-			
13	27	2.0	<u>10</u>	0.001	45	5.0	<u>3</u>		
28	44	4.0	<u>7</u>	46	65	6.0	<u>3</u>		
45	65	6.0	<u>2</u>	66	104	9.0	<u>2</u>		
66	88	8.0	<u>4</u>	105	145	11.0	<u>8</u>		
89	135	9.0	<u>9</u>	146	190	13.0	<u>2</u>		
136	189	15.00	<u>6</u>	191	260	14.00	<u>2</u>		
190	230	16.00	<u>2</u>	261	450	15.00	<u>3</u>		
231	999	17.00	<u>14</u>	451	999	17.00	<u>11</u>		
1,000	2,999	18.25	<u>9</u>	1,000	2,799	19.00	<u>10</u>		
3,000	9,999	18.25	2	2,800	9,999	19.50	2		
10,000	50,000	18.25	<u>1</u>	10,000	50,000	20.25	<u>1</u>		
50,001	300,000	18.50	<u>1</u>	50,001	300,000	21.50	<u>1</u>		



Appendix D – Special Education Policies and Programs by State

Alabama

Some additional funding is provided for catastrophic expenditures and preschool special education. Grade divisors in the Foundation Program are adjusted to provide additional teaching units for special education. The grade level divisors are adjusted by a weight of 2.5 applied to 5% of ADM count.

Alaska

Vocational education, special education (except intensive special education), gifted/talented education, and bilingual/bicultural education are block funded. A district must file a plan with the department indicating the special needs services that will be provided, Section 14.17.420(2)(b), to qualify for special needs funding.

Arizona

Funding is provided through 11 weighted categories per the table included below. Additional M&O budget capacity could be given if district/charter is eligible for Federal impact aid revenues.

Weights for Special Education Programs

Hearing Impairment	4.771
К-3	0.060
English Learners (ELL)	0.115
MD-R, A-R, and SMR-R (2)	6.024
MD-SC, A-SC and SMR-SC (3)	5.833
Multiple Disabilities Severe Sensory Impairment	7.947
Orthopedic Impairment (Resource)	3.158
Orthopedic Impairment (Self Contained)	6.773
Preschool-Severe Delayed	3.595
ED, MIMR, SLD, SLI, & OHI (4)	0.003
Emotionally Disabled (Private)	4.822
Moderate Mental Retardation	4.421
Visual Impairment	4.806

Arkansas

In 2004, the Arkansas General Assembly reformulated public school funding at the direction of the Arkansas Supreme Court to devise a funding system to assure school "adequacy". Although Arkansas Special Education funding based on weighted averages had been abolished in the mid-1990s, this approach was actually reconsidered during the discussions of school funding adequacy for special populations, including students with disabilities, English language learners, students in Alternative Learning Environments, and high poverty students.

Ultimately, the funding adequacy needs of these special populations were addressed through categorical funding systems providing state aid in addition to that provided through the basic Foundation Formula. For Special Education, the General Assembly increased the funding levels of existing state line item appropriations to reimburse districts for specific types of excess costs associated with providing services. These include annual targeted Catastrophic Occurrences aid for individual high cost/high need students, reimbursement for residentially placed students, and reimbursement for students with disabilities receiving extended school year services.

California

California provides \$3.1 billion in state funding for special education programs for individuals with exceptional needs. The special education funding model apportions state aid to local educational agencies (LEAs based on their ADA; the per-ADA funding rates are recomputed annually). The funding model is based on the assumption that, over reasonably large geographic areas, the incidence of disabilities is relatively uniformly distributed. The model also provides funding adjustments to compensate for those areas in which there are concentrations of special education students with high-cost, low-incidence disabilities. Funding for special education may be apportioned directly to an LEA or to the administrative unit of the special education local plan area (SELPA with which it is affiliated. Entitlements are calculated by multiplying the SELPA's base funding rate by the prior-year funded K–12 ADA for each school district, county office of education, and charter school in the SELPA). Funding is adjusted for changes in ADA.

Colorado

Special Education

(Article 20 of Title 22, CRS)

The State Exceptional Children's Act (ECEA) outlines administrative unit (school districts and boards of cooperative educational services) responsibilities for providing special education programs for children with disabilities. The Act recognizes the need to provide educational opportunities to all children, and the benefits of providing a continuum of services in the least restrictive environment.

In budget year 2010-11, Colorado administrative units will serve approximately 83,000 students with disabilities, or about 10% of the total pupil enrollment. Administrative units will provide services to children between the ages of three and twenty-one who, by reason of one or more of the following conditions, are unable to receive reasonable benefit from general education: long-term physical impairment or illness, significant limited intellectual capacity, significant identifiable emotional disorder, specific learning disability, or speech or language impairment.

State ECEA funding of special education programs for children with disabilities is \$127.4 million for budget year 2010-11.

• Five hundred thousand dollars is available to administrative units specifically for costs incurred for children with disabilities that live in eligible facilities within their boundaries, and for whom (a) parental rights have been relinquished by the parents; (b) parental rights have been terminated by the court; (c) parents are incarcerated; (d) parents cannot be located; (e)

parents reside out of state, but the Department of Human Services has placed the children within the boundaries of the administrative unit;, or (f) the children are legally emancipated.

• Four million dollars will be available for grants to administrative units for reimbursement of high costs incurred in providing special education services in the preceding school year. High costs are defined as the costs incurred by an administrative unit above a threshold amount.

The remaining amount will be distributed as follows:

- Administrative units will receive \$1,250 for each child reported by the administrative unit on December 1 of the previous year.
- Administrative units will receive up to an additional \$6,000 for each child reported on its previous December 1 count with the following disabilities: vision disability, hearing disability, deaf-blind, significant identifiable emotional disability, autism, traumatic brain injury, multiple disabilities, and significant limited intellectual capacity. This amount will be prorated based on the amount of the remaining appropriation.
- State ECEA moneys can be used to pay for the salaries of special education instructional and support personnel, purchased services (including tuition payments to other administrative units and eligible facilities), supplies and equipment.

In budget year 2010-11, i total special education costs will equal roughly \$825 million. State funding covers roughly 15.4% of special education costs; federal funding covers an additional 28.3% of these costs; and local sources of funding cover the remaining 56.3% of the costs.

Connecticut

Since 1995-96, the state's primary contribution to general special education is through the Education Cost Sharing (ECS) formula described under **Description of Formula**. The ECS foundation reflects the cost of regular education and general education. In addition, the students used in the ECS grant determination include both regular education and special education.

The state also supports extraordinary special education costs through its Excess Costs grant, which funds 100 percent of student-based special education costs in excess of established thresholds. For children affected by state agencies, e.g., foster students and judicial placements, the state pays in excess of the district's prior year average cost per student (including regular and special education). For all other special education placements, the state pays 100 percent of the costs in excess of 4.5 times the prior year's average cost per student (including regular and special education). These grants may be proportionately reduced to stay within the legislatively approved appropriation.

Delaware

Funding is provided through instructional units. Units for 12 categories are provided, ranging in size from four pupils per unit to 15 pupils per unit.

The State is phasing in a needs based funding system for special education students. Funding is based on three categories: basic, intensive, and complex with unit sizes of 8.4, 6.0, and 2.6.

Florida

In Florida, services for Exceptional Student Education (ESE) students (students identified as gifted and students identified as disabled) are funded through the FEFP. Exceptional education services for most students are funded through the ESE Guaranteed Allocation. For those ESE students requiring the most intensive services, funding is weighted by cost factors in accordance with level of need. Please see Section 1011.62 (1)(e), F.S., for an outline of the funding model for ESE programs. Approximately 88 percent of the total expenditures for students with disabilities are funded through state and local programs.

Since July 1, 2000, approximately 95 percent of ESE students have generated base funding at the same level as non-disabled students. These students are reported under basic programs 111(grades PK-3 basic with ESE services), 112 (grades 4-8 basic with ESE services), or 113 (grades 9-12 basic with ESE services). These programs have the same cost factors as basic programs 101, 102, and 103. A portion of funding for students in these programs is generated by multiplying the base student allocation by the program cost factor. For 2010-11, the base student allocation is \$3,623.76. The approximate base weighted funding amounts generated by students in basic programs for 2010-11 are:

Grades PK-3 Basic	\$3,946.27	(\$3,623.76 x 1.089)
Grades 4-8 Basic	\$3 <i>,</i> 623.76	(\$3,623.76 x 1.000)
Grades 9-12 Basic	\$3,736.10	(\$3,623.76 x 1.031)

In order to fund exceptional education and related services (including therapies) for these students, an Exceptional Student Education Guaranteed Allocation was established by the Legislature in addition to the basic funding. The guaranteed allocation is a fixed amount provided each district. For the current school year (2010-11) the ESE Guaranteed Allocation appropriation is \$980,571,070.

For the remaining five percent of students with disabilities (those with the most intense needs), funding is determined using a matrix of services. Consistent with the services identified on the Individual Educational Plan, matrices are completed by checking all the services that will be provided to the student. Students with the two highest matrix ratings (254 and 255) generate base weighted funding as follows:

Support Level 4 (254)	\$12,766.51	(\$3,623.76 x 3.523)
Support Level 5 (255)	\$17 <i>,</i> 883.26	(\$3,623.76 x 4.935)

The ESE matrix of services consists of five support levels and five domains: curriculum and learning environment, social/emotional behavior, independent functioning, healthcare, and communication. See "Use of the Exceptional Student Education Matrix of Services" at http://fldoe.org/ese/pdf/matrixnu.pdf/

Georgia

Funding is provided through foundation program for six weighted categories for special education. The weights range from 2.3960 to 5.8253 depending on the type of disability and service and program provided to the pupil.

Special Education Category	Weight
Category I	2.3960
Category II	2.8189
Category III	3.5193
Category IV	5.8253
Category V	2.4597

Hawaii

State funding for special education increased dramatically between FY 2000 and FY 2008, primarily due to a federal court decree. Hawaii's public school system also receives Federal funding for special education as part of the Individuals with Disabilities Education Improvement Act of 2004 (IDEA).

State funding within the statewide school district is weighted per student, based on a comprehensive special education database. This database tracks every special education student, school-by-school, with information from each student's Individualized Education Program (IEP). The relative intensity of specially designed instruction for each student is then weighted according to the following categories, identifying the number of hours per week of special instruction or supports needed:

- Intermittent support
- Targeted support
- Sustained support
- Intensive support

The information is compiled in the special education database, and state resources are allocated school-by-school based on the weighted calculations. The functionality of this database has been looked upon by other school districts as a state-of-the-art implementation of technology to track special education needs and weighted resource allocation, particularly for the size of the Hawaii statewide public school district, which ranks as one of the top 10 largest school districts in the nation.

Idaho

The foundation program provided salaries and benefits (employer obligations for retirement and FICA) of ancillary personnel (special education teachers, psychologists, psychological examiners, therapists, and social workers) through an instructional staff allowance ratio of 0.1 per support unit.

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

The state formula shifts 6% of K-6 ADA and 5.5% of 7-12 ADA to exceptional child ADA, which generally provides school districts and charter schools with additional support units.

Average Daily	Attendance Divisor	Minimum Units Allowed
Attendance		
14 or more	14.5	1 or more as computed
12 - 13.99	-	1
8 - 11.99	-	.75
4 - 7.99	-	.5
1 - 3.99	-	.25

Computation of Exceptional Education Support Units

Illinois

There are six state grants for funding special education. These are as follows:

1) Funding for Children Requiring Special Education Services – 85% of funding based on district ADA and 15% based on low-income counts reported in General State Aid

2) Special Education – Personnel Reimbursement – Grants are calculated at \$9,000 per full-time professional certified worker and \$3,500 per full-time non-certified worker.

3) Special Education – Private Tuition – Prior year costs are reimbursed based on the difference between \$4,500 and a district's per capita tuition costs per pupil in excess of \$4,500 plus a second per capita tuition charge.

4) Special Education – Summer School – Provides grants based on multiple formulas to assure educational services through the summer.

5) Special Education – Transportation – Described above under Transportation.

6) Special Education – Orphanage – Reimburses districts for the cost of special education services to children residing in state-owned facilities and with foster families. Any costs not covered by the current year appropriation must be covered by future years' appropriations.

Indiana

Does not apply.

lowa

Three levels of additional pupil FTE weighting, 0.72, 1.21, or 2.74, are available for students with IEPs. Which additional weighting applies to the student is determined by the level of services required on the IEP for special education instructional staff or supplemental aids and other services in the areas of required curriculum modification, specially designed instruction, amount of school personnel support and Least Restrictive Environment (LRE) efforts, and amount of supplementary aid or assistance necessary including assistive technology, instructional associates or specialized transportation.

Kansas

State provides 80% of special education transportation costs: \$25,850 (\$26,500 in 2007-08) estimated in categorical aid per instructional unit is also provided. That amount is paid on all certificated education teachers, while paraprofessionals are paid .4 or \$10,340 (10,600 in 2007-08) per fulltime paraprofessional.

Kentucky

Special Education is funded though an **Exceptional Child Add-on** to Kentucky's base funding mechanism. The base funding formula is determined based on the district's average daily attendance multiplied by a guaranteed amount per child established by the Kentucky General Assembly in the State's biennial budget. The Exceptional Child Add-on also uses this guaranteed amount per child. Kentucky's formula assigns one of three weights to each of the disability categories. Students with a Speech Language disability only have a weight of 0.24; disability categories of Orthopedically Impaired, Other Health Impaired, Specific Learning Disability, Developmentally Delayed and Mild Mental Disability have a weight of 1.17; and disability categories of Hearing Impaired, Visually Impaired, Emotional Behavior Disability, Deaf Blind, Multiple Disabilities, Autism, Traumatic Brain Injury and Functional Mental Disability have a weight of 2.35. The total count of students for each of these weight categories are summed and that categories total of children ages 5 through 20 is multiplied by its weight as noted above. The product of each categories assigned weight multiplied by its child count is then multiplied by the guaranteed base amount in the biennial budget. When these three products are combined that is the amount of the district's Exceptional Child Add-on funds.

Louisiana

Add-on weights - based on student characteristics recognizing the extra cost of instruction for certain categories of students or classes.

Special Education Students Other Exceptionalities (150%) Gifted and Talented (60%)

Maine

The State subsidizes 100% of approved Essential Programs and Services special education costs for all non-minimum subsidy receiving school districts.

Maryland

A funding level per special education student is calculated by taking 74% of the per pupil amount established in the Foundation Program. The Fiscal Year 2011 funding level is \$264 million.

Nonpublic placement is a program by which the State shares in the cost of placing students with disabilities in nonpublic special education schools when no program is available for them in the public schools. The State pays 70% of the cost of students placed over 300% of the excess cost of Special Education students.

Massachusetts

The Chapter 70 foundation budget includes an assumed special education percentage of enrollment and the corresponding costs are factored into the aid calculations. A separate "circuit breaker" program reimburses districts for 40 percent of special education instructional costs in excess of four times the prior year's state average foundation budget--\$38,636 in FY11.

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

In-district: the foundation budget includes an assumed full-time equivalent (FTE) special education enrollment of 3.75 percent of total non-vocational enrollment, 4.75 percent of vocational enrollment. For each assumed FTE, the special education in-district foundation budget rate is \$ 23,098.

Out-of-district: the foundation budget includes an assumed full-time equivalent special education enrollment of 1 percent of total non-vocational enrollment. For each assumed FTE, the special education out-of-district foundation budget rate is \$ 24,128.

Michigan

A long standing Michigan court case (know as *Durant*) regarding special education cost reimbursement was settled in 1997. It requires that the state reimburses special education instructional costs at a rate of 28.6138% and special education transportation costs at a rate of 70.4165%. The foundation payments (described above) for special education pupils go towards meeting this obligation.

Minnesota

Special education aid through FY 2007 was based on expenditures in the second prior year (base year). State special education aid for FY 2007 was based on expenditures in FY 2005. Beginning in FY 2008, Special Education aid is based on expenditures in the current year. State special education aid for FY 2008 is based on expenditures in FY 2008.

Several additional changes to the special education formulas took place in FY 2008. Transition Disabled Aid which equaled \$8.8 million in FY 2007 was rolled into Special Education aid in FY 2008. Transition programs for students with disabilities provides for transitional career and technical (vocational) experiences/programs that provide career exploration, healthy work attitudes, specific career and academic knowledge, and job skills for students with disabilities. Transition programs for students with disabilities serves students who meet state disability eligibility criteria and who have Individual Education Plans (IEP) that include work-based learning and require extra interventions not provided in regular work-based learning programs.

Lastly, FY 2008 is the first year that districts receive Bus Depreciation Aid for busses purchased after 7/1/05 and used for the majority of the time providing special transportation services.

The special education Initial Aid equals the sum of the following amounts computed using base year data:
- Salary 68% of the salary of each essential staff providing direct instructional and related services to students (both special education, transition disabled and alternative delivery of specialized instructional services programs);
- Contracted Services 52% of the amount of a contract for instruction and services that are supplemental to a district's education program for students with disabilities. 52% of the difference between the amount of the contract and the general education revenue of the district for that pupil for the fraction of the school day the student receives services that are provided in place of services of the district's program (both special education, transition disabled and alternative delivery of specialized instructional services programs). For transition disabled programs only, 52% of the cost of vocational evaluation;
- Supplies and Equipment
 - Special Education and alternative delivery of specialized instructional services Programs - 47% of the cost of supplies and equipment not to exceed an average of \$47 per student with a disability;
 - Transition Disabled Programs 47% of the cost of supplies not to exceed an average of \$47 per student with a disability. 47% of the cost of equipment.
- *Travel* For Transition Disabled Programs only, 47% of the costs of necessary travel between instructional sites by transition program teachers.
- *Bus Depreciation.* 100% of the cost of regular busses over 8 years and Type III busses over 5 years that are used the majority of time providing special transportation services.
- *Transportation* 100% of the cost of special transportation services.

A school district's special education aid equals its initial special education aid computed as per the formula above times the ratio of the state total special education aid to the state total initial special education aid plus aid adjustments for serving non-resident special education students.

The state total special education revenue for FY 2008 through FY 2011 is set in state law. For FY 2008, FY 2009, FY 2010 and FY 2011 it is \$694.1 million, \$719.5 million, \$735.7 million and \$787.6 million respectively. The state total special education aid for FY 2012 and later fiscal years, the state total special education aid equals:

- 1. the state total special education aid for the preceding fiscal year times;
- 2. the program growth factor times;
- 3. the greater of one, or the ratio of the state total Average Daily Membership (ADM) for the current fiscal year to the state total ADM for the preceding fiscal year.

The program growth factor is 1.046 for FY 2012 and later fiscal years

The link to Minnesota's special education formula is: https://www.revisor.leg.state.mn.us/statutes/?id=125A.76

Special Education Excess Cost Aid:

• For FY 2008 and later years, a district excess cost aid equals 75% of the difference between the district's unreimbursed special education cost and 4.36% of the district's general education revenue.

The state total excess cost aid equals \$110.6 million in FY 2008, and \$110.9 million in FY 2009, \$110.8 in FY 2010 and \$110.9 in FY 2011. For FY 2012 and later years, the state total excess cost aid equals:

- 1. the state total special education excess cost aid for the preceding fiscal year, times
- 2. the program growth factor times;
- 3. the greater of one, or the ratio of the state total ADM for the current fiscal year to the state total ADM for the preceding fiscal year.

The program growth factor is 1.02 for FY 2012 and later years.

A school district's special education excess cost aid equals its initial special education excess cost aid computed as per the formula above times the ratio of the state total special education excess cost aid to the state total initial special education excess cost aid.

The link to Minnesota's special education excess cost formula is: <u>https://www.revisor.leg.state.mn.us/statutes/?id=125A.79</u>

Mississippi

Funding is based on agency approval of the teacher units and certification and experience of the approved teacher. Five separate offices in the Department have a role in the application in program approval criteria and allocation of special education teacher units.

Missouri

State Special Education aid is now included in the Basic State Aid to districts. When a district's count of students with an Individualized Education Plan exceeds the state threshold, currently at 13.7% of the district's ADA, the excess is weighted at .75 and added to the district's ADA calculation in the overall weighted average daily attendance.

Montana

Included in the BASE aid program (see Description of Formula). Block grants are based on number of pupil units and require a \$1 for \$3 local match. Additional reimbursement (40% for unusually high special education costs are provided to eligible districts).

Nebraska

Special Receipts Allowance includes district specific special education, state ward, and accelerated or differentiated curriculum program receipts from the most recently available complete data year.

Nevada

Allocations of special education funding vary widely among school district based primarily on needs and applications. Funding support is set in terms of number of regular and discretionary units, with each unit valued at \$39,768 for 2011. Students per unit range from a low of 47.6 in Pershing County School District to a high of 155.4 students per unit in Clark County School District.

New Hampshire

See Description of the Formula. Also, Catastrophic Aid for high cost students. The state pays 100% of cost above 10 times the state average current expenditure per pupil, and 80% of the cost between 3.5 and 10% the state average.

New Jersey

Through the new funding formula, the State has adopted a census-based method of funding for Special Education. This approach bases the aid allocation on each district's total enrollment. Using this method, special education needs are projected by multiplying the excess cost of educating special education students by the statewide average classification rate, which is then multiplied by the district's total enrollment. Two-thirds of this cost is included in the district's adequacy budget, where it is funded through equalization aid. One-third of this cost is provided as categorical aid to the district (regardless of district wealth). This ensures that all districts receive some amount of special education aid.

In determining the actual "excess" cost for special education, the Department used audited expenditure data from fiscal year 2006. The term "excess cost" refers to the costs in addition to the base cost for education for all pupils. In addition to allocating the costs for special education expenditure lines, a portion of the general education budget was also attributed to special education to account for the special education costs for students that are mainstreamed for at least some portion of the day. This adjustment was based on the percentage of time special education students spent in regular classrooms according to the data collected from districts pursuant to federal reporting requirements.

New Mexico

State aid is provided through five weighted categories included in the foundation program.

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

Special education students are funded under the basic program units with additional weightings as follows:

Categories	Weight
Class A Programs: specially trained	.7
teacher	
travels from class to class or school to	
school to assist teachers, students and	
gifted on a part-time basis.**	
Class B Programs: specially trained	.7

teacher	
operates a resource room and assists	
gifted.**	
Class C Programs: special classroom	1.0
instruction for moderately handicapped	
and gifted.	
Class D Programs: full-time special	2.0
classroom instruction for severely	
handicapped students and aged three	
and four year old handicapped.	
** Weighted classroom units	

Special education is also funded for related services ancillary to providing special education, the number of full-time-equivalent certified or licensed ancillary service and diagnostic service personnel multiplied by the cost differential factor 25.0.

New York

Foundation Aid is paid for general education and special education students with students with disabilities receiving additional weightings as specified below.

Pupil Weights for Foundation Aid

Category	Weight
Pupils with handicapped conditions in special class 60% or more or the school	1.41
day in either public school or BOCES Program.	
Pupils with handicapping conditions in special class 20% or more of the school	1.41
week or receiving consultant teacher services a minimum of 2 hours per week.	
Students moving from a restricted placement into a general education setting.	.50

A High Cost Excess Cost formula provides wealth-equalized aid, in addition to Foundation Aid, for students in very high cost programs in districts or BOCES. A Private Excess Cost formula provides equalized reimbursement for tuition expenses above a basic contribution for public students placed in state-operated or private schools for students with disabilities.

North Carolina

State allocated aid for handicapped students on the lesser of April first headcount or 12.5% of total ADM.

North Dakota

Special education funding is provided through a factor in the main funding formula based on the total number of students in average daily membership. There are also factors for preschool students on IEPs and extended year special education programs. These factors generate approximately 70% of the special education funding provided by the state. The remainder of

the funding is set aside at the state level to reimburse school districts with extremely high cost special education students. Where students are placed by external agencies for purposes other than education, districts are reimbursed for allowable costs exceeding the state average cost per pupil. Educational placements are reimbursed for allowable costs exceeding 4 times the state average cost per pupil. Transportation and equipment are not included in allowable costs.

Ohio

Special education: included in the EBM using a weighted student count based on disability category.

Oklahoma

The State Aid formula currently has 12 Weighted Pupil Categories related to Special Education.

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

Categories	Weight
Vision Impaired	3.80
Learning Disabilities	0.40
Hearing Impaired	2.90
Mentally Retarded: (Educable Mentally handicapped	1.30
and Trainable Mentally Handicapped)	
Emotionally disturbed	2.50
Multiple handicapped	2.40
Physically handicapped	1.20
Speech Impaired	0.05
Deaf and Blind	3.80
Special Education summer program	1.20
Autism	2.40
Traumatic Brain Injury	2.40

Oregon

Two types of funding are provided in addition to the general education funding for special education students. An additional weight of 1.0 is identified for special education students and the "High Cost Disability Grant" for disabled students whose annual IEP costs exceed \$30,000. Please see the High Cost Disability Grant description above.

Pennsylvania

Special Education Funding for School Districts

Each school district receives the amount it received for the 2008-2009 school year.

Contingency Fund

A special education contingency fund allocation equal to 1 percent of the special education appropriation is available to school districts.

CORE Services Funding To Intermediate Units

An amount equal to 5 percent of the special education appropriation is provided to intermediate units to maintain core Services.

Institutionalized Children's Program

Funding is provided to intermediate units to maintain the Institutionalized Children's Program.

Rhode Island

Does not apply.

South Carolina

Handicapped children are weighted according to the following specific classifications contained in the foundation program.

Categories	Weights
Educable mentally handicapped	1.74
Learning disabilities	1.74
Trainable mentally handicapped*	2.04
Emotionally handicapped	2.04
Orthopedically handicapped	2.04
Visually handicapped	2.57
Hearing handicapped	2.57
Speech handicapped	1.90
Homebound pupils	2.10
Autism	2.57

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

* Includes Profoundly Mentally Handicapped

South Dakota

Special Education aid calculation is similar to the general education aid formula in that the student counts utilized within the funding formula are based on both fall enrollment and December child count. Based upon the counts and primary student disabilities reported, a district's total "need" or total state-local funding is determined. The state-local share of these district need is based on the local property valuation. The local share is calculated using a tax levy of \$1.20/\$1000 of assessed valuation (AV). A district is authorized by SD statute to utilize a maximum levy of \$1.40/\$1000 AV for their special education fund. Funding for special education may be limited when levying less than \$1.20/1000 AV or if the district is determined to have an ending fund balance that exceeds a statutorily defined limit.

South Dakota districts can also apply to an extraordinary cost fund for additional funding for special education students with costly needs. Applications are reviewed by committee, and may

not necessarily be approved. In recent years, the fund has distributed approximately \$4.5 million in additional aid to districts based on need.

Tennessee

Supported by a 75% state share, identified and served special education students receive additional weighting in the Classroom Component of the BEP formula. The weights were based on the caseload allocations as follows:

Option 1	91
Option 2	73
Option 3	46
Option 4	25
Option 5	15
Option 6	2
Option 7	10
Option 8	6
Option 9	0
Option 10	10

Texas

For the portion of the day students are served in approved programs, the adjusted allotment is multiplied by a weight varying from 1.7 to 5.0, depending on the instructional arrangement used. Additional funding equal to the adjusted basic allotment multiplied by 1.1 is also provided for students who are served in a mainstream instructional arrangement. A special education student who resides in a care and treatment facility and who receives his or her instruction on a local school district campus in a district other than the district in which the student's parent or guardian resides is eligible for a funding weight of 4.0, if the student does not reside in a state supported living center. If a similarly situated special education student resides in a state supported living center, the student is eligible for a funding weight of 2.8.

Category	Weight
Homebound	5.0
Hospital class	3.0
Speech therapy	5.0
Resource room	3.0
Self-contained, mild and moderate, regular campus	3.0
Self-contained, severe, regular campus	3.0
Off home campus	2.7
Non-public day school	1.7
Vocational adjustment class	2.3
(Above categories based on FTEs)	
Mainstream students (Based on ADA)	1.1

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

Utah

A foundation program provides weighted categories for children with disabilities.

Purpose: To provide educational services for students with disabilities as required by federal and state law. Example: Special Ed personnel, texts, supplies. Formula: Per WPU, which is the greater of the average of Special Education (Self Contained and Resource) ADM over the previous 5 years (which establishes the "foundation" below which the current year WPU can never fall) or prior year Special Education ADM plus weighted growth in Special Education ADM. Weighted growth is determined by multiplying Special Education ADM from two years prior by the percentage difference between Special Education ADM two years prior and Special Education ADM for the year prior to that, subject to two constraints: the Special Education ADM values used in calculating the difference cannot exceed the "prevalence" limit of 12.18% of total district ADM for their respective years; and if this measure of growth in Special Education exceeds current year growth in Fall Enrollment, growth in Special Education is set equal to growth in Fall Enrollment. Finally, growth is multiplied by a factor of 1.53. This weight is intended to account for the additional cost of educating a special education student; it is not, however, based specifically on an empirical analysis of the cost of special education relative to "regular" education in Utah. Law: 53A-15-301, 302, 303, 303.5, 304, 305, 53A-17a-111; R277-750. Contact: Sandra Cox . Data: Membership audit report (September 1); Fall Enrollment audit report (November 1). Below is a description of the Special Education Add On, Extended Year for the Severely Disabled, Preschool, Self Contained, and State Programs in Utah.

SPECIAL EDUCATION—EXTENDED YEAR FOR SEVERELY DISABLED

To provide a longer school year for those students with disabilities whose regression over school breaks is so severe that an inordinate amount of time is necessary to recoup previous learning. **Formula:** Per WPU, this is derived from aggregate hours of extended year educational service. **Law:** <u>53A-17a-112</u>; <u>R277-750</u>, <u>751</u>. **Contact:** <u>Karl Wilson</u>. **Data:** Special survey administered by <u>Sandra Cox</u> (September 1; revised survey for summer 2004 due October 15).

SPECIAL EDUCATION—PRESCHOOL

To provide preschool educational services for children with disabilities from ages 3 through 5 as required by federal law. **Formula:** Per WPU, this equals special education preschool enrollment (aged 3 through 5 excluding 5-year-old special education students enrolled in Kindergarten) as of December 1 multiplied by 1.46. Overall state growth in this program cannot exceed 8% annually, so funds remaining after the allocation have equaled the growth limit are prorated among districts experiencing growth in excess of eight percent. **Law:** <u>53A-17a-112</u>; <u>R277-750</u>. **Contact:** <u>Sandra Cox</u>. **Data:** Clearinghouse file (December 15) -- S2 record.

SPECIAL EDUCATION—SELF CONTAINED

To compensate for the higher cost of providing more extensive educational services to students who are in a self contained setting (enrolled in special education for 180 minutes or more each day). Unlike resource students, self contained students do not generate a "regular" WPU.

Formula: Per WPU, this equals Self Contained ADM from two years prior. **Law:** <u>53A-17a-111</u>; <u>R277-750</u>. **Contact:** <u>Sandra Cox</u>. **Data:** Membership audit report (September 1).

SPECIAL EDUCATION—STATE PROGRAMS

To support districts and charter schools in serving special education students whose extensive needs cost the district more than \$15,000 per student. **Formula:** 100% through RFP process. If the total amount approved exceeds the appropriation, grants are prorated. **Distribution:** One lump sum upon approval by State Director of Special Education. **Law:** <u>53A-17a-112</u>; <u>R277-750</u>.

Pupil Weights for Special Education Programs

Students with disabilities are funded with a base plus growth dollar amount averaging ADM over the prior five years. Below is a description of the Special Education Add On, Extended Year for the Severely Disabled, Preschool, Self Contained, and State Programs in Utah.

Vermont

On average 60% of the costs of special education are reimbursed for each district. There are several pieces to the system. Basically it operates like insurance, districts submit detailed expenditure reports (claims) indicating how much was spent on special education each year. Approved student costs above \$50,000 are reimbursed at 90%. Most other allowed special education costs are reimbursed at a rate that varies each year between 56 and 58%.

Virginia

Funding for special education provides for the state share of salary costs of instructional positions generated based on staffing standards for special education. (The Virginia legislature identifies 14 categories of disability, each with a maximum allowable student to teacher ratio. The number of students in each division who fall into each of the 14 categories determines the number of teachers for which the state will share the funding costs.) Each special education student is counted in their respective school and up to three disabilities per student may be recognized for calculating instructional positions for funding. Once the number of funded teachers is determined, it is multiplied by the state-specified salary to determine the total salary cost, which is funded on a per pupil basis. The additional per pupil special education funds are shared between the state and local school divisions according to a school division's Composite Index of local ability to pay.

Washington

The special education formula provides funding for students ages 0-5 at 115% of the basic education amount per student. Funding is provided for students age K-21 at 93.09% of the basic education funding amount. A district will receive funding based upon reported number of age K-21 special education students up to a maximum level of 12.7% of the reported basic education population. In addition a safety net process is in place to award additional funding for districts with students costing above 2.3 of the state average prior year APPE.

West Virginia

An allowance is provided for advanced placement at 1.0% of the state average per pupil state aid times the number of students enrolled in advanced placement, dual credit and international baccalaureate programs.

Although not a part of the Public School Support Program, a provision is included in WVC §18-20-5 that requires the State to make an appropriation to the Department of Education to be distributed to the county boards in accordance with State Board Policy to support children with high acuity needs that exceed the capacity of the school district to provide with available funds. Each county board is required to apply to the State Superintendent for receipt of this funding in a manner set forth by the State Superintendent that assesses and takes into account varying acuity levels of the exceptional students.

Wisconsin

Special Education is funded by a combination of state, local, and federal monies. State categorical aids assist with the costs of providing special education and related services. This includes reimbursement for teachers and teacher aides, physical and occupational therapists, speech/language therapists, special education directors, school psychologists, social workers, school nurses, school counselors, and special transportation. Staff must hold appropriate licensure in order to be eligible for reimbursement.

School districts, cooperative educational service agencies, county children with disabilities education boards, and 2r charter schools who operate programs for children with disabilities are reimbursed for special education costs in the year after costs are incurred. Funds are appropriated through the state budget process. Recipient agencies must complete the Special Education Fiscal Report program, PI-1505-SE.

There are 11 major areas of state aid to school districts, CCDEBs, and CESAs which provide programs for Special Education children:

- early childhood
- other health impaired or orthopedically impaired
- cognitively disabled
- hearing impairment
- visual disability
- speech and language disability
- emotional disturbance
- learning disability
- school age parents
- homebound instruction
- cross categorical

Wyoming

The state reimburses 100% of a school district's approved special education costs.

Appendix E – Low-Income/At-Risk Policies and Programs by State

Alabama

Funding for at-risk students are calculated based on the number of free and reduced price applications and the number of students scoring at lower levels of required tests. Funds are also provided for additional education services for high school students failing portions of the high school graduation exam.

Alaska

Does not apply.

Arizona Does not apply.

Arkansas

Does not apply.

California

Economic Impact Aid (EIA) is a state categorical program that provides supplemental funds, kindergarten through grade twelve, to support: 1) additional programs and services for English learners (ELs) and 2) compensatory education services for educationally disadvantaged students. Funding is allocated based on a district per pupil rate times the sum of: 1 Prior year English Learner count, 2 Current year Title I Formula child count, and 3 Weighted Concentration Factor.

Colorado

The following is the list of programs under Colorado Revised Statutes which are classified as Compensatory Education. The Revised Statutes are available at: http://www2.michie.com/colorado/lpext.dll?f=templates&fn=fs-main.htm

Art. 20. Education of Exceptional Children, 22-20-101 to 22-20-117.Art. 23. Education of Migrant Children, 22-23-101 to 22-23-107.Art. 24. English Language Proficiency Act, 22-24-101 to 22-24-106.Art. 25. Colorado Comprehensive Health Education Act, 22-25-101 to 22-25-110.Art. 26. Gifted and Talented Students, 22-26-101 to 22-26-108.Art. 27.5. Before- and After-School Dropout Prevention Programs, 22-27.5-101 to 22-27.5-106.Art. 28. Colorado Preschool Program Act, 22-28-101 to 22-28-113.Art. 29. Character Education, 22-29-101 to 22-29-106.

Connecticut

Does not apply.

Delaware

Academic Excellence instruction units are provided on the basis of one unit per 250 pupils enrolled and funds are also provided for extra time for students at risk of not meeting state standard in core content areas.

Florida

There is no comparable program existing at this time.

Georgia

A weight of 1.3136 is provided for students in remedial education programs; a weight of 1.5938 is provided for students in alternative education programs.

Hawaii

Over 50% of Hawaii public school students require more educational resources, including at least 31% economically disadvantaged; 3% with English language difficulties; 5% special education; and 13% with multiple special needs.

Within the Hawaii statewide school district, the weighted student formula allocates state funding to schools for economically disadvantaged students, based on the Federal free and reduced lunch classifications, that are similarly used for Federal Title I grants. The economically disadvantaged weight is 0.10 per student at this time.

Idaho Does not apply.

Illinois

Grants for low-income students have been a part of the GSA formula since FY 1999. Grants are based on a district's concentration ratio of low-income students. This ratio is the three-year average of students in the district who received services through Medicaid or Food Stamps divided by the Average Daily Attendance of the most recent school year. In FY 2011, the district concentration ratio (DCR) is calculated as the average number of students receiving Medicaid or Food Stamps in FYs 2007, 2008 and 2009 divided by the 2009-10 ADA.

Districts with a DCR \leq 15% receive a flat grant of \$355 per pupil.

Districts with a DCR > 15% receive per pupil grants based on the following curvilinear formula: $[2,700 \text{ X} (\text{DCR})^2 + 294.25] \text{ X}$ 3 year average

Indiana

Does not apply.

lowa

Formula supplementary weighting is provided for at-risk programs and alternative schools and is determined partially on the percentage of pupils enrolled in grades one through six eligible for free and reduced price meals in a school district and partially on the budget enrollment of

the school district. In addition, spending authorization for returning dropout and dropout prevention programs is funded on the basis of 25% or more from the combined district cost of the school district and up to 75% through modified allowable growth approved by the School Budget Review Committee. Modified allowable growth is an increase in budget authority, requested by the district, and is funded with balance on hand or a local property tax levy.

Kansas

Funding for At-Risk Students

Additional funding is provided for at-risk students. The formula is based on the number of students qualifying for free meals with the additional weight set at 0.456 for 2011. In addition, additional funds are available for high density, medium density and non-proficient at-risk students. High Density Weighting: Districts in which their students on free meals exceed 50% of their total enrollment, or a density of 212.1 student per square mile and a free lunch percentage of at least 35.1% and above also use the 0.10 factor per at-risk student. Medium Density: Districts with enrollments of at least 40% but less than 50% use a factor of 0.06 for each at-risk student. A small amount is also given to schools based on the students not on free meals who are non-proficient on state assessment tests. Students not eligible for free meals but who score below proficient in reading or math on the state assessments are weighted 0.0465.

Kentucky

Discontinued for all practical purposes in 1990.

Louisiana

Does not apply. We do have additional funding for At-Risk Students:

Add-on weights - based on student characteristics recognizing the extra cost of instruction for certain categories of students or classes.

At Risk Students (22%) Students who have limited English proficiency who are not contained in the at-risk weight based on the free and reduced lunch criteria, are added to the At-Risk

At-Risk Students are those students receiving free and reduced lunch.

Maine

The State provides additional subsidies for all children eligible for free or reduced lunches in each LEA based on a 1.15 pupil weighting.

Maryland

A funding level per student who is eligible for free and reduced price meals (FRPM) is calculated by taking 97% of the per pupil amount established in the Foundation Program. The Fiscal Year 2011 funding level is approximately \$1 billion.

Massachusetts

Each low-income pupil generates an extra increment of between \$ 2,561 to \$3,167 in foundation budget dollars.

Michigan

In 2011, the Michigan legislature appropriated approximately \$309 million for compensatory education (At-Risk). The Formula is 11.5% of the district's per pupil foundation allowance times the number of free school meals claimed by the district. The appropriation is capped at \$309 million.

Minnesota

Compensatory education revenue is included in the general education revenue program. Funding is based on building-level concentration of students eligible for free and reduced priced lunches as of October 1 of the previous fiscal year. Students eligible for reduced price lunches are weighted at 0.5 and students eligible for free lunches are weighted at 1.0. If the adjusted free & reduced price lunch count is at least 80% of the building's enrollment, the compensatory revenue equals \$2,825 times the adjusted free & reduced price lunch count. The rate per adjusted count decreases proportionately as the concentration of eligible students decreases (e.g., ½ of this amount for a school with an adjusted eligible count equal to 40% of building enrollment).

Pupil Weights for Compensatory Education

Definition of	Weight
Category	
Free & Reduced Price Lunch	Variable weighting 0.0 to 0.6, depending on concentration of free & reduced lunch-eligible pupils in the building. Applies only to compensatory
	revenue calculation

Mississippi

MAEP has an at-risk component that is based on 5% of the Base Student Cost times the number free lunch participants on October 31 of the previous year.

Missouri

State aid for students at-risk of completing their K-12 education is included in the Basic State Aid to districts. When a district's count of students eligible for Free or Reduced Price Lunch exceeds the state threshold, currently at 32% of the district's ADA, the excess is weighted at .25 and added to the district's ADA calculation in the overall weighted average daily attendance.

Montana

Does not apply.

Nebraska

Poverty Allowance is calculated by taking the lesser of the maximum poverty allowance designated by the district or by the calculated amount based on the number of low income students(progressive percentages between .05 and .30 multiplied by students qualified for free lunches/milk or low income children under 19 years of age living in a household having an annual adjusted gross income equal to or less than the maximum household income that would allow a student from a family of four people to be a free lunch or free mild student, whichever is greater).

Nevada

Does not apply.

New Hampshire

No response provided.

New Jersey

The following 3 categories of aid are based on measures of district and student wealth. For aid purposes, low-income ("at-risk") counts are based on the number of students eligible for the federal free and reduced priced lunch programs.

At-Risk Equalization Aid

Aid for low-income students is primarily provided through equalization aid. As noted above, low-income students generate an additional weight (ranging from 0.47 to 0.57) when determining the adequacy budget. In districts with a low-income concentration lower than 20%, each at-risk student receives a weight of 0.47. This weight gradually increases as the at-risk concentration increases to a maximum weight of 0.57 for districts with an at-risk concentration greater than or equal to 60%.

At-Risk Security Aid

As described in the security aid section above, each at-risk student generates an additional categorical allocation for a district, where the per pupil amount received increases with the district's at-risk concentration. In FY 2011, the maximum security aid per pupil was \$412 per at-risk student in a district with an at-risk concentration of at least 40%.

Preschool

The SFRA includes full State funding for all at-risk 3- and 4-year olds to attend full-day preschool programs in every district. In districts with the DFG designations "A" or "B" or those in "CD" districts that also have an at-risk concentration of at least 40%, funding is intended for all

resident 3- and 4-year olds, regardless of income.^[1] In all other districts, funding is intended for all at-risk resident 3- and 4-year olds.

Due to recent budgetary constraints, the State's plan to expand the preschool program as defined in the SFRA was not realized in FY 2011. While some amount of Preschool Education Aid (PEA) was provided to each district that received early childhood aid under the previous funding law, the SFRA calculation was only applied to about 20% of those receiving aid. Other districts' aid allocations were based on prior year aid allocations, with some adjustments.

New Mexico

Does not apply.

New York

See pupil need index in Description of Formula.

North Carolina

North Carolina has two categories of funding specifically for remediation and students at risk of failing. These categories are as follow:

- At-risk Student Services/Alternative Schools This funding allocates 1 School Safety Officer per High School and the remaining funds are allocated 50% based on ADM and 50% based on poverty with a minimum of 2 teachers and 2 instructional support positions.
- 2. Disadvantaged Student Supplemental Funding

Distribute resources based on a prescribed delivery option ... reduction of class size.

Step 1: Use the average statewide (K-12) teacher-to-student classroom teacher allotment for the Fundable Disadvantaged Population which is 1:21.

Step 2: The targeted allotment ratios for the Fundable Disadvantaged Population are: If low wealth % (per low wealth supplemental funding formula) is > or equal to 90%, one teacher per 20.5 students

- If low wealth % is > 80% but < 90%, one teacher per 20 students.
- If low wealth % is < 80%, one teacher per 19.5 students.
- If an LEA received DSSF funds in FY 2005-06, one teacher per 16 students. These 16 LEAs will not receive less funding than they received in FY 2005-06.

^[1] District Factor Groups (DFGs) are based on a socio-economic index of each school district's community characteristics. The index is grouped into the following 8 categories, listed from lowest to highest: A, B, CD, DE, FG, GH, I, J). For more information about the DFGs and the factors that are used to calculate the index, please go to the following website: <u>http://www.state.nj.us/education/finance/sf/dfg.shtml</u>

Step 3: Convert the teaching positions to dollars by using the state average teacher salary (including benefits).

North Dakota

Does not apply.

Ohio

An index is applied to several components to adjust the district amount based on demographic characteristics of resident population.

Oklahoma

Pupils who qualify and participate in a free and reduced lunch program: 0.25

Oregon

Oregon funds students in Pregnant and Parenting Programs at a weight of 1.0, students in poverty at .25, neglected and delinquent students at .25 and students in foster care at .25 in addition to the students' general education ADM.

Pennsylvania

There is a Poverty Supplement in the Basic Education Funding formula. It is described above.

Rhode Island

Does not apply.

South Carolina

State appropriated \$136,163,204 for 2010-11.

Pupil Weights for Compensatory Education

Definition of Category	Weight
Grade 1-12 pupils who fail to meet statewide	0.26 Compensatory
standards in reading, writing and math or who	0.114 Remediation
do not meet first grade readiness test standards.	

South Dakota

Does not apply.

Tennessee

Funding is generated in the Classroom Component of the BEP with a state share of 75%. Based on 1:15 class size reduction for grades K-12, estimated at \$509.46 per identified at-risk ADM. Funded at 100% at-risk.

Texas

Funding is provided for 20% of the adjusted allotment per pupil eligible to receive free or reduced price lunches under the National School Lunch Program (NSLP). A funding weight of 2.41 is applied to each full-time equivalent student who is pregnant and is receiving compensatory education services. School districts and charter schools that do not participate in the NSLP may participate in an alternative reporting program to deliver compensatory education funding for income eligible students.

Pupil Weights for Compensatory Education

Definition of Category	Weight
Pupils who qualify and participate in a free	0.25
and reduced-price lunch program (per ADA)	
Pupils who are pregnant (per FTE)	2.41

Utah

Does not apply.

Vermont

Part of the student count weighting system provides an additional 25% for students from families receiving food stamps. Also, certain costs for students who need support services but are not eligible for special education are covered by the special education reimbursement system.

Pupil Weights for Compensatory Education

Students age 6 – 17 from families receiving food stamps are given an additional weight of 25%

Students for whom English is not the pupil's primary language are given an additional 20% weight.

Virginia

At-Risk Program

State payments for at-risk students are disbursed to school divisions based on the estimated number of federal free lunch participants in each division to support programs for students who are educationally at-risk. Funding is provided as a percentage add-on to Basic Aid to support the additional costs of educating at-risk students.. A local match based on the district's Composite Index of local ability to pay is required.

Washington

A learning assistance program is available to students identified as deficient in basic skills. Allocations are based on the number of students in grades K-12 qualifying for free and reduced price lunch (FRPL). Districts with a percentage over 40% FRPL or over 20% qualifying for English language services receive an additional amount based upon their percentage over 40%. The funding rate is \$282.13 per FRPL student.

West Virginia

No specific funds are provided for compensatory education.

Wisconsin

Does not apply.

Wyoming

Compensatory Education now falls under other programs such as extended day, tutorial system for Saturday school and a Summer School program which are grant programs outside of the block grant.

Appendix F – Weights for Low -Income/At-Risk Students by State

<u></u>		
State		Weight
Alabama	F&RL + low test scores	
California	Per Pupil Rate (ELL + #Title I +	
	Weighted Concentration Factor)	
	Students in remedial education	
Georgia	programs	1.3136
	Students in alternative education	
	programs	1.5938
Hawaii	F&RL	0.10 per pupil
Indiana	F&RL	0.4974 Adjusted
lowa	F&RL grades 1-6 + Budget Enrollment	≥25% Combined District Cost +
		<75% Modified Allowable Growth
Kansas	Free Meals	0.456
	High Density = Free Meals >50% ENR or	0.10
	212.1 stdt/sq miles & FL≥35.1%	
	<u>Med Denisty</u> = Free Meals 40-50%	0.06
	Low test scores ≠ Free Meals	0.0465
Kentucky	FL	0.15
Louisiana	F&RL	0.22
Maine	F&RL	1.15
Maryland	F&RM	0.97
Massachusetts	Per low-income pupil	\$2,561 to \$3,167
Michigan	Free Meals	0.115
Minnesota	F&RL	Variable weighting 0.0 to 0.6,
		depending on concentration of F
		& RL-eligible pupils in the
		building. Applies only to
		compensatory revenue
		calculation
Mississippi	FL	0.05
Missouri	F&RL > 32%	0.25
Nebraska	Low Income (0.0530*F&RL/Milk) or	Poverty Allowance
	<19 years w/household income ≤F&RL	
	Family of Four Average	
New Hampshire	F&RL <12%	\$431 (wgt 0.13)
•	F&RL 12%-23.99%	\$863 (wgt 0.25)
	F&RL 24%-35.99%	\$1725 (wgt 0.5)

Table C.1 - States Using a Form of Pupil Weighting for Low Income Education/At Risk

	F&RL 36%-47.99%	\$2588 (wgt 0.75)
	F&RL ≥48%	\$3450 (wgt 1.0)
New Jersey	F&RL <20%-≥60% + Wealth	0.47-0.57
North Carolina	Students at risk of failing &	
	disadvantagedLow Wealth >80% & <90%Low Wealth <80% DSSF(=2005-06)	1 Teacher/20 pupils 1 Teacher/19.5 pupils 1 Teacher/16 pupils
Oklahoma	Those who qualify and participate in F&RL	0.25
	Students in Pregnant & Parenting	
Oregon	Programs	1.0
	Students in poverty	0.25
	Neglected and delinquent students	0.25
	Students in foster care	0.25
South Carolina	Grade 1-12 pupils who fail to meet statewide standards in reading, writing and math or who do not meet first grade readiness standards. readiness test standards	0.26 Compensatory 0.114 Remediation
Texas	F&RL	0.20
	Pupils who are pregnant (per FTE)	2.41
Vermont	Students age 6-17 from families receiving food stamps	0.25
Washington	F&RL >40%	\$282.13/ pupil

Note: F & RL = Federal Free and Reduced Lunch; F&RM= Free and Reduced Meals; DSSF= Disadvantaged Student Supplemental Funding

Appendix G – English Learner Policies and Programs by State

Alabama

State allocations for ESL students are provided according to the ESL student count in the prior year.

Alaska

Bilingual/bicultural education is block funded in the foundation program.

Arizona

Weight included in basic state aid calculations to provide additional funds. In FY 2011, the weight is 0.115.

Arkansas

<u>6-20-2305 School funding</u>: (3)(A) Beginning with the 2007-2008 school year, funding for students who are identified as English-language learners shall be \$293 for each identified English-language learner. (B) Funding for English-language learners shall be distributed to school districts for students who have been identified as not proficient in the English language based upon a state-approved English proficiency assessment instrument.

California

California does not provide funding specifically for bilingual education, but does provide over \$50 million for instructional support and coordination of services for students enrolled in grades four through eight and identified as English learners. In addition, districts may use compensatory education funding (see above to address needs of English learners).

Colorado

See Compensatory Education.

Connecticut

Each district is entitled to receive a portion of the total amount appropriated according to the ratio of the number of eligible pupils in the district as compared to the total number of eligible pupils in the state. Grant eligibility is limited to districts with schools containing 20 or more students with the same dominant language other than English. Those English language learners that are eligible under the Bilingual grant are included in the Education Cost Sharing (ECS) formula described under **Description of Formula**.

Delaware

LEP no longer funded as separate program; now collapsed into State Fiscal Stabilization Funds.

Florida

English for Speakers of Other Languages (ESOL) programs are funded with a program weight of 1.147.

Georgia

The formula includes a weight of 2.5337 for students in the ESOL program.

Hawaii

Within the Hawaii statewide school district, state funding for the English Language Learners (ELL) program is included as part of the weighted student formula, and is allocated to schools that have those populations of students, based on a weight of 0.2373 per ELL student at this time.

Idaho

The state distributed \$5.29 million based on the number of Limited-English Proficient (LEP) students (approximately \$290 per student) and \$750 thousand in grants to school districts whose LEP students failed to meet adequate yearly progress in math or reading.

Illinois

The Bilingual Education grant program reimburses current year costs for programs that provide five or more class periods of bilingual / English as a Second Language instruction per week. Grants are determined by the size of the student population, amount and intensity of instruction and the availability of appropriated funds.

Indiana

Does not apply.

lowa

Students identified as limited English proficient are assigned an additional pupil FTE weighting of .22. The supplementary weighting may be assigned for up to four years. A school district may apply to the School Budget Review Committee for an adjustment to budget authority for the cost to continue providing the program beyond the four years of weighting.

Kansas

State aid is weighted at 0.395 per eligible pupil, based on the full-time equivalency enrollment of bilingual students receiving services.

Kentucky

Bilingual Education no longer applies. The new laws under No Child Left Behind Act of 2001 are:

Title III: Language Instruction for Limited English Proficient (LEP and Immigrant Students) Students with limited English proficiency come with diverse histories, traditions and varied educational experiences. The term 'limited English proficient' used in the state is defined in Title IX of the No Child Left Behind Act under the General Provisions Part A, Section 9101.Definition. The term immigrant children and youth is defined as specified in Part C, General Provisions, Section 3301.

Louisiana

Any local school system employing a Foreign Language Associate shall receive a supplemental allocation from BESE of \$20,000 per teacher not to exceed a total of 300 teachers in the program. During FY2010/11, there are 260 foreign language associate teachers within the 69 school districts.

First year Foreign Association Teachers receive an installation incentive of an additional \$6,000; second and third year teachers receive a retention incentive of an additional \$4,000.

Maine

The State provides additional subsidies for all ESL children base on weightings 1.525-1.70, depending upon the number of eligible children in each LEA.

Maryland

A funding level per LEP student is calculated by taking 99% of the per pupil amount established in the Foundation Program. The Fiscal Year 2011 funding level is \$151 million.

Massachusetts

Each limited-English pupil generates an extra increment of between \$590 and \$2,153 in foundation budget dollars.

Michigan

The current year state appropriation for Bilingual Education is \$2.8 million. The funds are paid out on a per pupil basis and are to be used solely for the instruction of pupils with limited English-speaking ability. Eligible programs include instruction in speaking, reading, writing, and the comprehension of English.

Minnesota

Revenue for limited English proficiency (LEP) programs is included in the general education revenue program. Students who have generated 5 or more ADM in Minnesota public schools before the start of the current school year are not eligible to be counted for LEP revenue calculations. Students in grades 4 – 12 who were enrolled in a Minnesota public school when the Test of Emerging Academic English (TEAE) was administered during the prior year are not eligible unless they scored below the state cutoff score on the TEAE. For districts with at least one but fewer than 20 eligible LEP students, funding is based on 20 students. Basic LEP revenue equals \$700 times the eligible LEP average daily membership served. Districts where the concentration of LEP students is 11.5% or greater receive an additional \$250 per eligible LEP student. In districts where the concentration is lower, the concentration allowance is reduced proportionately (e.g., \$125 in a district with a 5.75% concentration).

Mississippi

Does not apply.

Missouri

Effective in 2006-07, state money is now included in the Basic State Aid to districts. When a district's count of Limited English Proficient students exceeds the state threshold, currently at 0.90% of the district's ADA, the excess is weighted at .60 and added to the district's ADA calculation in the overall weighted average daily attendance.

Montana

The state does not fund a bilingual education program.

Nebraska

Limited English Proficiency (LEP)-Allowance is calculated by taking the lesser of the maximum LEP allowance designated by the school district or a calculation based on the number of LEP students.

Nevada Does not apply.

New Hampshire

See Description of the Formula.

New Jersey

Aid for LEP students is provided through equalization aid. Students that are enrolled in qualifying programs are given an additional weight when determining the adequacy budget. For a student that is LEP, but not low-income, the weight is 0.5 (in addition to the base cost and grade level weights). For a student that is both LEP and low-income, the weight is 0.125 (reduced to account for duplicative resources provided through the at-risk weight).

New Mexico

Full-time equivalent pupils weighted .5 in state aid formula.

New York

See pupil need index in Description of Formula. In addition, there is a separate Bilingual Education grant of \$12.5 million.

North Carolina

The state funds a supplemental allotment for Limited English Proficient Students. Eligible LEAs/charter schools must have at least 20 students with limited English proficiency (based on a 3-year weighted average headcount), or at least 2 1/2% of the ADM of the LEA/charter school. Funding is provided for up to 10.6% of ADM.

FORMULA: Calculate 3-Year Average Headcount

- Most current years available weighted twice (50%)
- Two previous years weighted once (25%)

Base Allocation

Each eligible LEA/charter school receives the minimum of 1 teacher assistant position.

- 50% of the funds (after calculating the base) will be distributed based on the concentration of limited English proficient students within the LEA.
- 50% of the funds (after calculating the base) will be distributed based on the weighted 3-year average headcount.

North Dakota

Funding for students with limited English skills is provided through factors in the main funding formula. Factors are based on assessment level.

Ohio

Funding in the Evidence Based Model is provided for limited English proficient students based on a 100:1 student : teacher ratio, adjusted for the wealth of the district.

Oklahoma

Weighted in the equalizing formula at 0.25.

Oregon

Students served in programs for English Language Learners are eligible to receive weighting of .50 in addition to the students' general education ADM.

Pennsylvania

There is an English language Learner Supplement in the Basic Education Funding formula. It is described above.

Rhode Island

The Student Language Assistance Investment fund targets state resources to assist students that require additional language educational services. Distribution is based on a district's proportion of limited English proficiency students. Funding under this program is approximately \$31.7 million.

South Carolina

No state appropriation.

South Dakota

Does not apply.

Tennessee

Receives a 70% state share with funding generated from the Instructional Component of the BEP.

ELL Teachers - 1 per 30 identified and served ELL Students

ELL Translators - 1 per 300 identified and served ELL Students

Texas

State aid is 10% of the adjusted allotment per pupil enrolled in a bilingual or special language program.

Utah

The state distributes block grant funds to school districts and charter schools in three categories:

- Interventions for Student Success Block Grant--\$15,000,000
- Family Literacy Centers \$1,764,000

The Interventions for Student Success Block Grant is to improve academic performance of students who do not meet performance standards as determined by <u>Utah Performance</u> <u>Assessment System for Students</u> (U-PASS) test results. Interventions must be consistent with a district or charter plan approved by the local school board and the plan must specify intended results. For example: remedial classes, supplies, texts, personnel. Funds are distributed 71% proportional to the number of Basic Program WPUs; 6% distributed equally among all districts and charters; 23% proportional to the number of English Language Learners.

Vermont

English language learning students are weighted an additional 20% in the pupil count formula.

Virginia

English as a Second Language (ESL)

State SOQ funds are provided to support school divisions providing the necessary educational services to children not having English as their primary language. The funding supports the salary and benefits cost of instructional positions at a standard of 17 positions per 1,000 ESL students. This cost is shared between the state and local school divisions according to a division's Composite Index of local ability to pay and contributes toward the required local effort.

Washington

A transitional bilingual program provides funds to school districts to implement bilingual education programs. Allocations are based upon the headcount of pupils served in the program. The funding rate for the 2001-11 school year is \$885.91 per pupil.

West Virginia

The PSSP includes a provision that provides supplemental funding for programs for Limited English Proficient students where the cost of the program in a particular district exceeds the district's capacity to provide the program with the funds that the district has available. The statute does not require any specific amount of funding to be appropriated, but any funds so appropriated in any year must be distributed to the various districts in a manner that takes into account the varying proficiency levels of the students and the capacity of the district to deliver

the needed programs. Districts are required to apply for the funds that are available in accordance with the provisions contained in State Board policy.

Wisconsin

Bilingual/Bicultural Education Aid is funded as a categorical aid; brief information is contained in the Categorical Aid chart.

Wyoming

The funding model provides a 1.0 teacher FTE position for every 100 ELL students.

Appendix H – Weights for English Language Learners (ELL) Students by State

State	Eligible	Weight
Alabama	Based on prior year ESL allocations	
Alaska	Bilingual/bicultural education	Block funded
Arizona	Weight included in basic state aid calculations	0.115
Arkansas	State aid appropriated for identified English-language- learners	\$293 per pupil
California	Funding provided for instructional support and coordination of services for students enrolled in grades four through eight identified as English learners.	Total \$50,000,000
Connecticut	Eligible pupils in district / eligible pupils in state. Limited to districts with schools containing 20 or more students with same dominant language other than English.	
Florida	English for Speakers of Other Languages program	1.147
Georgia	Students in ESOL program	2.5337
Hawaii	Funding per ELL student	0.2373
	\$5.29 million state wide for Limited-English Proficient	
Idaho	students.	\$290 per pupil
	Grants to districts whose LEP students failed to meet adequate yearly progress in math or reading.	\$750,000
Illinois	ELL/Bilingual Students	Reimbursable
Indiana	Complexity Index includes LEP factor	N/A
lowa	Additional pupil FTE weight for LEP students	0.22
Kansas	Additional funding for full-time bilingual students	0.395 per pupil
Kentucky	Limited English Proficient	0.96
Louisiana	BESE supplemental allocation per Foreign Language Associate teacher, not to exceed 300 teachers in the program.	\$20,000 per teacher
Maine	Additional subsidies for all ESL children, based upon number of eligible children in each LEA.	1.525-1.70
Maryland	Funding level per LEP student	99% of per pupil amount established in the Foundation Program.
Massachusetts	Extra increment of foundation budget dollars for limited-English pupils.	\$590 - \$2,153 per pupil
Michigan	Funds are distributed on a per LEP Student	Total \$2,800,000

Table E.1 - States Using a Form of Pupil Weighting for English Language Learner

Minnesota	LEP	\$700 per pupil
	LEP <u>></u> 11.5%	Additional \$250 per
	LEP <11.5%	Pro rata reduction (above)
	For districts with less than 20 LEP, funding is based on 20 students.	
Missouri	If a district's ELL > state threshold	0.60
Nebraska Adjustment for limited English proficiency students		N/A
New Hampshire	Students with a English Language Learner	\$675 per pupil
New Jersey	LEP students	0.5
	LEP & Low Income students	0.125
New Mexico	Full-time equivalent pupils	0.50
New York	Bilingual Education Grant1.25 millionSee Need Index for ELL	
North Carolina	Eligible LEAs/charter schools must have \geq 20 students with limited English proficiency or \geq 2.5% of the ADM of the LEA/charter school. Funding provided for \leq 10.6% of ADM.	
North Dakota	LEP students	wgt N/A
Oklahoma	Weighted in the equalizing formula	0.25
Oregon	Students served in programs for ELL	0.50
Rhode Island	node Island Distribution is based on a district's proportion of limited English Proficiency students.	
Tennessee	Funding is generated in the Instructional Component of the Basic Education Program.	
	Pupils enrolled in Bilingual or Special Language	
Texas	Program	0.10
Utah	ELL & Bilingual students	
Vermont	English Learning Students	0.20
Washington	Bilingual education program funds are based on the headcount of pupils served.	\$885.91 per pupil
	LEP students	Grant varies
West Virginia	LEP & Low Income students	
	Bilingual/Bicultural Education Aid is funded as	
Wisconsin	categorical aid.	

Appendix I – Density/Sparsity of Small Schools by State

Alabama

Does not apply.

Alaska

The formula is weighted in favor of the small, isolated sites.

Arizona

Districts with less than 600 average daily memberships (ADM) are considered small and receive special weightings. If they are also isolated, they receive additional weightings. In addition, if they have less than a 100 student count, they are eligible to budget for a small schools adjustment. This small schools adjustment is paid directly from the local tax payer through the primary property tax.

Arkansas

6-20-601 Qualifications for receiving isolated funding: (a) As used in this section, "isolated school district" means a school district that meets any 4 of the following 5 criteria: (1) There is a distance of 12 miles or more by hard-surfaced highway from the high school of the district to the nearest adjacent high school in an adjoining district; (2) The density ratio of transported students is less than 3 students per square mile of area; (3) The total area of the district is 95 sq. mi. or greater; (4) Less than 50% of bus route miles is on hard-surfaced roads; and (5) There are geographic barriers such as lakes, rivers, and mountain ranges which would impede travel to schools that otherwise would be appropriate for consolidation, cooperative programs, and shared services. (b) An isolated school district shall be eligible to receive isolated funding if: (1) The district's budget is prepared by the local district with Department of Education approval; (2) The district has an ADM of less than 350; and (3) The district meets the minimum standards for accreditation of public schools prescribed by law and regulation. (c) Any school district designated as an isolated school district for the 1996-1997 fiscal year that used geographic barriers as one (1) of the 4 criteria necessary to receive isolated funding shall be allowed to continue to use geographic barriers as a criterion for future allocations of isolated funding. (2) There shall be 2 categories of isolated funding: (A) Category I isolated funding shall be provided to all school districts that qualify under this section; and (B) Category II isolated funding shall be further provided to those school districts that qualify under this section and have an ADM density ratio of less than 1.2 students per square mile and shall be calculated at 50% of Category I funding.

6-20-603 Continued support of isolated school districts: (a) Upon the effective date of consolidation, annexation, or reorganization, the districts listed in statute... shall become isolated school areas for the sole purpose of receiving isolated funding and shall have a per student isolated funding amount as provided in legislation. (b) Each school year, state financial aid in the form of isolated funding shall be provided to school districts containing an isolated school area in an amount equal to the prior-year three-quarter ADM of the isolated school area as set forth

under column "C" of subsection (a) of this section. (c) A school district may not receive isolated funding under this section for an isolated school area if the prior year three-quarter ADM of the isolated school area exceeds 350. (d) A school district receiving isolated funding for an isolated school area shall expend the funds solely for the operation, maintenance, and support of the isolated school area. (e) A school district or isolated school area that may qualify under other law to receive additional state aid because its ADM is less than 350 shall not be eligible to receive funding under this section except that a district qualifying under other law for such aid and qualifying for funds under this section may elect to receive funds under this section in lieu of aid under the other law. (i) (1) Except as provided under § 6-20-604(g), a school district eligible to receive isolated funding under this section shall continue to receive partial funding even if all or part of an isolated school is closed. (2) If all or part of an isolated school in a school district is closed, the school district shall receive funding based on the prior year's three-quarter ADM of the isolated school or the part of the isolated school that remains open.

6-20-604 Additional funding: (b) A school district shall receive special needs funding if the school district meets the requirements of subsections (c), (d) or (e) of this section, and if: (1) The school district was consolidated or annexed or received an annexed school under § 6-13-1601 et seq.; (2) The local board of directors by majority vote determines that the isolated school is so isolated that to combine its operation to 1 district campus would be impractical or unwise; and (3) The isolated school or district: (A) Filed an affidavit of isolated school status with the state board during the consolidation or annexation process and the facts of the affidavit are verified by the state board or its designee, to meet the requirements of § 6-20-601; (B) Filed an affidavit of isolated school status with the state board after the consolidation or annexation process or August 12, 2005, and the facts of the affidavit are verified by the state board or its designee to meet the requirements of § 6-20-601; or (C) Filed an affidavit of isolated school status with the state board after the consolidation or annexation process or August 12, 2005, and the facts of the affidavit are verified by the state board or its designee to meet the requirements of § 6-20-601 but for the ADM requirements 350 students or fewer. (f) A school district shall receive an amount equal to 5% of the foundation funding received by the school district under § 6-20-2305(a)(2) based on the three-quarter ADM of the school district if the school district has a: (1) Three-quarter ADM of less than 500 students; and (2) Density ratio of 2 students or less per square mile. (g) A school district eligible for special needs funding under this section shall continue to be eligible to receive isolated school funding provided under § 6-20-603 but shall only receive funding under one (1) of the categories established under subsections (c)-(f) of this section. (h) (1) This section is contingent on the appropriation and availability of funding for its purposes. (2) (A) Undistributed funds under this section and § 6-20-603 allocated to a school district that is no longer eligible to receive the funding shall be distributed on an equal basis per school district to each remaining school district that is eligible to receive funds under subsections (c)-(e) of this section. (B) Funds distributed under subdivision (h)(2)(A) of this section shall be used by the school district only for transportation costs of the isolated schools in the school district.

California

For small school districts, California provides an optional alternative general purpose funding entitlement for necessary small schools. For an elementary school district that consists of a single school with less than 97 ADA and for each qualifying necessary small elementary school in a school district with less than 2,501 ADA, necessary small-school amounts are computed on the basis of either the school's ADA or the number of full-time teachers, whichever provides the lesser amount. For a high school district that consists of a single school or a single high school maintained by a unified school district with less than 287 ADA and for each qualifying necessary small high school in a district with less than 2,501 ADA, necessary small-school amounts are computed on the basis of either the school's ADA or the number of full-time-equivalent (FTE) certificated employees providing services in grades nine through 12, whichever provides the lesser amount. If the ADA is under 20 and the number of FTE certificated employees is less than four, however, the amount is computed on the number of FTE certificated employees.

Colorado

Does not apply.

Connecticut

There are no adjustments for population density or sparsity.

Delaware

Does not apply.

Florida

The FEFP recognizes the relatively higher operating cost of smaller districts due to sparse student population through a statutory formula in which the variable factor is a sparsity index. This index is computed by dividing the FTE of the district by the number of permanent senior high school centers (not exceeding three). By Appropriations Act proviso, participation is limited to districts of 20,000 or fewer FTE. Each eligible district's allocation is subject to an adjustment for relative wealth of the district. This adjustment is based on the per FTE value of the maximum discretionary levy in the district relative to the state average. If the district value per FTE exceeds the state average, then the sparsity entitlement is negatively adjusted by an amount equal to the district's FTE multiplied by the per FTE amount by which the district's maximum discretionary value per FTE exceeds the state average. However, no district shall have a sparsity wealth adjustment that would cause the district's total potential funds per FTE to be less than the state average. This supplement is limited to \$35,754,378 statewide for the 2010-11 fiscal year.

Georgia

No additional funds are allotted to sparsely populated areas except as might occur in the pupil transportation.

Hawaii

Within the statewide school district, the weighted student formula includes a factor to adjust state funding for small schools. Enrollment thresholds are established upper bounds for

elementary, middle and high schools. An allocation based on a "sliding scale formula" is calculated for schools that have student counts which are below the enrollment thresholds. The total amount of funds needed for the sliding scale adjustment are reduced from the total WSF funds available, requiring no additional state funding, only a reallocation of existing funding.

Elementary schools	0-300 students	-0.0010 X + 0.030
Middle schools	0 - 450 students	-0.0010 X + 0.045
High schools	0 - 750 students	-0.0006 X + 0.045
Grades K-8 schools	0 - 450 students	-0.0010 X + 0.045
Grades K-12 schools	0 - 750 students	-0.0006 X + 0.045
Grades 7-12 schools	0 - 750 students	-0.0006 X + 0.045

The enrollment ranges and sliding scale formula (*) are as follows:

* where "X" is equal to a school's enrollment

Idaho

Support Unit allotments vary according to educational level and school district size. Generally, smaller school districts and charter schools will receive more funding per ADA than larger school districts and charter schools. School districts with less than 40 support units receive an additional 0.5 FTE of instructional staff and an additional 0.5 FTE of administrative staff. School districts with less than 20 support units receive an additional 0.5 FTE of instructional staff. Remote and necessary schools may petition state board of education for special consideration.

Illinois

Does not apply.

Indiana

Small schools grant applies to school corporations and does not apply to charter schools. For schools with an ADM of less than 1,700, the formula allows a \$192 per ADM for complexity index over 1.2 and \$91 per ADM for complexity index above 1.1 and less than 1.2.

If a school corporation has an ADM of less than 1,700 and a complexity index greater than 1.1 and less than 1.2, the school receives the lesser of: 1,700 minus the 2009-2010 or 2010-2011 ADM or \$91, multiplied by the 2009-2010 (for 2010) or the 2010-2011 ADM (for 2011). If a school corporation has an ADM of less than 1,700 and a complexity index of greater than 1.2, the school receives the lesser of: 1,700 minus the 2009-2010 ADM (for 2010) or 2010-2011 (for 2011) or \$192 multiplied by the 2009-2010 (for 2010) or the 2010-2011 ADM for 2011.

lowa

The state does not have a factor for density/sparsity within the formula, but does have additional funding for districts that share teachers and programs. Additional pupil FTE is provided for .48 of the time that pupils attend classes in another school district, attend classes taught by a teacher jointly employed by two or more school districts, or attend classes taught

by a teacher who is employed by another school district. The weighting for sharing whole grades is .1. There is also supplementary weighting of .1 provided for a school district that establishes a regional academy to which two or more other districts send high school students. The total amount or supplementary weighting provided for a regional academy cannot exceed the equivalent of 30 additional pupils and is guaranteed a minimum of 15 additional pupils. There is also supplementary weighting of .05 for providing or utilizing courses over the Iowa Communications Network (ICN); and there is supplementary weighting for resident students who attend classes in a community college--.46 for arts and science courses and .70 for career and technical courses.

Kansas

It is a linear transition formula ranging from 100 students up to 1,622 students. The low enrollment weight of districts having enrollments of 100 or fewer is \$3,993.42 per pupil. Each change of one pupil changes the low enrollment weight down or up inversely to the enrollment change. High enrollments, above 1,622 and over, are weighted an additional 0.03504 times the BSAPP.

Kentucky

Does not apply.

Louisiana

Add-on weights - based on student characteristics recognizing the extra cost of instruction for certain categories of students or classes.

Economy of Scale up to 20% (for districts with less than 7,500 students).

Maine

Additional State subsidies are provided to geographically isolated districts, small administrative units, and island schools.

Maryland

Does not apply.

Massachusetts

Does not apply.

Michigan

For districts with a pupil count of less than 1,550 and 4.5 or fewer pupils per square mile, Michigan uses a three-year-average pupil count in the calculation of their state school aid if it benefits the district. This softens the fiscal impact that declining enrollment has on these mostly rural districts. Also, Michigan has a small amount of categorical funding for small, geographically isolated districts. Several of these are island districts not accessible by a bridge.

Minnesota

Districts with secondary schools having fewer than 400 pupils in grades 7-12, or elementary schools having fewer than 140 pupils in kindergarten through grade 6, located in isolated areas receive sparsity revenue in the general education formula. The amount of revenue for secondary pupils varies as a function of the number of pupils, the distance to the nearest high school, and the attendance area. The amount of revenue for elementary pupils varies as a function of the number of pupils located 19 or more miles from the nearest elementary school.

Mississippi

Does not apply.

Missouri

There is no specific adjustment for density/sparsity of small schools. However, districts are paid on the greater of the second preceding year's Weighted Average Daily Attendance, the first preceding year's Weighted Average Daily Attendance, or an estimate of the current year's Weighted Average Daily Attendance. This provision helps districts with declining student counts as well as those with increasing student counts.

There is a small school grant for districts with an average daily attendance, including summer school, no greater than 350. The \$15 million appropriation is distributed in two parts. One part of \$10 million is distributed equally per average daily attendance for the eligible districts. The second part of \$5 million is distributed on a tax-rate weighted average daily attendance basis to the eligible small districts with a tax rate for general school purposes equal to or greater than the state performance levy of \$3.43.

Montana

There is no specific mechanism for funding small schools or adjusting for sparseness. The basic entitlement is applied at the same rate to budgets for any size of district, so smaller schools receive proportionally more relevant to their size.

Nebraska

The only time sparsity is included in the formula is when calculating the local choice adjustment. This adjustment does not apply to sparse or very sparsely populated school districts.

Nevada

Guarantee is based on number of school district attendance areas in which educational services must be provided due to distances involved. This constitutes adjustment for rural and urban area characteristics.

New Hampshire

Does not apply.

New Jersey
Does not apply.

New Mexico

Schools with less than 200 elementary and junior high school pupils, districts with less than 200 or 400 senior high school pupils, districts with 10,000 ADM, but less than 4,000 ADM per high school, and districts with less than 4,000 total ADM, all qualify for additional aid.

New York

Sparsity is a factor in calculating the Pupil Need Index. Sparsity is considered a factor in school districts operating grades K-12 with fewer than 25 pupils per square mile. This sparsity factor is not exclusive to "small schools"; enrollment does not specifically affect a district's eligibility for such aid. Sparsity also potentially affects the Transportation Aid ratio of a school district. School districts' enrollment from the year prior to the base year is subtracted from 21 and then that difference is divided by 317.88. The minimum is 0. This sparsity factor is added to the district's selected sharing ratio to determine the State Sharing Ratio for Transportation Aid for each school district.

North Carolina

A special allotment is paid for isolated school populations.

North Dakota

Elementary schools that serve less than 50 students, at least 15% of whom would need to travel more than 15 miles to attend another school have their weighting factor increased by 25%. High schools that serve less than 35 students, at least 15% of whom would need to travel more than 15 miles to attend another school, have their weighting factor increased by 25%.

Ohio

Exceptions and minimums in the evidence-based model (EBM) component calculations for small school districts (those with fewer than 418 students).

Oklahoma

Density factor is accounted for in transportation supplement. School district size of 529 or less is weighted in the State Aid formula with the Small School District Weight.

Oregon

Students in a qualified small school receive an extra weight based on grade level, average grade size, and distance to the nearest school. The weight is based on the size of each school, not the size of the district. To qualify as a small elementary school, the school must have been in the same location since 1995 and qualified as a small school in 1995 (elementary) and in 2009 (high school). Elementary schools also must be remote – more than 8 miles from the nearest school. If small high schools become larger than the allowable size as the result of a merger, the new, larger school receives the combined weight for four years following the merger.

Pennsylvania

There is no specific subsidy component for density/sparsity of small schools.

Rhode Island

Does not apply.

South Carolina

No state appropriation.

South Dakota

The small school adjustment, effective for the 2007-08 school year, is the successor to a "small school factor" that was in place previously. The "small school factor" used a formula to add additional "phantom" students to a district's average daily membership, with the smallest districts receiving funds for up to 20 percent more students.

Starting in 2007-08, South Dakota uses a "small school adjustment" that provides an additional \$847 per student for districts with enrollments of less than 200. Districts with enrollments between 200 and 600 receive "small school adjustment funds" based on the number of students in the system, calculated using a straight-line formula.

South Dakota also has a "sparsity" factor that provides additional funding to small, isolated school districts. Districts must meet several criteria to qualify, for example, the district must have less than 0.5 students per square mile, and have land area in excess of 400 square miles and the district's high school must be further than 15 miles away from another public school district attendance center. The formula adds up to \$123,750 per year for the state's most isolated schools.

Tennessee

Does not apply.

Texas

The basic allotment is increased by a percent proportional to the difference between a district's ADA and 1,600 ADA. The percent increase is greater for districts having over 300 square miles. Districts having below 130 ADA use a minimum ADA depending on actual ADA, grades taught, and the distance to the nearest school.

The state also provides a mid-sized school district adjustment that is applicable to school districts with between 1,600 and 5,000 ADA. Since 2009–10, this adjustment is applicable to districts that are subject to the recapture of local tax revenue.

Utah

Additional WPUs are provided for Necessarily Existent Small Schools—up to 7,649 Weighted Pupil Units (\$19,711,473 in FY 2010-11). The additional WPUs are provided for necessary, existent, small schools below 160 ADM for elementary schools (including Kindergarten at a weighting of 0.55 per ADM); or below 300 ADM for one or two-year secondary schools; or

below 450 ADM for three-year secondary schools; or below 550 ADM for four-year secondary schools; or below 600 ADM for six-year secondary schools. See <u>Necessarily Existent Small</u> <u>Schools</u> description and <u>Administrative Rule</u> R277-445 on the Utah State Office of Education website.

Vermont

Categorical grants are paid to schools in school districts with average grade sizes of 20 students or smaller. The smaller the average grade size the larger the grant. This helps to lower the remaining spending per pupil and thus the district's homestead tax rate.

Virginia

The Appropriation Act specifies that a minimum number of instructional positions will be maintained on a division-wide basis, regardless of the school division's population. This includes a minimum of 51 professional instructional and aide positions, one gifted professional instructional position, and six occupational and special education professional instructional and aide positions per 1,000 students included in the ADM.

Washington

Additional instructional units of 7.2 are provided per 1,000 (K-3) students in the basic education formula for those districts that can demonstrate that they have hired additional teachers in these grades.

West Virginia

Districts are divided into the following four groups based on student net enrollment per square mile:

Sparse	-	Less than 5 students per sq. mile
Low	-	5 to less than 10 students per sq. mile
Medium	-	10 to less than 20 students per sq. mile, and
High	-	20 or more students per sq. mile

These groupings are utilized in calculating the allowances for salaries and transportation in order to provide more funding for the rural districts.

Wisconsin

The state's 2007-09 biennial budget enacted this categorical aid program. The statutory provision for this aid program is found in s. 115.436, Wis. Stats. Districts that have 725 or less members, whose membership is less than 10 members per square mile of district's geographic area and have at least 20 percent of its membership qualify for free or reduced-price lunch under the National School Lunch program will receive \$300 per pupil. The 2010-11 appropriation for Sparsity Aid is \$14.9 million.

Wyoming

School adjustments:

For all schools with 49 or fewer ADM, resource with 1 assistant principal position plus 1 FTE teacher position for every 7 students for all staff;

For all schools within a district comprised of less than 243 total K-12 ADM and notwithstanding all other teacher resources, resource each school with a minimum of 1.0 core teacher at every grade with reported ADM, plus 20% of core teachers for elementary specialist teachers and 33% of core teachers for middle and high school specialist teachers;

Minimum of 6.0 teachers for elementary schools greater than 49 ADM; Minimum of 8.0 teachers for middle schools with greater than 49 ADM; Minimum of 10.0 teachers for high schools with greater than 49 ADM.

*For K-6 school, resource as elementary school;

*For a 5-8 or 6/7-9 school, resource as a middle school;

*For a K-7, K-8 or K-9 school, resource K-5 teachers as elementary school and remaining teachers as middle school, and resource all other staff resources at the highest-grade prototype;

*For K-12 school, resource K-5 teachers as elementary, 6-8 teachers as middle school, 9-12 as high school, and resource all other staff resources at the highest-grade prototype;

*For 6/7-12 school, resource 6-8 teachers as middle school and 9-12 teachers as high school, and resource all other staff resources at the highest-grade prototype.

Appendix J – Gifted and Talented Policies and Programs by State

Alabama

Does not apply.

Alaska

Gifted/Talented education is block funded in the foundation program.

Arizona

There is no special equalization formula increase dependent upon the gifted and talented school enrollments.

Arkansas

6-20-2208: (c) Each school district shall expend state and local revenues on gifted and talented programs in an amount equal to 0.15 of the foundation funding amount of \$6,023 for fiscal year 2010-11 multiplied by 5% of the school district's ADM for the previous year only on gifted and talented programs in accordance with rules promulgated by the state board.

California

California provides about \$44 million for gifted and talented education programs. However, LEAs that receive the funds may use them for any educational purpose. Funding is based on each LEA's proportionate share of gifted and talented education programs funding in 2008-09.

Colorado See Compensatory Education

Connecticut

Does not apply.

Delaware

Program now collapsed into academic excellence units.

Florida

Please see the response for Special Education.

Georgia

A weight of 1.6686 is provided for students in programs for the gifted.

Hawaii

In past years, the Hawaii state public school system funding included a categorical program for gifted and talented education. With the implementation of the weighted student formula effective beginning fiscal/school year 2006-07, the categorical program for gifted and talented education was folded into the amounts subject to weights. In past years, due to the subjectivity of defining gifted and talented students across the state, the gifted and talented characteristic

is had not been previously weighted. However, the 2010 Committee on Weights recommended, and the Board of Education approved, the additional of a weight for gifted and talented (G/T students, effective SY2011-2012. Since identification of G/T students is still largely subjective, the Committee on Weight's recommended that an estimate of 3% of a school's total population be used to determine the number of potentially G/T students at any given school. This equates to a weight of 0.0265 at this time.

Idaho

The ADA of gifted and talented students is included in the elementary and secondary ADA, which earns Support Units. A portion is shifted to the ADA of the Exceptional Child Program and earns Support Units. The state also distributed \$500 thousand based on total enrollment and the number of identified G/T students, to be used for teacher in-service. The state distributed an additional \$500 thousand based on grade 12 enrollment, to be used to train teachers to provide advanced learning opportunities for students.

Illinois

Does not apply.

Indiana

Program encourages school corporations to develop high ability programs. The Gifted and Talented Education program includes allocating technical assistance funds to local schools for high ability students, and organizing and developing a state infrastructure of resources and communication for high ability programs (2007).

lowa

A portion of the district cost per pupil in the foundation formula is earmarked for the gifted and talented program. \$55 per pupil is incorporated in the regular program cost for 2010-11 to fund 75% of the gifted and talented program budget. The local district must provide the remaining 25% of the budget, or just over \$18 per pupil for 2010-11.

Kansas

Does not apply. Paid under the special education reimbursement schedule.

Kentucky

Entitlement/Formula Driven/Flow Through Grant Award

A. Criteria for Recipient Eligibility

704 KAR 3:285 Section 9 (4) requires districts to employ properly certified personnel to administer and teach in the program, submit an annual local district gifted education year-end report, submit a summative evaluation of the program and student progress and to comply with all sections of 704 KAR 3:285. Grant awards are based on funding units reflecting district population at the end of the year preceding the prior year. For 2010-2011, funding was reduced resulting in a 1.4% cut to all districts.

B. General purpose or intended use of funds

Seventy-five (75) percent of a district's gifted education allocation is used to employ properly certified personnel for direct services to students who are identified as processing demonstrated or potential ability to perform at an exceptionally high level in general intellectual aptitude, specific academic aptitude, creative or divergent thinking, psychosocial or leadership skills, or in visual or performing arts. Additional uses of state funds for gifted education may include consultation services, counseling services, differentiated study experiences, professional development focused on the needs and services for gifted and talented students, instructional resources to assist teachers in differentiating services, or other appropriate resource services as specified in 704 KAR 3:285, Programs for the Gifted and Talented.

C. Application Process

Submission of a local district's Comprehensive Improvement Plan with approved budget and a local district year-end report (Infinite Campus), summative evaluation and year-end MUNIS expenditure report are considered application for continued funding.

D. Recipient Reporting Requirements

Each local district must submit an end-of-year summative evaluation report, quarterly MUNIS expenditure reports and update student data in Infinite Campus.

Louisiana

Add-on weights - based on student characteristics recognizing the extra cost of instruction for certain categories of students or classes.

Gifted and Talented (60%)

Maine

The State subsidizes approved EPS gifted and talented costs.

Maryland

Funding provides support to two initiatives: The Maryland Summer Centers for Gifted and Talented Students, and expenses for Maryland participants in the world-level competition of DestiNation ImagiNation. The Maryland Summer Centers Program provides unique summer enrichment opportunities for gifted and talented students in the areas of the sciences, humanities and social sciences, the arts, engineering, mathematics, creative writing, and technology. All programs funded must adhere to accepted tenets of gifted and talented education program design, service delivery, and evaluation, and must support Achievement Matters Most goals; the National Association for Gifted Children (NAGC) Program Standards; and Maryland's Learning Goals. The DestiNation ImagiNation grant provides for the expenses of Maryland State-level winners who compete at the world finals level (2007).

Massachusetts

Does not apply.

Michigan

No state funds are currently appropriated in this category.

Minnesota

Gifted & talented revenue is included in the general education revenue program. A district's gifted and talented revenue equals \$12 per weighted ADM. It must be used only to identify gifted & talented students, provide educational programs for gifted & talented students, or provide staff development for teachers to best meet the needs of gifted & talented students.

Mississippi

Teacher units are added for each approved program gifted and talented students; the funding amount is based on the certification and experience of each teacher.

Missouri

Expenditures for gifted education were included in the calculation of the state adequacy target. There is no targeted state aid for Gifted Education. The state adequacy target is multiplied by the district's total weighted average daily attendance.

The law was modified to include a penalty for reduction in gifted programs at the local level, effective 7-13-2009:

If a school district experiences a decrease in its gifted program enrollment of more than twenty percent from its 2005-06 gifted enrollment in any years governed by this subsection, an amount equal to the product of the percent reduction in the district's gifted program enrollment multiplied by the funds generated by the district's gifted program in 2005-06 school year shall be subtracted from the district's current year payment amount.

Montana

Legislature provided \$246,982 for a state grant distribution to school districts for Gifted and Talented programs in 2010-11.

Nebraska

Does not apply.

Nevada Does not apply.

New Hampshire Does not apply.

New Jersey

Resources for gifted and talented students are included in the state's model district that is used to calculate each district's adequacy budget. While there is no additional aid category, it should be assumed that the costs for gifted and talented students are included in districts' adequacy budgets, which are funded through equalization aid.

New Mexico

See "Special Education".

New York

Gifted and Talented Aid was consolidated into Flex Aid in 2005-2006, and Flex Aid has subsequently been consolidated into Foundation Aid.

North Carolina

State allocates funding based on 4% of total Average Daily membership per LEA.

North Dakota

\$800,000 is appropriated for the 2009-2011 biennium for gifted and talented programs.

Ohio

A component of the EBM contains funding for gifted education in the following four areas: coordinators, intervention specialists, identification and professional development.

Oklahoma

Weighted in the equalizing formula at 0.34.

Oregon

Does not apply.

Pennsylvania

Gifted students are classified as part of exceptional students and are included in special education funding.

Rhode Island

Does not apply.

South Carolina For 2010-11 the state appropriated \$26,628,246.

South Dakota Does not apply.

Tennessee

Gifted and Talented students, identified and served under the special education umbrella, are offered accelerated grade levels and course content when indicated. Additionally, secondary students may apply as juniors and seniors for consideration to attend the state funded Governor's Schools held during the summer at institutions of higher education in Tennessee.

Texas

Gifted and talented students generate additional funding equivalent to 12% of the adjusted basic allotment. Eligibility for this funding is limited to a maximum of 5% of students in ADA.

Utah

A categorical appropriation is provided for <u>gifted and talented</u> students; for 2010-11 the amount is \$1,903,454. Each school district and charter school receives its share of funds in the proportion of its number or WPUs for Kindergarten through grade twelve and necessarily existent small schools.

Vermont

No special provisions in the funding system.

Virginia

State provides additional payment through the Standards of Quality (SOQ) Program for Gifted Education to support the cost of one instructional position per 1,000 students in ADM. This cost is shared between the state and local school divisions according to a division's Composite Index of local ability to pay. Because gifted and talented funding is an SOQ account, its local match contributes toward the division's required local effort.

Washington

A program for highly capable students is funded in an amount equal to 2.314% of the school district enrollment multiplied by \$400.32.

West Virginia

Gifted and talented students are not specifically funded through the funding formula.

Wisconsin

Gifted and Talented Education is funded as a categorical aid; brief information is contained in the Categorical Aid chart.

Wyoming

The funding model provides \$29.19 per ADM for gifted and talented.

Appendix K – National Center for Education Statistics (NCES) Locale Definitions

Locale	Definition			
City				
Large	Territory inside an urbanized area and inside a principal city with population of 250,000 or more			
Midsize	Territory inside an urbanized area and inside a principal city with population less than 250,000 and greater than or equal to 100,000			
Small	Territory inside an urbanized area and inside a principal city with population less than 100,000			
Suburb				
Large	Territory outside a principal city and inside an urbanized area with population of 250,000 or more			
Midsize	Territory outside a principal city and inside an urbanized area with population less than 250,000 and greater than or equal to 100,000			
Small	Territory outside a principal city and inside an urbanized area with population less than 100,000			
Town				
Fringe	Territory inside an urban cluster that is less than or equal to 10 miles from an urbanized area			
Distant	Territory inside an urban cluster that is more than 10 miles and less than or equal to 35 miles from an urbanized area			
Remote	Territory inside an urban cluster that is more than 35 miles from an urbanized area			
Rural				
Fringe	Census-defined rural territory that is less than or equal to 5 miles from an urbanized area, as well as rural territory that is less than or equal to 2.5 miles from an urban cluster			
Distant	Census-defined rural territory that is more than 5 miles but less than or equal to 25 miles from an urbanized area, as well as rural territory that is more than 2.5 miles but less than or equal to 10 miles from an urban cluster			
Remote	Census-defined rural territory that is more than 25 miles from an urbanized area and is also more than 10 miles from an urban cluster			
Source: (Source: Office of Management and Budget. (2000). Standards for defining			

metropolitan and micropolitan statistical areas – Notice. *Federal Register, 65*, no. 249.

Appendix L – Description of the NCES Comparable Wage Index (CWI)

The CWI measure used in this study is based on an analysis updating and extending Taylor and Fowler's 2006 analysis of the Comparable Wage Index (CWI). The CWI measures the prevailing wage for college graduates in 800 U.S. labor markets. The baseline estimates (for 1999) come from a regression analysis of the individual earnings data from the 2000 U.S. Census. Taylor and (2006) Fowler used data from the Bureau of Labor Statistics' Occupational Employment Survey (OES) to extend the baseline estimates of the CWI and provide annual index values for 1997 through 2005.

The 800 labor markets used to estimate the CWI are based on "place-of-work areas" as defined by the Census Bureau for the 2000 Census. Census place-of-work areas are geographic regions designed to contain at least 100,000 persons. The place-of-work areas do not cross state boundaries and generally follow the boundaries of county groups, single counties, or Censusdefined places (Ruggles et al. 2003). Counties in sparsely-populated parts of a state are clustered together into a single Census place-of-work area. Each labor market in the CWI is either a single place-of-work area, or a cluster of the place-of-work areas that comprise a metropolitan area. Whenever possible, Taylor and Fowler (2006) aggregated place-of-work areas in metropolitan areas to correspond to Core Based Statistical Areas (CBSAs). Place-ofwork areas that straddled more than one CBSA were treated as separate labor markets. After the aggregation, there were 800 CBSAs or place-of-work areas in the 2000 Census and thus 800 labor markets for analysis.

The index predicts annual wage and salary earnings for college graduates across 800 U.S. labor markets using a model including age, age squared, the amount of time worked, and a series of indicator variables for gender, race, educational attainment, occupation and industry. In addition, the estimation includes an indicator variable for each labor market area. This analysis uses the same definition of labor markets as in Taylor and Fowler's original 2006 CWI and again incorporates random effects by state.

Appendix M – Description of Basic Support Ratio (BSR) Calculations

The following provides a summary of some of the details on how the BSR calculations are applied. The BSR is determined using previously audited or released data on historical salaries and expenditure costs in each district. The districts are clustered into groups based on their enrollment and locality (arguably to group districts facing similar operating cost structures), and a pupil-weighted average for each group's salary and expenditure costs is calculated.ⁱ

Rather than using district-by-district averages, the BSR is calculated using average compensation levels and operating expenditures for each of the five groupings of districts from the very small (i.e., Esmeralda and Eureka) to the very largest (Clark and Washoe) of districts in the state. Projected weighted student enrollments, licensed teaching and administrative staff

salaries and benefits, teacher to administrative ratios are contained in DSA 1 (the Student Enrollment and Staffing Module). The assigned number of teachers per district is contained in the Teacher Allotment Table, which links FTE teacher allotments to enrollment size groupings referred to as Attendance Areas. These Attendants Areas are geographic locations within which schools are treated the same in terms of the assignment of teachers and are intended to capture differences in the required number of teachers for various sized schools. The data from these two modules are input into DSA 5 (the Licensed Staff Allotment and Expense Module) to calculate the group average-weighted teacher and administrator salaries, which are used to determine each district's total salary and benefits costs, based on weighted enrollments. The transportation and operational costs from DSA 4 (Expenditure Data Module) and the classified staff and benefits costs from DSA 1 are input through DSA 6 (the Other Operating Expense Module) to calculate group average operational expenses, which are used to determine total operational costs based on weighted enrollments. The total salary costs from DSA 5 and total operational costs from DSA 6 are then plugged through DSA 7 (Basic Support Level Ratio Module) to determine district total per pupil expenditures. The BSR is calculated by dividing each district's per pupil expenditures by the state average per pupil expenditures to achieve the relative ratio.

ⁱ Throughout our discussion of the DSA and cost adjustments, we will refer to pupil weighted averages which basically means that each unit within the average is weighted by the number of pupils in that unit. The reason we do this is to ensure equity allocations are based on pupils as the unit of analysis. It treats or weights each pupil equally in any calculations that are made.